
College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6632 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

89th Council Meeting (In-Person) 
Friday, October 13, 2017 – 9:00 a.m. – 3:30 p.m. 

HELD AT 

Postmedia Place, 365 Bloor Street E., Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 

AGENDA 
Item Action Page # 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Agenda Decision 1 

3. College Mandate Information 

4. Presentation – Rebecca Durcan SML – Council Governance Training – An Overview of

Health Profession Governance and Regulation

5. Ms. Deanna Williams, Expert Technical Advisor, MOHLTC – Update on Activities and

Bill 87

5.1 Letter from Ministry to Registrars re: Appointment 3 

6. Conflicts of Interest for Council and Committee Members:

General Discussion and Consideration of a Specific Matter

Rebecca Durcan, Legal Counsel, SML

Glenn Pettifer, Registrar & CEO

6.1 Briefing Note 

6.2 Minutes from the July 18, 2017 QEC Meeting 

6.3 Correspondence from Ms. Christine Reekie, Chair, Qualifying Examination Committee 

6.4 Copy of Article 27 of the College By-laws 

6.5 Further Correspondence to the President from Ms. Reekie 

6.6 Correspondence from Mr. Joey Della Marina 

Decision 

5 

7 

10 

11 

13 

14 

7. Consent Agenda

7.1 Minutes of the 88th Council meeting held on June 23, 2017 

7.2 Executive Committee Report 

7.3 Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report 

7.4 Discipline Committee Report 

7.5 Quality Assurance Committee – Panel A Report 

7.6 Quality Assurance Committee – Panel B Report   

7.7 Qualifying Examination Committee Report 

7.8 Registration Committee Report 

7.9 President’s Report 

7.10 Registrar’s Report 

7.11 Financial Report Memo and YTD Income - Expenses – April 1, 2017 – August 31, 2017 

7.12 Correspondence: 

o Correspondence to Mr. T. Boyd, Public Appointments Secretariat regarding

Absentee Council Member

o Verbal update - Registrar

7.13 Memo to Council regarding Committee Membership for Mr. Reis 

7.14 Additions/Modifications to Electoral District Postal Codes Briefing Note 

7.15 Guidelines for Teleconference Calls 

Decision 

17 

23 

24 

26 

27 

28 

29 

31 

32 

33 

36 

38 

40 

41 

47 

Agenda Item 2.0 

1



 
  

College of Denturists of Ontario 89th Council Meeting Agenda October 13, 2017OctoO 

 

 
 
Item  Action Page # 
       

  
 

Page 2 of 2 
  

 

 

 

 

8. Council Member(s) - Reports on Qualifying Examination Observation - (verbal) Information 
 

 

9. Status Report on Action Items Identified in the 2012 PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Operational Review and Audit 

9.1 Briefing Note 

9.2 Draft Report 

 

Decision   

48 

49 

  

 

10. Strategy Map 2017-2020 – Year 1 Tactics 

10.1 Briefing Note 

10.2 Year 1 Tactics 

10.3 Draft Communication Survey (Priority 1 – Stakeholder Engagement) 

10.4 Suggested Topics for Council Training (Priority 2 – Excellence in Governance) 

10.5 Report from Committee Chairs attending College of Midwives Council and Committee 

Training Session (Priority 2 – Excellence in Governance) – (verbal) 

10.6 Council Meeting Feedback Survey (Priority 2 – Excellence in Governance). To be sent 

following this meeting.  

 

Information  

135 

136 

139 

142 

  

 

11. Meeting Dates for 2018 

 

Information 143  

12. Confidentiality 

 

  

13. Next Meeting Date 

Next Council Meeting Friday, December 8, 2017 

 

  

14. Adjournment 

 

  

2



Agenda Item 5.1

3



4



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

BRIEFING NOTE 

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Conflicts of Interest for Council and Committee Members: 

General Discussion and Consideration of a Specific Matter 

It is perhaps an interesting coincidence or just an acknowledgement of the pervasiveness of 

opportunities for conflicts of interest that, on the heels of Council adopting the Standard of 

Practice:  Conflict of Interest, this matter presents itself.  

At its June meeting, Council approved the recommendations of the Nominating Committee for 

membership of Statutory and Non-Statutory College Committees.  In formulating these committee 

memberships, the Nominating Committee considers expressions of interest from both Council 

members and non-Council members of the profession.  Mr. Della Marina expressed interest in 

sitting on the Qualifying Examination Committee, partly because of his interest in examination 

procedures.  Mr. Della Marina was confirmed as a member of the Qualifying Examination 

Committee (QEC).  

Some members of the Committee, including the Chair, expressed concern that Mr. Della Marina 

was in a conflict of interest because of his activities around the administration of another denturism 

examination.  There was also concern that Mr. Della Marina had associations with educational 

institutions that would preclude his participation on the QEC.  In a conversation with the Chair of 

the QEC, I pointed out that the potential for a conflict of interest did not necessarily preclude an 

individual from participating in a particular Committee but that the individual and the Committee 

would need to be attentive to the presence of specific conflicts and that the individual may need to 

recuse him or herself from participating in any discussions or decision-making that might occur 

around a particular matter for which a conflict of interest existed.  For example, an individual who is 

employed as an instructor in a denturism program would be in a real conflict of interest position if 

that individual also participated in decision-making around an appeal filed by a student whom the 

individual had taught.   

The mandate of the Qualifying Examination Committee is: 

“Perform such functions as are assigned to it under the Regulations, by-laws, and policies of the 

College and/or Council including making recommendations for improvements to the qualifying 

examinations (QE); exam items selection and review; approving the candidate QE protocol; 

Agenda Item 6.1 

5



CDO – Conflict of Interest for Council and Committee Members Briefing Note – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017          Page 2 of 2

approving the format of the candidate performance report; reviewing the Chief Examiner’s report 

following each examination administration; developing examination processes and policies for 

Council approval, conducting the mandatory candidate QE orientation and liaising as required with 

the Chief Examiner.” 

I consulted the College’s legal counsel on the matter and we agreed that no conflict of interest 

existed between Mr. Della Marina’s current activities and affiliations and the work of the Qualifying 

Examination Committee.  The Chair of the Qualifying Examination Committee was not pacified by 

this information and elected to step down from the Committee.   

On July 18, 2017, the QEC met by teleconference.  Rebecca Durcan and I attended the meeting and 

opened it with a discussion around the conflict of interest matter.  We then left the teleconference 

and the Committee meeting proceeded.  There were continued concerns regarding this apparent 

conflict of interest which lead the new Chair of the Committee to write a letter to the President and 

myself.  The minutes from the July 18, 2017 are attached.  A copy of the letter from Ms. Reekie is 

attached.   

Rebecca Durcan, SML will provide a broader context for this matter.  

Options: 

After review of the information before it, Council may elect to: 

1. Confirm Mr. Della Marina’s appointment to the Qualifying Examination Committee

2. Rescind Mr. Della Marina’s appointment to the Qualifying Examination Committee

3. Other

Attachments: 

1. Minutes from July 18, 2017 QEC meeting

2. Correspondence from Ms. Christine Reekie

3. Copy of Article 27 of the College By-laws

4. Further correspondence to the President from Ms. Reekie

5. Correspondence from Mr. Joey Della Marina 

6



CO L L E G E  OF  DE NT U R IS T S  O F  ONT AR IO  

Qualifying Examination Committee 
Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, July 18, 2017 
Teleconference/Webinar 

7:30 pm – 10:00 pm  

Members: Christine Reekie (Chair), Abdelatif Azzouz, Joey Della Marina, Robert Gaspar 
Mark Fenn (Public Member) 

Regrets: Michael Deegan (Past Chair) 

Staff: Vicci Sakkas, Dr. Glenn Pettifer (Registrar) 

Consultants: Dr. Anthony Marini (PhD), Richard Bondy (Chief Examiner) 

Legal Counsel:  Rebecca Durcan (SML-LAW) 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order at 7:40 pm. 

2.0 CONFIDENTIALITY 

Committee members were reminded of their fiduciary duty to maintain confidentiality to protect the integrity of 
the examination process. 

3.0 SELECTION OF A CHAIR 

Christine Reekie an experienced member of the Committee was nominated and accepted the position of 
Chair. 

MOVED BY MARK FENN AND SECONDED BY ABDELATIF AZZOUZ to appoint Christine Reekie as the 
Chair of the Qualifying Examination Committee for 2017-18. CARRIED 

4.0 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Item 4(a) Conflict of Interest (matter related) was added to the agenda by Dr. Glenn Pettifer. 

Agenda Item 6.2 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

7



Qualifying Examination Committee 
July 18, 2017 
Page 2 

MOVED BY MARK FENN AND SECONDED BY ABDELATIF AZZOUZ to approve the July 18, 2017 
Qualifying Examination Committee Meeting Agenda as amended. CARRIED 

4.a CONFLICT OF INTEREST (MATTER RELATED)

The addition of this item to the agenda was in consideration of information received from Mr. Michael 
Deegan, the past Chair. Mr. Deegan had expressed concerns surrounding the appointment of Mr. Joey 
Della Marina to the Qualifying Examination Committee, his online profile and the perception of a conflict 
of interest. Dr. Glenn Pettifer presented the Committee with an opportunity to discuss any concerns and 
for further exploration of the matter. Mr. Della Marina committed to examine the information posted 
online with the Registrar.  The Committee was satisfied that there was no perceived conflict of interest 
and Mr. Della Marina was invited to take part in the remainder of the meeting. 

5.0 DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

At the resumption of the meeting members were asked to declare any conflicts of interest. Mr. Joey 
Della Marina returned to the meeting after the scheduled break and then declared that he had taken 
part as a conference speaker at Digital Denture Development Technology where he was introduced to 
two potential employees who also happen to be candidates of the summer 2017 Qualifying 
Examination.  

The Committee had a discussion and agreed that Mr. Joey Della Marina was in conflict and would 
abstain from taking part in all activities and decisions regarding the summer 2017 Qualifying 
Examination.  

6.0 CONSENT AGENDA – MEETING MINUTES 

Tabled for the next meeting. 

7.0 CHIEF EXAMINER’S SUMMARY REPORT 

Tabled for the next meeting. 

8.0 ANALYSIS FOR SUMMER 2017 QUALIFYING EXAMINATION 

8.1 Review Part I – MCQ analysis and the deletion of items 
Dr. Anthony Marini presented the Committee with a brief introduction to the item deletion process and 
provided a completed item analysis of the scoring of the MCQ items based on best practices. In his 
analysis there were 24 items which were presented to the Committee for further review.  

Of the 24 items reviewed by the Committee, 9 items were deleted from scoring to ensure the validity of 
candidate’s final scores. 

8



Qualifying Examination Committee 
July 18, 2017 
Page 3 

MOVED BY ROBERT GASPAR AND SECONDED BY ABDELATIF AZZOUZ to accept the decisions made by 
the Committee regarding the items reviewed from the summer 2017 MCQ Examination. CARRIED 

8.2 Review Part II – OSCE analysis and the deletion of items 
Tabled for the next meeting. 

9.0 OTHER BUSINESS 

No other business was raised. 

10.0 NEXT MEETING 

The Committee confirmed the following meeting via teleconference: 
i. 7:30-9 pm on Thursday, July 20, 2017

11.0 ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 10:57 pm. 

MOVED BY CHRISTINE REEKIE to adjourn the meeting.  CARRIED 

9



Agenda Item 6.3

Qualifying Examination Committee Meeting 

Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 

365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, 

Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 

July 21, 2017 

Dear Dr. Pettifer: 

I am writing this letter on behalf of the Qualifying Exam Committee.  I would like to thank you for taking 

the time to review our correspondence in regards to the Conflict of Interest that has arisen with one of 

the new Committee member. 

Firstly, I would like to thank you and Rebecca for being on our teleconference Tuesday July 18th it was 

very much appreciated having you both speak and review the confidentially and conflict policies of the 

College.  As you are aware Mr. Della Marina did end up stating a conflict for our meeting and agreed to 

be dismissed for the meeting that was continued on Thursday July 20th. 

At the Thursday evening meeting there was lengthy discussion from the Committee members and as 

well as the Chief Examiner in regards to this matter.  The end results of the discussion was agreed that 

due to the nature of Mr. Della Marina’s educational business and his many other training and lecturing 

with contacts with Candidates, that this will be an ongoing debate regarding his conflicts with his many 

areas of educational training of possible future Candidates.  Even though it was agreed that yes we do 

declare a conflict of interest at the beginning of every meeting that “covers” us.  We still feel that the 

time and energy for us as a committee to review and decide whether in fact every situation is indeed a 

conflict of interest is the feeling of being in a “hard spot” and something we would rather not have to 

deal with at every meeting. 

Lastly, we were all in agreement that losing our past chair that brought so much experience and 

knowledge to this committee was certainly a huge disappointment, and he certainly will not be 

replaceable.  We would very much welcome having Mr. Deegan back on the committee if it was at all 

possible, in the event that Mr. Della Marina would agree to step down. 

At this time the committee would ask if you could please meet with Council to discuss offering Mr. Della 

Marina a committee with the College that would not interact with the Qualifying Examination. 

Regards, 

The Qualifying Examination Committee 

10



27. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

27.01 Duty to Avoid Conflicts of Interest 
All Council and Committee members have a duty to carry out their responsibilities in a manner that 
serves and protects the interest of the public. As such, they must not engage in any activities or in 
decision-making concerning any matters where they have a direct or indirect personal or financial 
interest. All Council and Committee members have a duty to uphold and further the intent of the Act 
to regulate the practice and profession of denturism in Ontario, and not to represent the views of 
advocacy or special interest groups. 

27.02 Recognition of Conflict 
Council and Committee members recognize that a conflict of interest or an appearance of a conflict 
of interest by a member of Council or its Committees, 

(i) could bring discredit to the College;
(ii) could amount to a breach of the fiduciary obligation of the person to the College;and
(iii) could create liability for either the College and / or the person involved.

27.03 Conflicts Relating to Involvement with a Professional Association 
A member of Council or a Committee member shall be perceived to have conflict of interest in a 
matter and should not serve on Council or its Committees at all if he or she holds a responsible 
position such as director, owner, board member or officer in or is an employee of any 
Professional Association relating to denturism. 

27.04 Conflicts Relating to Position in Other Organizations 
A member of Council or a Committee member would be perceived to have a conflict of interest in 
a matter and should refrain from participating in any discussion or voting if he or she holds a 
responsible position such as director, owner, board member or officer in, or is an employee of, 
another organization where his or her duties may be seen by a reasonable person as influencing 
his or her judgment in the matter under consideration by the Council or its Committees. For 
example, an educator in a school should not participate in any decisions relating to the status of 
that school, its program(s) or the acceptability for registration of graduates from that school. 

27.05 Declaration Forms 
Upon appointment or election, and annually thereafter if requested, every Council and Committee 
member and every member of a working group shall fully complete and deliver to the Registrar a 
form, available from the Registrar, declaring his or her current and recent affiliations with 
Professional Associations and other organizations to facilitate compliance with the above 
provisions. 

27.06 Litigation Against College 
A Council or Committee member shall resign from all positions with the College before initiating or 
joining a legal proceeding against the College or any Committee or representative of the College. 

27.07 Interests of Related Persons 
For the purposes of this by-law, the direct or indirect personal or financial interests of a parent, 
spouse, child or sibling of a Council or Committee member are interpreted to be the interests of 
the Council or Committee member. Here, the term “spouse” includes a common-law spouse and a 
same-sex partner of the person. 

CDO – Copy of Article 27 of the College By-laws – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017 Page 1 of 2

ARTICLE 27 OF THE COLLEGE BY-LAWS

Agenda Item 6.4 11



27.08 Where a Conflict May Exist 
Where a Council or Committee member believes that he or she may have a conflict of interest in 
any matter which is the subject of deliberation or action by the Council or its Committees, he or she 
shall, 

(i) consult, as needed, with the President, the Chair of the Committee, the Registrar
and / or legal counsel;

(ii) if there is any doubt about whether he or she may have or be perceived to have a
conflict, prior to any consideration of the matter, declare the potential conflict to the
Council or the Committee and accept the President’s or Chair of the Committee’s
ruling as to whether there is an appearance of a conflict, subject to any appeal or
reconsideration by the Council or the Committee itself;

(iii) where there appears to be a conflict of interest, not take part in the discussion of, or
vote on, any question in respect of the matter;

(iv) where there appears to be a conflict of interest, leave the room for the portion of any
meeting relating to the matter;

(v) where there appears to be a conflict of interest, not attempt in any way to influence
the voting or do anything that might be perceived as attempting to influence the
decision of other members on the matter; and

(vi) upon returning to the room, be informed of the outcome of the vote but no further
details of the discussion or the details of the vote.

27.09  Conflicts Recorded in Minutes 
Every declaration of a conflict of interest shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting together 
with a description of the nature of the conflict. 

27.10  Use of College Information or Property 
A member of Council or a Committee member shall not use College property or information of any 
kind to advance his or her own interests, direct or indirect. 

27.11  Staff or Other Positions 
A member of Council or a Committee member may not hold any other employment or appointment 
with the College while serving as a member of Council or its Committees. This includes, but is not 
limited to, positions as peer assessor, investigator, inspector, examiner or staff. Where a member of 
Council or a Committee wishes to be considered for any such position or appointment, he or she 
must first resign their position and agree to an undertaking not to seek election to Council or 
appointment to a Committee for a period of one (1) year after they cease to be employed or 
appointed by the College or one (1) year from the date they are informed in the event that they are 
unsuccessful in their application for employment or appointment by the College. Despite this 
provision, a member of a Committee who is not on the Council or who is not the Chair of a 
Committee may serve as an examiner so long as the person does not serve on a Committee that is 
involved in the examination or registration process. 

CDO – Copy of Article 27 of the By-laws – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017 Page 2 of 2

12



From: Christine Reekie < > 
Subject: Re: Standard of Practice concern expressed by QEC Date: October 3, 2017 at 
12:07:40 PM EDT 
To: Ivan McFarlane <                                            > 
Cc: Glenn Pettifer <                                          > 

Thank you for the clarification. That is correct. The favorable outcome for the QEC would be if Mr. 
Della Marina would seek a different committee with the College that would allow Mr. Deegan to 
return as chair of this committee. His experience with this committee is a great loss to the College 
which is why we submitted the letter to you to review. 
Thanks again, I will look forward to your reply. 
Christine Reekie 

On Oct 3, 2017 11:19 AM, "Ivan McFarlane" <                                       > wrote: 

Dear Ms Reeker 

I thank you for today’s reminder regarding this issue. 

CDO Council has not met since we corresponded. 
Council will meet on October 13th after which I will provide you with Council’s decision. 

I wish to remind of the train of events. 

On August 1st you wrote and included an attachment from the QEC that 
stated, inter alia, 

this “letter that has been circulated by the QEC with the exclusion of Mr Della Marina.” 

I replied immediately saying that I would connect with the Registrar and that the entire 
matter would be 

presented to Council at its October meeting. 

Pleased be assured that I will convey Council’s decision on Friday. I thank you for your patience. 

Ivan McFarlane, PhD 
President 
Council of CDO 

On Oct 3, 2017, at 5:47 AM, Christine Reekie 
<                                                  > wrote:

Good morning, 
I am following up on my correspondence to you. 
The committee is meeting tomorrow evening, if possible I would like to have an update for them if 
they are questioning if their wishes to have Michael Deegan returned to the board as Chair of the 
committee was discussed at the last Counsel meeting? Thanks in advance your prompt response. 
Christine Reekie, DD 

Agenda Item 6.5 

13

mailto:fharvey@denturists-cdo.com


Qualifying Examination Committee/ Conflict of interest matter 

Dr. Ivan McFarlane, President 

College of Denturists of Ontario,  

365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606,  

Toronto, ON M4W 3L4  

October 07, 2017  

Dear Dr. McFarlane, President of the College of Denturists of Ontario 

This letter is in response to the conflict of interest with the Qualifying Examination Committee. I would 

first like to state that I feel I have no conflict of interest with the QEC committee other than the two 

candidates which I did declare a conflict for, that participated in the summer of 2017 qualifying exam. It 

is and was my absolute intention to provide the QEC committee and College of Denturists the following: 

The mandate of the Qualifying Examination Committee is: “Perform such functions as are assigned to it 

under the Regulations, by-laws, and policies of the College and/or Council including making 

recommendations for improvements to the qualifying examinations (QE); exam items selection and 

review; approving the candidate QE protocol; approving the format of the candidate performance 

report; reviewing the Chief Examiner’s report following each examination administration; developing 

examination processes and policies for Council approval, conducting the mandatory candidate QE 

orientation and liaising as required with the Chief Examiner.”  

The QEC decided that my perceived conflict included “The end results of the discussion was agreed that 

due to the nature of Mr. Della Marina’s educational business and his many other training and lecturing 

with contacts with Candidates, that this will be an ongoing debate regarding his conflicts with his many 

areas of educational training of possible future Candidates”. Taken from the current chairs letter to the 

Registrar, July 21, 2017. 

To this matter I would like to provide you with the following information. I do not have an educational 

business in Ontario or any part of Canada for more than five years now that provides services to 

Canadian denturist exam candidates. This information was gleaned from facebook or other web sites 

that contain a non- updated version of my Bio/profile. I do accept responsibility for not following closely 

the web channels my profile is displayed knowingly. 

 I am part of an examination group that is offered to United States of America denturist candidates only 

for only those seeking licensure in their respective States in America only. There is no affiliation or 

association for Canadian licensure. 

 As for my training and lecturing with Canadian contacts and candidates, I offer no training for potential 

candidates/contacts and I do not make personal contact with every member of the audience. Any 

lecturing I do is offered to the general denturist/dental population in their respective Provinces and or 

dental suppliers, or Denturist Associations and not representing the College of Denturists in any way, 

shape or form. These lectures are based on various topics around denturism and are not developed or 

sold as education for any institution. My contact with potential candidates would be the same as any 

Agenda Item 6.6

14



other professional who attends or delivers a lecture ( You cannot control who sits beside you and says hi 

and a further professional conversation takes place).  

In regards to my time at George Brown College as an instructor in the denturist program, my tenure was 

from 2002 to 2011. I do not teach or employ any denturist students from any denturist educational 

institution in Canada, my last contact with a Canadian out of Province candidate was in 2012 for 

licensure in Manitoba. Again this information was gleaned from facebook or other web sites that 

contain an non-updated version of my Bio/profile.  

Mr. President, I am confused in regards to this conflict of interest query and will explain why. It was 

agreed by the Registrar Dr. Glenn Pettifer and legal council Ms. Rebecca Durcan that no conflict of 

interest exists. The information that was used to decide my perceived conflict was not current and not 

knowing if the committee had access to the updated profile. On the teleconference call July 18,2017,  I 

was notified about the non updated Bio/profile and that very evening while waiting off the line to be 

called back, I took action, and  made appropriate revisions to my Bio/profile on facebook and linkedin to 

represent my current profile. This information was a surprise to me. I also would like to note that 

sometime in September/October my facebook account was accessed from someone in Kingston and my 

profile was taken down without me knowing it, which may be a coincidence. I have re-secured my 

account. 

 I would like to bring to light that there seems to be something that has been overlooked with reference 

to internet Bio/profiles. The current chair of the QEC Ms. Christine Reeckie DD has on her denture clinic 

website the following statement “She served for three years on the Executive Committee for the 
Denturist Association and has regularily is asked to adjudicate the work of graduating students from 
George Brown College”. This is exactly the way it is written not a typo on my behalf. There may seem to 
be a perceived conflict here and no one has raised a query about it. I will provide you with a screen shot 
of her profile. 

 Now, in defence of Ms. Reeckie DD I’m sure it was not her intent to have a Bio/profile that can be 
perceived as a conflict of interest or out of date as well. She too probably like me was unaware her 
outdated Bio/profile info needed updating. I was given an opportunity to update my profile to reflect my 
current professional involvement and I believe Ms. Reeckie DD should have the same opportunity. May 
we all learn from this experience. 

My intention from day one as a Council/Committee member is to provide my duty to uphold and further 
the intent of the Act to regulate the practice and profession of denturism in Ontario, and not to represent 
the views of advocacy or special interest groups all in the name of public interest. I want to make clear 
that it is not my intention to create a dilemma for the Registrar, Council and all persons involved. My 
intent is to bring about clarity and discussion around conflicts of interests. I would like us to move forward 
with clarity and respect for everyone and encourage all persons involved including the past chair of the 
QEC to reconvene as a committee if possible and work together for the betterment of the qualifying exam. 
It is important for me to note here I bear no ill will but seek clarity and I am charged with optimism for this 
Council and College. 

Mr. President, I wish to end my letter in agreement with a discussion of conflict of interest and decision by 
council to benefit the College of Denturists, members of the profession and the public interest. I will and 
do respect the decision of council and hope we can make this a learning experience. Thank you for this 
opportunity. 

Respectfully, Joe Della Marina DD. 

15



16



365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

88th MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 

June 23, 2017- 9:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. 

MINUTES 

Members Present:  Dr. Ivan McFarlane  President

Mr. Joey Della Marina  Vice President

Mr. Hanno Weinberger  Past President

Mr. Jack Abergel 

Ms. Alexia Baker-Lanoue 

Mr. Keith Collins 

Mr. Mark Fenn 

Mr. Robert C. Gaspar 

Ms. Anita Kiriakou 

Ms. Wangari Muriuki 

Mr. Christopher Reis 

Ms. Barbara Smith 

Mr. Luc Tran 

Mr. Michael Vout Jr. 

Absent: Ms. Arnella Csongradi 

Guests:  Ms. Rebecca Durcan, Legal Counsel, Steinecke, Maciura and LeBlanc 

Mr. Blair MacKenzie, Partner, Hilborn LLP 

Staff:  Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO  

Ms. Fiona Harvey, Recording Secretary 

1. Call to Order

The President, Mr. Hanno Weinberger called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m.

2. In-camera meeting of Council pursuant to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 Schedule 2:

Health Professions Procedural Code s. 7 ss. 2 (d)

MOTION: That Council move into an In-Camera meeting at 9:03 a.m. as per Schedule 2, (HPPC) of the 

RHPA, s. 7 ss 2(d). 

MOVED:  I. McFarlane 

SECONDED:  W. Muriuki 

CARRIED 

Agenda Item 7.1 

17



College of Denturists of Ontario 88th Council Meeting Minutes June 23, 2017 

 

 

Page 2 of 6 

 

 

MOTION: That Council adjourn the In-Camera meeting at 9.24 a.m. 

MOVED:  I. McFarlane 

SECONDED:  W. Muriuki 

CARRIED  

 

MOTION: That Council ratify the negotiations between the President and the Registrar with respect to 

the Registrar’s contract. 

MOVED:  I. McFarlane 

SECONDED:  B. Smith  

             CARRIED 

 

3. Approval of Agenda 

 

The Registrar requested adding an Item “Update on Bill 87” after Item 15. 

 

MOTION: That the agenda be adopted as amended. 

MOVED:  M. Vout Jr. 

SECONDED:  K. Collins 

CARRIED   

 

4. Declaration of Conflict  

 

Luc Tran declared a conflict with Item 11.6 and will not vote on this item if pulled from the consent 

agenda. 

 

Mr. Michael Vout Jr. declared a conflict with Item 15.  The Registrar informed Council he would only be 

providing an update on this item, however, if a decision is required Mr. Vout will step out of the 

meeting. 
 

 

5. College Mandate   
 

 

6. Introduction of New Members of Council 

 

The President introduced the New Members of Council: 

 

Mr. Robert Gaspar, District 3 

Mr. Christopher Reis, District 4 

Mr. Jack Abergel, District 5 
 

 

7. Election of Executive Committee and Officers for 2017-2018 

 

The Registrar thanked Mr. Weinberger for all his support and guidance during his time as President.  

 

The Registrar chaired the election. 

 

MOTION: That Ms. Rebecca Durcan and Ms. Jennifer Slabodkin act as scrutineers.  

MOVED:  A. Kiriakou 

SECONDED: J. Della Marina 

CARRIED 

 

18



College of Denturists of Ontario 88th Council Meeting Minutes June 23, 2017 

 

 

Page 3 of 6 

 

 

MOTION: That the Executive Committee be composed of 5 members. 

MOVED:  B. Smith 

SECONDED:  K. Collins 

CARRIED 

 

Executive Committee for 2017-2018 

▪ Dr. Ivan McFarlane – President – Acclaimed 

▪ Mr. Joey Della Marina – Vice President – Elected 

▪ Ms. Wangari Muriuki – Public Member at Large – Acclaimed  

▪ Mr. Luc Tran – Professional Member at Large – Elected 

▪ Mr. Michael Vout Jr. – Professional Member at Large – Elected 

 

MOTION: That Council approve the destruction of the ballots.   

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:  W. Muriuki 

CARRIED 

 

8. Nominating Committee’s Proposed Slate for Statutory and Non-Statutory Committees and Chairs 

of Statutory Committees for 2017-2018 

 

MOTION: That Council approve the proposed slate for Statutory and Non-Statutory Committees and 

Chairs of Statutory Committees for 2017-2018 as presented.  

MOVED:  B. Smith 

SECONDED:  K. Collins 

CARRIED  

 

9. Absentee Member Update 

 

Ms. Barbara Smith stated she would not vote on this item as she is the complainant. 

 

MOTION: That Council has determined a breach of duties has occurred by Ms. Arnella Csongradi, Public 

Member as set out in the letter of complaint dated December 15, 2016. 

MOVED:   M. Vout Jr. 

SECONDED:   K. Collins 

CARRIED  

 

MOTION: That Council direct the College to take action as per Article 26.02 (iii), (b) & (c) of the College 

By-laws.  

MOVED:  H. Weinberger 

SECONDED:  M. Vout Jr. 

CARRIED  

 

10. Governance – Meeting Efficiencies 

 

Council accepted the meeting efficiencies as presented. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

19



College of Denturists of Ontario 88th Council Meeting Minutes June 23, 2017 

 

 

Page 4 of 6 

 

 

11. Consent Agenda 

 

Items removed from the Consent Agenda:  11.1, 11.3, 11.8, and 11.9.  

 

MOTION: That Council adopt the Consent Agenda.   

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:  W. Muriuki 

CARRIED 

 

11.1 Minutes of the 87th Council meeting held on March 3, 2017 

 

Council accepted Item 11.1 Minutes of the 87th Council Meeting held on March 3, 2017, as circulated. 

 

 

11.3 Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report 

 

The Registrar provided a correction to Item 11.3 Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report. 

Under the heading “Decision Finalized – Registrar’s Reports – Referral from QA” – the number should be 

“7” not “10”.  

 

MOTION: That Council approve Item 11.3 ICRC Report as amended. 

Moved: A. Baker-Lanoue 

Seconded: K. Collins 

CARRIED 

 

11.8 President’s Report 

 

The Past President, Mr. Hanno Weinberger thanked and provided his gratitude to the staff, the Registrar 

and Ms. Rebecca Durcan who have all been very supportive and professional in his dealings with them 

during his tenure as President.   

 

MOTION: That Council approve Item 11.8. President’s Report. 

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:  M. Vout Jr. 

CARRIED 

 

11.9 Registrar’s Report 
 

The Registrar provided an amendment to Item 11.9 (page 3).  Under “ICRC and Discipline” change: 
 

“The College currently has 7 active complaint files, 4 Registrar’s Reports, and 8 referrals of 

members from the Quality Assurance Committee before it.” 
 

To: 
 

“The College currently has 9 active complaint files, 3 Registrar’s Reports, and 1 referral of 

a member to the Quality Assurance Committee before it.” 

 

MOTION: That Council approve Item 11.9. Registrar’s Report as amended. 

MOVED:  H. Weinberger 

SECONDED:  K. Collins 

CARRIED 

20



College of Denturists of Ontario 88th Council Meeting Minutes June 23, 2017 

 

 

Page 5 of 6 

 

 

12. Presentation: Draft Audited Financial Statements – Blair MacKenzie, Hilborn LLP 

 

MOTION: That Council approve the 2016-2017 Draft Audited Financial Statements.   

MOVED:  J. Della Marina 

SECONDED:  A. Kiriakou 

CARRIED 

 

13. Strategic Plan 

 

MOTION: That Council adopt the 2017-2020 Strategic Plan as presented.   

MOVED:  A. Kiriakou 

SECONDED:   L. Tran 

CARRIED 

 

14. Standards of Practice 

 

Standard of Practice: Advertising  

 

MOTION: That Council approve the revised Standard of Practice: Advertising for implementation as of 

March 1, 2018. 

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:   W. Muriuki 

CARRIED 

 

Standard of Practice: Confidentiality and Privacy 

 

MOTION: That Council approve the revised Standard of Practice: Confidentiality and Privacy for 

implementation as of January 1, 2018 

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:  A. Baker-Lanoue 

CARRIED 

 

Standard of Practice: Conflict of Interest  

 

MOTION: That Council approve the draft Standard of Practice: Conflict of Interest for stakeholder 

consultation. 

MOVED:  K. Collins 

SECONDED:   B. Smith 

CARRIED 

 

15. Revised CAC Proposal  

 

The Registrar provided Council with an update and stated he will continue to engage in conversation 

with the DAC/CAC regarding their proposal for a national level accreditation body, and will also 

investigate separate approaches to academic accreditation.     

 

 

16. Bill 87 Update 

 

Ms. Rebecca Durcan provided Council with an update on the new Patient Safety Act (Bill 87) and went 

over some important amendments to the RHPA that came into effect as of May 30, 2017. 

 

21



College of Denturists of Ontario 88th Council Meeting Minutes June 23, 2017 

 

 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 

17. Confidentiality  

 

 The President reminded Council about the importance of confidentiality.  

 

 

18. Next Meeting Date  

 

Friday, October 13, 2017 

 

 

19. Adjournment  

 

Council adjourned the meeting at 1:46 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
Mr. Ivan McFarlane Date  

President and Chair 

 

 

   
Dr. Glenn Pettifer Date 

Registrar and CEO 

22



 

 

 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

  
 
 

 
COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Executive Committee 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 1 

 

 

 

The Executive Committee met once (October 5, 2017) since its last report to Council on June 23, 2017.  

 

Rebecca Durcan, the College’s general legal Counsel engaged the Committee in a discussion on the 

roles and responsibilities of the Executive Committee.  Ms. Durcan also provided input on the matter of 

Conflict of Interest.  The Committee engaged in a discussion on a potential conflict of interest around 

membership of the Qualifying Examination Committee.  

 

The Committee reviewed and approved the current financial statements (April 1, 2017 – August 31, 

2017). 

 

The Committee approved eight (8) Clinic name applications.   

 

The Committee approved the appointment of Mr. Christopher Reis to the Patient Relations Committee.  

Mr. Reis will vacate his position on the ICRC. 

 

The Committee considered and approved a letter of request from a member of the College to have 

dental equipment necessary for the practice of dentistry and dental hygiene (including, but not limited 

to, cavitron, intra-oral polishing unit, scaling unit) for a Registered Dentist and Dental Hygienist working 

in the clinic.      

 

The Committee considered and adopted the Registrar’s Report.   

 

 

Respectfully submitted by Dr. Ivan McFarlane, President 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7.2 

23



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 

4 total meetings. 

 3 in-person meetings held on July 14, 2017, September 21, 2017 (Panel 

A) and September 22, 2017; 1 teleconference held on August 17, 2017

Decisions finalized 

Investigations closed and draft decisions approved: 6 

a) Complaints 4  

b) Registrar’s Reports 1  

c) Registrar’s Reports – Referral from QA 1 

Dispositions (some cases may have multiple dispositions or multiple members): 

No Further Action   4 

Advice/Reminder 2  

SCERP (inc. Coaching and training) 1  

Written Caution 0  

Verbal Caution 0 

Referral to Discipline 0 

Cases considered: 

i) Files still open (includes all on-going matters and new files): 25 

a) Complaints 19  

b) Registrar’s Reports 6  

c) Fitness to Practise Inquiry 0  

d) Referral from QA 0  

ii) New files received during this period: 22 

a) Complaints 18 

b) Registrar’s Reports 4 

c) Referral from QA 0 

Agenda Item 7.3 

24



 

  

 

 

  
 

CDO – Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017                               Page 2 of 2 
  

 

 

 

 

Cases Pending: 

 

i) Files not yet reviewed (in early stages of investigation):   3  

  

a) Complaints   3  

b) Registrar’s Reports    0  

c) Fitness to Practise Inquiry 0  

d) Referral from QA           0  

 

HPARB appeals: 
 

Total Appeals pending 2  

New Appeals  1  

ICRC Decision confirmed – case closed 5  

ICRC Decision returned to ICRC 0  
Appeal withdrawn – case closed 0  

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by Barbara Smith, Chair 

25



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Discipline Committee 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 1 Discipline Hearing 

A panel of the Discipline Committee conducted a one-day hearing on July 21, 2017.  This was a follow-

up to the 2-day contested hearing that occurred in February 2017 in which the Panel of the Discipline 

Committee found Ms. Hong (Tracy) Tran to be guilty of professional misconduct.  On July 21, 2017, the 

Panel heard arguments and made a decision regarding penalty and costs. 

My thanks to the members of the panel who volunteered their time and brought their professionalism 

and commitment to this important task. 

Respectfully submitted by Hanno Weinberger, President 

Agenda Item 7.4 

26



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Quality Assurance Committee – Panel A 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since last 

Council Meeting: 1 

Panel A of the Quality Assurance Committee (QAC-A) met once (July 7, 2017) since its last report to Council on 

June 23, 2017.  

Program staff presented an overview of the Quality Assurance Program and committee activities, and 

distributed reference binders to Committee members.  

The Committee considered and approved a guideline for Peer Assessors for taking photographs, when 

necessary, during peer and practice assessments.  The data from the post-assessment questionnaire surveys 

was summarized and presented. The Committee was pleased with the comments received from members 

regarding the Peer Assessors and assessment process in general. 

The Committee considered several 2016-17 Peer and Practice Assessment reports, 12 that were deemed 

satisfactory and 10 that required some level of remediation.  

The Committee reviewed a list of members who were non-compliant with the 2016-17 annual CPD 

requirements, the 2015-16 annual CPD requirements and members who were non-compliant for the 5-year 

CPD cycle (2011 – 2016). Members who were non-compliant and/or non-responsive were ordered to 

participate in CPD Audits and/or Peer and Practice Assessments, or referred to ICRC, per the CPD Compliance 

Policy.  The Committee was provided with a list of members who were in progress with fulfilling the 

requirements and/or those who were now in compliance. 4 extension requests for the 2016-17 annual CPD 

requirement were discussed.  

The Committee continued with the content development phase of the Self-Assessment Tool project and an 

initial draft of the tool was reviewed. Committee members will be discussing the 2nd draft of the tool at the 

October 20th meeting.  

The Committee was provided with a verbal update on the peer circle project. The call for item writers was sent 

out to the membership on Monday, September 25th. Training and item writing sessions will be held 

November 11-12 and December 1-2, 2017. Program staff have received significant interest so far.  

Respectfully submitted Keith Collins, Chair 

Agenda Item 7.5 

27



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Quality Assurance Committee – Panel B 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 0 

Panel B of the Quality Assurance Committee (QAC-B) will be meeting on Thursday, November 10, 2017, 

to receive an orientation and review the consultation report for the Standard of Practice: Conflict of 

Interest.  

The Committee will be continuing to research and draft Standards of Practice for Restricted Titles and 

Professional Designations, Infection Prevention and Control, and Anti-Snoring Devices.  

The Committee will receive an update on the educational launch for the Standards approved for 

implementation by Council – Informed Consent, Confidentiality & Privacy and Advertising. 

Respectfully submitted by Hanno Weinberger, Chair 

Agenda Item 7.6 

28



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Qualifying Examination Committee (QEC) 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 3 teleconference/webinar meetings – July 18, 20 & October 4, 2017 

The Committee met on three occasions following the June 2017 Qualifying Examination to review the 

item analysis for each component of the QE and for the presentation of the final examination results.  

The College’s assessment consultant, Dr. Anthony Marini, conducts a complete item analysis after each 

administration. Items identified as problematic in this analysis, were presented and reviewed by the 

Committee prior to the release of final candidate scores. 

A total of nine (9) items [out of 250 items (3.6%)] were deleted from the scoring of Part I-Multiple 

Choice Question (MCQ) examination and ten (10) items [out of 210 items (4.8%)] – (each station can 

include more than one item) were deleted from scoring of Part II-Objective Structured Clinical 

Examination (OSCE). Items are deleted from scoring when they do not meet the established technical 

guidelines for valid assessment. The deletion of these items strengthens the validity of the QE. 

Other Discussion Items: 

Qualifying Examination Results – Summer 2017 Qualifying Examination (QE) 

Part I - Multiple Choice Question (MCQ) Total New Repeat 

Number of candidates 37 35 2 

Number of successful candidates 31 30 1 

Pass rate (New Candidates) *86%

* the cumulative average pass rate over the last two summer administrations of the MCQ is 81%

Part II - Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE) Total New Repeat 

Number of candidates 38 35 3 

Number of successful candidates 31 28 3 

Pass rate (New Candidates) **80% 

** the cumulative average pass rate over the last four summer administrations of the OSCE is 82% 

Agenda Item 7.7 

29



CDO – QEC Committee Report to Council – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017   Page 2 of 2

QE SUMMER 2017 - OVERALL Total New Repeat 

Number of candidates 40 35 5 

Number of successful candidates 28 24 4 

Pass rate (ALL Candidates)       70% 

Continued Development of the QE 

The QE working groups continue to develop examination materials and content for both the MCQ & 

OSCE examinations. An item writing workshop has been scheduled for October 27-29 to continue 

building the MCQ item bank. Additional workshops for OSCE case development will be scheduled in 

early 2018. 

Respectfully submitted by Christine Reekie, Chair 

30



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Name of Committee: Registration Committee 

Reporting Date: October 13, 2017 

Number of Meetings since 

last Council Meeting: 3 

The Registration Committee (RC) met three times since its last report to Council on June 23, 2017. 

At the August 25th meeting, the Committee considered 3 requests for academic assessments for 

internationally educated potential candidates.  

At the September 5th meeting, the Committee re-considered 1 of the requests for academic assessment with 

additional information.  

At the October 6th meeting, the Committee considered 2 requests for academic assessment and 2 

applications for Certificates of Registration that were referred by the Registrar.  

At the next meeting (November 2nd), the Committee will be provided with an orientation, engage in the 

initial review of the Georgian College Denturism program, and receive a demonstration of the completed 

Jurisprudence online examination. The Committee is still planning to review the College’s academic 

assessment process to ensure that it is objective, impartial, transparent, fair and efficient. The Committee may 

still consider sending a post-assessment survey to potential candidates who have had an academic 

assessment to identify areas that may benefit from increased communication (i.e. instructions for the 

assessment, the documentation required, re-assessment criteria etc.).  Finally, the Committee will also review 

an inventory of registration policies and develop an ongoing revision schedule to ensure currency.  

The Committee has sent 3 members to the Managing Cultural Differences Workshops held by ORAC (Ontario 

Regulators for Access Consortium). The feedback from attendees is extremely positive, citing that the content 

is relevant and engaging. Committee members will continue to participate in the workshops.  

Respectfully submitted by Elizabeth Gorham-Matthews, Chair 

Agenda Item 7.8 

31



 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

 
 
  

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Ivan McFarlane 

Date: October 3, 2017 

Subject: President’s Report 

 

 

  

I take very great pleasure in presenting my first report as president of this august body, the Council of 

the College of Denturists of Ontario. 

 

Since my election in June I have been sustained by the best wishes of my predecessor and heartened by 

congratulatory notes from former professional members of Council. I now look forward to receiving the 

critical support of Council. 

 

At the June meeting the Registrar introduced a package of governance guidelines and meeting 

efficiencies which helped me get off to a great start in the very necessary task of conducting meetings.  

For this timely presentation I thank the Registrar. I also thank the College’s legal counsel for her 

presence and guidance. 
 

 

Consultations with the Registrar 

 

The Registrar and I met during the summer. 

I am pleased to report that my ‘to do policy list’ corresponded with his agenda.  A good start!  

 

Our second meeting was prompted by correspondence from the Chair, Qualifying Examination 

Committee regarding a matter of deemed Conflict of Interest. The Registrar and I agreed without 

hesitation that this item would be handled with the utmost transparency. I acknowledged the letter. 

The matter was thoroughly aired at the recent Executive Committee meeting in which the cited member 

participated. The matter is now before Council. See item 6.0 
 

 

Professional Development consultation 

 

I accepted an invitation to attend the Committee Chair Training with the College of Midwives on 

October 11, 2017.  I will present an oral report. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by Dr. Ivan McFarlane, President  

Agenda Item 7.9 

32



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Registrar’s Report 

I am pleased to provide this report to Council. 

STAKEHOLDER REPRESENTATION 

Attended a portion of the 10th World Symposium on Denturism, Boucherville, Quebec - September 29 & 30, 

2017.  This was a great opportunity to meet members of the profession from around the globe.  I was also 

pleased to meet face-to-face with the head of the DAC- CAC as well as other provincial regulators.   

Attended annual conference of Canadian Network Agencies for Regulators, Halifax, NS – October 2-4, 2017. 

Presented at Regulatory SOS Workshop – “Top 10 Things Regulators Must Know”.   

Meeting with Dean Fay Lim-Lambie, Associate Dean Karen Hirshfeld, Health, Wellness and Sciences at 

Georgian College and Andrea Lovering, Denturism Program Coordinator regarding Georgian College 

Denturism Program accreditation requirements.   

CDO hosted a meeting with some of the smaller health regulatory Colleges (College of Optometrists of 

Ontario, College of Opticians of Ontario, College of Midwives of Ontario, College of Naturopaths of Ontario, 

College of Homeopaths of Ontario, College of Kinesiologists of Ontario, College of Chiropodists of Ontario, 

College of Dieticians of Ontario, College of Dental Technologists of Ontario) to discuss areas of potential 

collaboration:  space, staffing, benefits, program administration, policy development. 

FHRCO Board of Directors Meeting – July 19, 2017 

Meeting with Gala Arh, Senior Business Analyst, eHealth Ontario regarding data sharing agreement. 

Cooperative Effort with College of Dental Hygienists and Public Health Ontario regarding Clinic Infection 

Control 

FINANCE 

Year-to-date financial reports are provided. 

REGISTRATION 

The College currently has 688 active, general registrants and 1 temporary registration which expires in 

October 2017.  

Agenda Item 7.10 

33



CDO – Registrar’s Report to Council - 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017  Page 2 of 3

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES 

The Standards of Practice: Informed Consent and Confidentiality & Privacy were approved by Council for 

implementation as of September 1, 2017, and January 1, 2018, respectively. In order to prepare the 

membership, an educational webinar and self-directed learning assignment were developed for each 

Standard. Members who attend the webinars have the option to complete the self-directed learning 

assignments which include questions and a record audit exercise. Upon completion and submission to the 

College, members can receive 8 additional CPD credits.  

Standard # of Sessions # of Attendees 

Informed Consent 8 212 

Confidentiality & Privacy 4 97 

More sessions will be offered over the fall and in the winter to support the implementation. 

Overall, 100% of survey respondents indicated that they would recommend the webinar to a colleague; 100% 

of respondents indicated that attending the webinar improved their understanding of the topic; 94% of 

respondents indicated that attending the webinar positively impacted their practice. 

In order to enhance the member’s experience and improve engagement, an e-Learning module library is 

being developed and will be accessible through the Member Portal. In this e-library, members will be able to 

access on-demand webinars, copies of the presentations and self-directed learning assignments.  

Member Comments: 

➢ Is there any way we can get the presentation slides after attending the webinar?

➢ very informative

➢ More webinars please!!!!!

➢ Very informative on important aspects in the office.

➢ Each one is better thanks J.S.

➢ Very useful and informative. It helps to run our businesses smooth.

➢ I wanted to thank you for doing such a great job with the webinars. They are very well presented

and the pace, content, and participation levels are all optimal. You also bring an enjoyable

approach that is light and fun, yet serious and direct. I thought that you should hear how

enjoyable they are.

Live Webinars will be provided throughout the fall on the following topics: 

• Record Keeping

• Informed Consent

• Confidentiality & Privacy

• Advertising – NEW!

QUALIFYING EXAMINATION 

The summer administration of the Qualifying Examination took place on June 22 (MCQ) and June 23-24 

(OSCE).   Members of Council had the opportunity to attend and observe the administration of the OSCE 

examination. 

24 of 35 new candidates (69%) successfully completed both components of the QE; 

28 of 40 candidates (70%) (including candidates who were repeating some portion of the examination) 

successfully completed one or both components of the QE. 

34



CDO – Registrar’s Report to Council - 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017  Page 3 of 3

PROGRAM AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 

Strategic Plan Operationalization 

Tactics for year 1 of the Strategic Plan have been identified and will be presented to Council. 

Jurisprudence Project  

With the introduction of Bill 87, the jurisprudence project material will be reviewed again to incorporate any 

amendments necessary to bring the material up to date.   

Peer Circle Project 

The College is currently seeking members to serve as item writers and facilitators for this project.  The first call 

for members of the profession interested in participating in the Peer Circle Project as item writers was sent on 

Monday, September 25, 2017.    As of Tuesday, September 26, 2017, twelve members had expressed interest 

in serving as item writers!  

Standards Development 

Consultation on the Standard of Practice: Conflict of Interest closed recently.  The results of this consultation 

will be considered by the QA – Panel B Committee at its November meeting and then brought to Council for 

its December meeting.   

STAFF CONTINUING EDUCATION  

Jennifer Slabodkin attended the Annual Education Conference presented by the Council on Licensure, 

Enforcement and Regulation in September.  Jennifer is continuing to work toward her Certificate in Nonprofit 

and Voluntary Sector Management, currently studying critical issues in the sector. Vicci Sakkas is working 

toward her Certificate in Human Resources Management and Fiona Harvey will be attending the FHRCO 

training day for Communications Specialists.    

Respectfully submitted by Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

35



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

MEMO 

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 6, 2017 

Subject: Financial Report Memo 

Financial Reports are attached for the period April – August 2017.  

You will find revenue and expenditure summaries.  I direct your attention to the column “YTD as 

Percentage of Budget” which indicates the percentage of the budgeted amount that has been spent (or, 

in the case of revenue, received).  Since this report covers the first 5 months of the fiscal year, we would 

anticipate that approximately 40% of a budgeted amount would have been spent.  On the revenue side, 

most of it comes from Registration and is close to 100% of the budgeted amount by the end of the 

Registration renewal period on April 15.   

There are some line items that are not expensed over a period of time but are lump sum payments.  

Depending on when lump sum items are invoiced, these items will show a YTD percentage of budget 

greater or less than 40%.    

There are two items of note: 

1. In the revenue line “Other Income”, the income is approximately $20,000.00 in excess of the 
budgeted amount ($0).  At the time that the 2017-2018 budget was constructed and approved 
by Council, a discipline order was under appeal and it was not clear whether the decision would 
be upheld.  However, the Court of Appeals denied the member's request to appeal the decision 
so the decision of the Discipline Committee was upheld and the costs order stood.  To date, the 
College has received $20,000 in cost recovery (of a total of approximately $80,000.00 ordered).

2. While not reflected in the line item “Professional Fees” as an overage at this point in the fiscal 
year, the sub-category of website redesign expenses is approximately $5000.00 in excess of the 
budgeted expense.  This excess expense arose because of the fees incurred in developing the 
link between the College’s member database and the Public Register that is presented on the 
website. Much of this work was related in ensuring accuracy of the data that was retrieved from 
the member database. 

The overall expense percentage is 35% of the total budgeted amount, well within the anticipated range 

for this point in the fiscal year. 

Agenda Item 7.11 

36



College of Denturists of Ontario

YTD Budget to Actual (April-August 2017 )

YTD Budget to Actual 2017-2018 April-August 2017 YTD as Percentage Remainder or In Excess

BUDGET YTD Totals of Budget of Budgeted Amount*

REVENUE

    Professional Corporation Fees 60,500.00$         54,750.00$     90% 5,750.00$     

    Registration Fees 1,318,400.00$   1,278,420.00$      97% 39,980.00$      

    Other Fees 8,700.00$           6,620.27$        76% 2,079.73$     

    Qualifying Examination Fees 203,000.00$      154,125.00$      76% 48,875.00$      

    Other Income 12,000.00$      32,657.99$     272% $   *20,657.99

TOTAL REVENUE 1,602,600.00$   1,526,573.26$      95% 76,026.74$      

EXPENDITURES

    Wages & Benefits 439,128.73$      181,015.79$      41% 258,112.94$       

    Professional Development 30,000.00$      9,432.80$        31% 20,567.20$      

    Professional Fees 233,900.00$      38,983.62$     17% 194,916.38$       

    Office & General 104,000.00$      56,241.41$     54% 47,758.59$      

    Rent 111,476.60$      45,617.00$     41% 65,859.60$      

    Qualifying Examination 349,200.00$      142,650.95$      41% 206,549.05$       

    Council and Committees 22,300.00$      5,948.89$        27% 16,351.11$      

    Quality Assurance

       QA Panel A 10,000.00$      573.63$     6% 9,426.37$     

       QA Panel B 10,000.00$      1,152.27$        12% 8,847.73$     

       QA Assessments 31,000.00$      16,790.47$     54% 14,209.53$      

    Complaints & Discipline

       Complaints 105,000.00$      18,838.90$     18% 86,161.10$      

       Discipline 105,000.00$      20,296.50$     19% 84,703.50$      

Capital Expenditures 20,000.00$      12,721.42$     64% 7,278.58$     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,571,005.33$   550,263.65$      35% 1,020,741.68$      

NET INCOME 31,594.67$     976,309.61$      

Agenda Item 7.11

CDO – Financial Report Memo and YTD Income - Expenses - April 1, 2017 - August 31, 2017 – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017  Page 2 of 2

37



Agenda Item 7.12
38



39



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Memo 
To: Council  

From: Glenn Pettifer, Registrar & CEO 

Date: October 6, 2017 

Re: Committee Membership – Mr. Christopher Reis 

On October 5, 2017, the Executive Committee adopted a motion to add Councillor Christopher Reis to the 

Patient Relations Committee.  This motion arose at the request of the Chair of the Nominating and ICR 

Committees because of a surplus of members sitting on the ICRC.  Mr. Reis agreed with the re-assignment. 

Agenda Item 7.13 

40



 

 

 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

  
 
 

 
BRIEFING NOTE 

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Addition – Modification of Electoral District Postal Codes 

 

 

  

The College’s electoral districts are defined by the postal codes included in an intended district.  A recent 

review of the electoral district postal codes revealed that some postal codes associated with registered 

members’ addresses were not included.  Additionally, some postal codes identified with a district 

appeared to be erroneously associated with that district.  

 

Pursuant to Article 10.02 - Electoral Districts of the College By-laws: “The following electoral districts 

are established for the purpose of the election of Members to the Council. The Registrar may assign any 

new or missing postal codes to the district he or she believes is most important.” 

 

I have made the following changes to Article 10.02: 

 

District Add Delete 

1 - - 

2 L0S, L8B - 

3 L7K, L9E, N3A L0J 

4 L0J, L4H - 

5 - - 

6 L6B, L6G - 

7 - - 

8 L4P, L9J, L9X, L9Z, P2B, P7L L4H, L6B 

 

 

Attachments: 

Map of Existing Districts 3, 4, 5, 6, & 7 

Map of New Districts 3, 4, 5, 6, & 7 

Map of New Districts 1, 2, 3 

Map of Existing District 7 

Map of Districts 1-8 with new Districts 

Agenda Item 7.14 

41



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com

Map of Existing Districts: 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7 

District 6

District 5

District 4

L6B

L4H

L4H

L4H

L0J

District 3

District 8

District 7

Agenda Item 7.14 42



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Map of New Districts: 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7 

District 6

District 5

District 4

District 7
District 8

District 3

L4H

L4H

L4H

L0J

L6B

District 7

Agenda Item 7.14

L6G

43



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Map of New Districts - 1, 2, 3 & 8

District 3

District 1

District 2

District 4
District 5

District 6

District 7

District 8

L0S

L7K

N3A L8B

L9E

L9Z

L9X

L9J

L4P

Agenda Item 7.14 44



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Map of Existing District: 7 

District 7

District 6

District 5

District 8

Agenda Item 7.14
45



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Map of New Districts: 1 - 8 

District 8

District 1

District 7

District 6
District 2

District 3

District 4
District 5

Agenda Item 7.14

P2B

P7L

46



 

 

 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

  
 
 

 
Guidelines for Teleconference Calls 
 

Most people have a love/hate relationship with conference calls, and there's a good reason for that. We 

love the convenience, but we hate the unproductivity. Here are a few things that might help make the 

next conference call a better experience for everyone. 

1. Make the conference call the top priority. 

It's frustrating to take time to be on a call and know that others aren't giving the same attention. We've 

even been on calls when someone came into one of the participant's offices and carried on a conversation 

that drowned out the conference call! 

2. Chairs - Make sure you know who's on the phone. 

Always know who is on the call.   The teleconference service the College uses provides an audible tone 

when people enter or leave the call.  Access to teleconferences are restricted using a conference ID and 

password.   

3. Chairs - Use roll call votes. 

Start the call with a roll call. When you need to take votes, you may use a roll call as well. That way you'll 

know that people are participating all the way to the end of the call. 

4. Eliminate background noises. 

Be sensitive to what your barking dog or whining child or television program sounds like to someone 

listening over a cheap conference call service or speakerphone when certain sounds are accented. Make 

sure everyone knows how to mute their phones - just about every phone or conference call system has 

some type of mute function. 

5. Don't place equipment where it picks up ambient noise. 

Two sounds that are ever-present on conference calls and drive people on the phone crazy are keyboard 

and paper shuffling noises. The former is very distracting to someone speaking; it makes them paranoid 

about what is being written down. The latter can be worse because it has no discernable pattern - it just 

drowns out everything so no one else can hear. These sounds are seldom noticed by those in the room 

where the noise is generated. 

6. NEVER extend the general call for private purposes. 

Don't ask anyone to "stay on for a few extra minutes." Break the call and call them back. You don't know 

who is listening in, who might repeat (or transcribe) the conversation, or what mischief might result from 

this one bit of carelessness. 

7. Keep the agenda tight and focused. 

Don't try to do too much on each call and don't schedule calls you don't need. It's easier to cancel a call 

than to schedule one so, if you set a schedule of calls for the year, remember that you can cancel one if 

you don't really need it. 

Agenda Item 7.15 

47



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326  

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

BRIEFING NOTE 

To: COUNCIL 

From:  Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Status Report on Action Items Identified in the  

2012 Pricewaterhouse Coopers Operational Review and Audit 

In 2012, the Minister of Health and Long-Term Care, the Honourable Deb Matthews, ordered an Operational 

Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (CDO).   This audit was carried out by representatives 

from PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and was delivered in March 2012.   A copy of the original PwC 

Operational Review and Audit is available on the College website (www.denturists-cdo.com).  The audit 

identified many action items, the resolution of which were designed to mitigate the risk of the College not 

delivering on its mandated responsibilities associated with regulating the profession of Denturism in the 

public interest.   

Following the audit and other subsequent events, the Lieutenant Governor in Council, upon recommendation 

of the Minister, appointed a Supervisor, pursuant to Section 5 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.  

Under the direction of the Supervisor, the College began the work of attending to the items identified in the 

Audit Report.  This work has continued into the present and is essentially complete, save the creation of a 

document management strategy, a long-term project in which the College is currently engaged.   In the 5 

years since the Operational Review and Audit, the College, its Council, Members of the profession, and 

College staff have expended a huge effort and invested significant resources in addressing all the items 

addressed in the Audit.   

With the creation of the College’s Strategy Map for 2017-2020, “Promoting Regulatory Excellence, Action Plan 

for 2017-2020”, it seemed that there was an opportunity to report to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term 

Care on all of the work that has been done to satisfy the Audit recommendations and that the College is now 

positioned to cast its vision forward as it undertakes the Objectives defined in the Strategy Map 2017-2020.   

This report is provided to the Council for its consideration. 

Options: 

After review of this information, Council may: 

1. Adopt the report and direct staff to submit it to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care with

a copy of the Strategy Map 2017-2020.

2. Request amendments to the report, adopt the amended report and direct staff to submit the

report to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care with a copy of the Strategy Map 2017-2020.

3. Other

Agenda Item 9.1

48

https://denturists-cdo.com/Resources/Publications-(1)/Ministry-of-Health-and-Long-Term-Care-Audit-by-PwC.aspx


College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326 

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Status Report on  

Action Items Identified in the  

2012 PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Operational Review and Audit 

Agenda Item 9.2 49

http://www.denturists-cdo.com/


CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

1 
 

Disclaimer 
 
Contents contained with the document are based on information available at the time of publication.  
 
For more information please contact the College of Denturists of Ontario by email <info@denturists-
cdo.com> or visit www.denturists-cdo.com 
 
Publication Date: September 2017   

50

mailto:inquiries@denturists-cdo.com
mailto:inquiries@denturists-cdo.com
http://www.denturists-cdo.com/


CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

2 
 

Message from the Registrar and President 
 
 
In 2012, at the request of the Honourable Deb Matthews, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care, 
representatives from PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) conducted an Operational Review and Audit of the 
College of Denturists of Ontario (CDO).  
 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario Report (ORA Report) was delivered 
in March 2012.  A copy of the original PwC Operational Review and Audit is available on the College website 
(www.dentuists-cdo.com).   
 
In the 5 years since the Operational Review and Audit, the College, its Council, Members of the profession 
and College staff have undertaken to address the challenges and opportunities identified in the ORA 
Report.  This progress report is an accounting and summary of those efforts.  Individual items are presented 
in a format taken from the ORA report that includes an “Observation Description (2012)” and a “Risk 
Description (2012)”.  Following the observation and risk descriptions for each item is an update on progress 
and/or disposition of that item. 
 
The information presented in this progress report reveals the magnitude of effort expended by all 
stakeholders.  This collective effort has served to position the College well for the delivery of its statutory 
mandate to protect the public interest in the access to safe, competent and ethical denturism care and 
service and to execute its Strategy Map for 2017-2020, “Promoting Regulatory Excellence, Action Plan for 
2017-2020”.   This is an exciting time for the College, Council and members of the profession as their 
collective vision and efforts are cast forward, embracing the College’s Mandate “to regulate and govern the 
profession of Denturism in the public interest” and Vision to lead its “members in the provision of 
exemplary Denturism care to Ontarians”.    
  

51



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

3 
 

Contents 
Message from the Registrar and President ....................................................................................................... 2 

3. Examinations .................................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.2.1. Lack of formal criteria for Assessor selection ...................................................................................... 6 

3.2.2. Assessor conflict of interest policy ...................................................................................................... 7 

3.2.3. Lack of documentation supporting the development of examination content .................................. 8 

3.2.4. Lack of information provided in candidate protocols. ......................................................................... 9 

3.2.5. Lack of rigour relating to the administration of the practical examination and retention of 

examination materials ................................................................................................................................. 11 

3.2.6. Lack of rigour relating to the summer 2011 written examination .................................................... 14 

3.2.7 Lack of information provided to failed candidates ............................................................................. 15 

3.2.8. Lack of analysis of examination results .............................................................................................. 16 

4. Qualifying Examination Inquiries and Appeals ............................................................................................ 18 

4.2.1. Changes to examination inquiries and appeals policies result in reduced transparency and fairness.

 ..................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

4.2.2. Lack of adequate documentation retained regarding the inquiry process ....................................... 19 

4.2.3. Delayed communications with candidates regarding the receipt of appeals requests .................... 20 

4.2.4. Lack of documentation supporting Executive Committee appeals decisions ................................... 21 

4.2.5. Inadequate practices relating to conflicts of interest ........................................................................ 22 

4.2.6. Inadequate documentation relating to the Appeals Panel decision ................................................. 24 

5. Registrations ................................................................................................................................................ 26 

5.2.1. Lack of tracking of applicant requests ............................................................................................... 26 

5.2.2 Changes to the process to request 3rd attempts that may result in potential administrative burden 

and hardship to candidates ......................................................................................................................... 27 

5.2.3. Changes to the process for examination deferral requests may result in hardship to candidates ... 29 

5.2.4. Lack of written reasons and supporting documentation for Registration Committee decisions ...... 30 

5.2.5. Lack of or unclear notice of referral to registration committee ........................................................ 31 

5.2.6. Lack of review of the scope of practice ............................................................................................. 32 

6. Complaints, Discipline and Investigations ................................................................................................... 34 

6.2.1 Lack of expected date of disposition in 150-day letters ..................................................................... 34 

6.2.2. Delay of complaint decisions ............................................................................................................. 34 

6.2.3. No record of consideration of the prior history of complaints .......................................................... 35 

6.2.4. Inconsistent use of investigators in complaints ................................................................................. 36 

52



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

4 
 

6.2.5. Lack of consent to release information documents .......................................................................... 38 

6.2.6. Consent forms not obtained for Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) ............................................ 39 

6.2.7. Delays regarding disciplinary hearings............................................................................................... 39 

6.2.8. ADR initiated subsequent to the ICRC deciding to refer a complaint to the Discipline Committee .. 40 

6.2.9. Lack of Discipline Committee meeting minutes ................................................................................ 41 

6.2.10. No formal ICRC approval or notification of an investigation ........................................................... 42 

6.2.11. ICRC decision regarding investigations are not made in a timely manner ...................................... 42 

6.2.12. Grounds for investigations initiated by Registrar not documented ................................................ 43 

6.2.13. Investigator was former instructor .................................................................................................. 44 

7.  Quality Assurance ....................................................................................................................................... 45 

7.2.1. No documentation for selection process for assessments ................................................................ 45 

7.2.2. No criteria for selection of assessors ................................................................................................. 46 

7.2.3. Lack of documentation with respect to tracking and review of assessments ................................... 48 

7.2.4. Assessment files are not complete .................................................................................................... 50 

8. Stakeholder Consultations ........................................................................................................................... 51 

8.2.1. Method of circulation of the proposed changes conducted in a less than transparent manner ...... 51 

8.2.2. Communication of the nature of by-law revisions did not include black-line or rationale ............... 52 

8.2.3. Communication back to the members regarding their written comments/submissions regarding 

the proposed by-law changes ...................................................................................................................... 53 

8.2.4. By-law relating to professional liability insurance requirements changed despite Minister’s 

requirement to refrain from doing so.......................................................................................................... 54 

8.2.5. By-laws that have a potential adverse impact on fairness and transparency ................................... 55 

9. Elections ....................................................................................................................................................... 58 

9.2.1. Non-compliance with by-laws in place at the time of 2010 council elections .................................. 58 

9.2.2. Reasonable Grounds for Inquiry not documented ............................................................................ 60 

9.2.3. Support for Council’s decisions appears very limited ........................................................................ 61 

9.2.4. Involvement of the President and Registrar in election .................................................................... 62 

9.2.5. Fairness and impartiality of new election by-laws. ........................................................................... 64 

9.2.6. No representative for district 1 sat on the council during the inquiry process ................................. 65 

10. Council and Employee Expenses ................................................................................................................ 67 

10.2.1. Employee and Council member expense claims do not have itemized receipts included .............. 67 

10.2.2. Employee and Council member expenses are claimed without written rationale for expenses .... 68 

53



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

5 
 

10.2.3. Employee and Council member expense claims were for items incurred more than 60 days prior 

to claim submission...................................................................................................................................... 68 

10.2.4. Employee and Council member expense claims are submitted without proper form ................... 69 

10.2.5. Approval of expenses for employee and Council members is not consistently documented ........ 70 

10.2.6. Payments of employee and Council Members expenses are not properly approved .................... 71 

10.2.7. Per diem expenses not in compliance with by-laws ........................................................................ 72 

10.2.8. Honorarium claims not in compliance with by-laws........................................................................ 73 

11. Financial Performance ............................................................................................................................... 75 

11.2.1. Limited role of the Finance Committee ........................................................................................... 75 

11.2.2. Significant budget fluctuations ........................................................................................................ 77 

11.2.3. Incomplete and inaccurate information provided to Council ......................................................... 78 

11.2.4. Examinations are generating a profit .............................................................................................. 79 

11.2.5. Variance analysis of actual revenue and expense to the prior year ................................................ 81 

12. Record Retention ....................................................................................................................................... 83 

12.2.1. Poor record retention practices ....................................................................................................... 83 

Summary of “In Progress” Action Items .......................................................................................................... 85 

 

 

 

 

 

  

54



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

6 
 

3. Examinations  
The Operational Review and Audit of College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) identified deficiencies in many 
the College’s examination processes that suggested the examination may not have be administered in a 
fair, impartial and consistent manner.  
 

3.2.1. Lack of formal criteria for Assessor selection  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Full evaluation criteria to become an Assessor were not formally documented.  This resulted in a lack of 
consistency in the requirements for members applying for consideration by the Qualifying Examination 
Committee. In many instances, the reasons provided for failing to qualify as an Assessor were vague.  
 
Concerns were also raised about the minimum number of years of experience required for an Assessor.  In 
some instances, this was 5 years and, in others, ten.  These concerns stemmed from the view that the 
criteria may be somewhat arbitrary given that relevant experience and expertise in evaluating examinations 
and current knowledge of new practices and techniques may not meet the ten-year experience minimum.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The absence of formal detailed evaluation criteria that are not consistently communicated to the 
membership could result in subjective and biased decision-making.  

• The lack of transparency around the criteria and assessment of Assessor applications may make it 
difficult for the CDO to defend itself against candidate appeals of examination results based on 
Assessor bias. 

• The requirement for Assessors to have 10 years of experience could have an adverse impact on 
fairness.  

 
Current Status  
In collaboration with the College’s assessment consultant, the CDO has established criteria for members 
interested in becoming a Qualifying Examination Assessors.  These criteria were developed based on a skills 
matrix that includes a minimum of 5 years of experience in the practice of the profession. The policy was 
recently adopted by the Qualifying Examination Committee and will be posted to the CDO website early in 
2017.  
 
The entire membership is advised by email of the opportunity to participate in the Qualifying Examination 
process as an assessor.  This email includes the criteria for becoming an Assessor. Applicants are only 
rejected if they are employed as an instructor for one of the approved education programs or if they don’t 
meet the established, defined criteria. 

 
OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation   

3.2.1 The CDO should develop formal detailed evaluation criteria to assess 
potential QE Assessors.  The criteria should include not only the number of 
years as a denturist but also specific criteria to assess an applicant’s 
experience examining students as well as the specific types of techniques 
and practices in which the applicant should have experience and expertise.  
The use of a skills matrix detailing the expertise and experience desired in 
an Assessor is recommended.  A skills matrix should be completed for all 
applicants to provide an audit trail of the rationale for the selection or 
rejection of applicants for the position of Assessor. 

 

55



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

7 
 

The expertise and experience desired in an Assessor should be 
communicated to the membership. The Qualifying Examination Committee 
should be required to assess candidates utilizing publicly disclosed criteria. 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.1.1 • Develop formal and detailed evaluation criteria to assess potential 
Assessors. 

Complete 

3.2.1.2 • Utilize a skills matrix detailing the expertise and experience desired in 
an Assessor.  

Complete  

3.2.1.3 • Complete a skills matrix for all applicants that provides rationale for 
the selection or rejection of an applicant for the position of Assessor. 

Complete  

3.2.1.4 • Communicate expertise and experience desired in an Assessor to the 
membership. 

Complete 

3.2.1.5 • Require the Qualifying Examination Committee to assess applicants for 
the position of Assessor using publicly disclosed criteria. 

Complete 

 
3.2.2. Assessor conflict of interest policy  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The 2011 Assessor Conflicts of Interest policy required candidates to declare a conflict with an Assessor. 
This approach is an unusual practice as it is generally the responsibility and obligation of the organization 
and potential Assessors, not the candidate, to ensure there is no conflict of interest.    
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Articulating the CDO’s requirements and policies relating to conflicts of interest in different documents, 
rather than in a centralized policy document, may result in less clarity and transparency. 

• The inclusion of disclosure of conflicts by the candidate may result in the incorrect perception that the 
responsibility and obligation to ensure there are no conflicts of interest rests with the candidate.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has established a Confidentiality Agreement and Letter of Understanding which sets out conflict of 
interest requirements.  This agreement must be signed by all individuals working on behalf of the College. 
Signed documents are retained in accordance with the Record Retention policy. Assessors are required to 
declare any potential conflicts of interest, removing the onus from the candidate to provide the 
information.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.2. We recommend that all requirements and policies relating to conflicts of 
interest should be articulated in one document and not extend to the 
candidates, themselves, to enhance the transparency and clarity of the 
College’s Assessor Conflict of Interest Policies.  

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.2.1. • Articulate conflicts of interest in one document to enhance transparency 
and clarity of the College’s Assessor Conflict of Interest Policies. 

Complete 

 

 

56



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

8 
 

3.2.3. Lack of documentation supporting the development of examination content.  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted that there was a limited use of independent professionals with experience in 
denturism and psychometric standards in the development of examination content. The process in place to 
develop, review and edit written examination questions and practical examination criteria appeared to be 
very informal with little documentation to indicate the nature of the review and the rationale for making 
changes.  
 
Evidence provided also suggested that the Registration, Quality Assurance and Examination Coordinator 
made changes to questions because of the review conducted by the Qualifying Examination Committee and 
the independent professional.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Without the inclusion of documentary evidence to support the examination development process, it 
may be unclear that the examinations are testing the competencies required for the safe and effective 
practices of denturism.  

• The failure to utilize professionals with experience and expertise in denturism and psychometric 
standards increase the risk that the examinations lack validity and reliability.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has engaged independent professionals with experience in denturism and psychometric standards 
to conduct a formal assessment of the examinations and provide ongoing support to examination 
development and maintenance.      Prior to an examination administration, the Qualifying Examination 
Committee is responsible for selecting the appropriate allotment of questions from the question bank. 
Policies and processes have been created that ensure a consistent approach to the creation of all 
examination administrations.  

 
OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.3. The CDO should engage independent professionals with experience and 
expertise in denturism and psychometric standards to assist in a formal 
assessment of the validity and reliability of the 2010 and 2011 practical 
examination criteria as well as the written examination including the validity 
of the questions in the databank and the number of questions relative to the 
time allotment. Any changes to the examination process and approach 
should be properly documented.  

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.3.1. • Engage independent professionals with experience and expertise in 
denturism and psychometric standards to assist in a formal assessment 
of the validity and reliability of the 2010 and 2011 practical examination 
criteria.  

Complete 

3.2.3.2. • Engage independent professional with experience and expertise in 
denturism and psychometric standards to assess the validity of the 
questions in the databank and the number of questions relative to the 
time allotment. 

Complete 

  

3.2.3.3. • Document any changes to the examination process and approach.  Complete 

57



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

9 
 

3.2.4. Lack of information provided in candidate protocols. 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Concerns raised in the ORA Report (2012) about the lack of information that was provided in candidate 
protocols suggested that the granularity of information distributed to candidates had been reduced each 
year since 2009. It was noted that the current practices related to marks and weighting of questions was 
substantially inconsistent with that of other regulatory colleges who have more detailed examination 
blueprints and identify key competencies and/or areas of focus that are critical for the competent and safe 
practice of an entry level professional.  
 
It was also noted that greater control over the dissemination of information to candidates was required to 
ensure all candidates received the same information. Any changes to examination protocols needed to be 
made and communicated to candidates well in advance of the examinations so that candidates were 
afforded sufficient time to incorporate these changes into examination preparation strategies.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The decrease in the nature and extent of information that is disclosed with respect to the examination 
process may increase the risk that candidates will have difficulty succeeding, since the candidates do 
not know what is expected of them, especially as it relates to content areas and the relative weighting 
of these content areas.  

• Responding to questions from candidates on an ad-hoc basis increases the risk that all candidates may 
not have the same consistent information regarding the examination.  

• Candidates could be provided with additional information that helps them to pass the examinations.  
This practice could result in an unfair advantage for certain candidates and may have the effect of 
diminishing the transparency of the examination process.  
 

Current Status  
In consultation with independent psychometric professionals and denturists, the CDO has developed the 
Qualifying Examination Blueprint, a detailed document that identifies the practice areas and weighting for 
the written and practical examinations drawn.  The foundations for this blueprint are the two competency 
documents; the National Competency Profile and the Essentials Competencies for Denturism Practice in 
Ontario 2015.   
 
Prior to being made available for selection by the Qualifying Examination Committee, questions in the item 
bank have been reviewed and mapped to the competency documents by working groups comprised of 
Subject Matter Experts.  To further support the process, a gap analysis was conducted and additional items 
are being written.  This task is expected to be complete in 2017.  
 
The Qualifying Examination Blueprint and the competency documents are currently available for download 
from the CDO website.  
 
The CDO does not currently offer practice tests due to a lack of surplus questions in the item bank.   
However, steps are being taken to develop questions intended to support candidates’ preparation for the 
written examinations. A summary of candidate questions and a video of a sample station for the OSCE will 
be added to the new CDO website in which will be launched in mid- 2017.  
 
Examination protocols that ensure consistent information about the examinations have been established 
and are shared with candidates well in advance of the examination. To further support candidate 
preparation for the examinations, candidates are required to attend a two (2) hour orientation session one 

58



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

10 
 

(1) week prior to the examinations. Sufficient time is allotted during the session to answer candidate 
questions and address stated concerns. Alternatively, CDO staff are accessible to answer questions by 
telephone, email, or in-person, prior to the examinations.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.4. We recommend that a detailed examination blueprint be developed.  The 
blueprint should identify the content areas covered on both the written and 
practical examinations. For each content area, the blueprint should outline 
the weighting of the area, the topics, levels of competence, and learning 
objectives examined.  The blueprint should also be aligned to the CDO’s scope 
of practice.   
 
We noted that little work has been done with respect to the review of the 
scope of practice for an entry level denturist and an assessment of 
occupational and educational standards (refer to 5.2.6).   Accordingly, the 
development of the blueprint should be undertaken in conjunction with a 
review of scope of practice. Many regulatory colleges also provide practice 
tests for written examination.  This can assist candidates to better prepare for 
the test, particularly internationally educated applicants whose first language 
may not be English.  The CDO should ensure that this information is available 
to candidates well before the examinations are scheduled to provide 
candidates sufficient time to incorporate this information into their study 
plans rather than solely providing it in the Protocols which are revised very 
shortly before the examinations are to take place. The blueprint could also 
include Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ), which may assist in reducing ad-
hoc queries from candidates. We recommend that the CDO engage 
professional consultants to assist with the development of a detailed 
examination blueprint. The CDO should not respond to questions from 
candidates regarding the examination on an ad-hoc basis.  A formal process 
should be established whereby candidates can submit written questions to 
the CDO by a specific date prior to the examination (e.g. up to 1 week 
before).  The questions would be considered by the Qualifying Examination 
Committee who would respond, as appropriate.  The questions and 
responses should be posted to the CDO’s website. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.4.1. • Develop a detailed examination blueprint that identifies the content 
areas covered on both the written and practical examinations. 

Complete 

3.2.4.2. • Outline in the examination blueprint the weighting of the area, the topics, 
levels of competence and learning objectives examined. 

Complete 

3.2.4.3. 
 

• Align the examination blueprint with the CDO’s scope of practice.  Complete 

3.2.4.4. • Conduct a review of the scope of practice for an entry level denturist and 
assessment of occupational and educational standards (refer 5.2.6.). 

Complete 

3.2.4.5. • Conduct the development of the examination blueprint in conjunction 
with the review of the scope of practice to ensure alignment.  

Complete 

3.2.4.6. • Provide practice tests for written examinations to assist candidates to 
better prepare for the test.  

Incomplete 

59



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

11 
 

3.2.4.7. • Provide practice tests for written examinations to assist internationally 
educated applicants whose first language may not be English.  

Incomplete 

3.2.4.8. • Ensure information is available to candidates well before the 
examinations are scheduled to provide candidates with sufficient time to 
incorporate the information into individual study plans. 

Complete 

3.2.4.9. 
 

• Eliminate the practice of revising protocols shortly before the 
examinations are to take place. 

Complete 

3.2.4.10. 
 

• Include Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) in the examination blueprint. 
Note: FAQs will be posted on the new CDO website.  

Revised 
Approach 

3.2.4.11. • Engage a professional consultant to assist with the development of a 
detailed examination blueprint. 

Complete 

3.2.4.12. • Eliminate the practice of responding to candidate examination related 
inquiries on an ad-hoc basis. 

Complete 

3.2.4.13. • Establish a formal process whereby candidates can submit written 
questions to the CDO by a specific date prior to the examination (e.g. up 
to 1 week before).   
Note: The CDO is accessible to answer written or verbal questions prior to 
the examinations. Candidates are also encouraged to ask questions 
during the examination orientation session.  

Revised 
Approach 

3.2.4.14. • Engage the Qualifying Examination Committee to consider the questions 
and respond appropriately.  
Note: The Registrar or College staff respond to questions, eliminating the 
need to involve the Qualifying Examination Committee.   

Revised 
Approach 

3.2.4.15. • Post candidate questions and responses on the CDO website.  
Note: Candidate questions and responses will be summarized and 
included in the FAQs section of the new CDO website.  

Revised 
Approach 

 
3.2.5. Lack of rigour relating to the administration of the practical examination and retention of 
examination materials 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that overall security and maintenance of practical examination materials 
was of great concern, especially as it relates to materials for candidates who had failed the examinations. 
Procedures related to tracking the chain of custody of boxes containing examination materials and 
maintenance of a log to track persons opening the box and when the box was re-sealed appeared to be 
absent. 
 
Issues relating to the rigour of administration that included a lack of comprehensive documentation to 
support changes in Assessor booklets, daily occurrences and approximate times with respect to various 
highlights and inconsistent practices for the marking of consecutive procedures were also noted. 
Additionally, the President attended the examinations and it was suggested that his presence may have 
been intimidating to candidates.    
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of physical security around the candidate’s examination materials increases a risk that they 
could be tampered with (either intentionally or inadvertently).  

• The security of the candidate examination materials is critical, particularly where there is a risk of 
potential inquiry and appeals.  

60



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

12 
 

• The failure to retain the examination materials for both candidates who have passed and failed, but 
have not requested an appeal hinders the ability to conduct benchmarking against examinations which 
may be required to assess appeals.  

• Examination integrity may be compromised if there is poor documentation of corrections made by 
Assessors or the Chief Assessor which fail to include a full and complete description of occurrences and 
irregularities identified during an examination session.  

• Lack of documentation within the Chief Assessor’s report may result in an incomplete consideration of 
the facts of an inquiry and/or appeal.  

• The presence of individuals from Council and Committees at the examination may result in interference 
in the examination process and may lead to bias.  

  
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a new Qualifying Examination process that includes rigorous administrative 
policies that ensure examination protocols for each administration are consistent.   Procedural changes are 
appropriately tracked and documentation is maintained to support revisions.  
 
Prior to each administration of the practical examination, 12 – 14 Assessors are selected from the available 
pool of potential Assessors.  To ensure familiarity with examination protocols and the scenarios being 
assessed, all Assessors attend a one-day training session hosted by the College in advance of the 
examinations. During the session, Assessors are advised that they will be engaged in the assessment of 
candidates for approximately one hundred (100) minutes prior to taking a thirty (30) minute break. 
 
The examinations are held twice yearly.   The examination is hosted by the Chief Assessor (appointed by the 
College), an independent examination consultant, and Examination Coordinator. The President, the 
Registrar, members of Council and other guests are not permitted to be in attendance during the 
administration of the Qualifying Examination.   
 
The College provides the candidates with any materials a candidate may need to take the examination.  
Checklists for materials required for each station of the practical examination are maintained by the 
College.  
 
The assessment consultant conducts a performance analysis of the examination data in consultation with 
the College. A summary report of the performance and the associated analysis are submitted to the 
Qualifying Examination Committee and the Appeals Committee. 
 
In accordance with the College Records Retention policy, a retention schedule for examination materials for 
both successful and unsuccessful candidates has been implemented.  The policy requires that these 
materials are securely stored and maintained for a minimum of 5 years. 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.5. We recommend that the CDO implement security procedures with respect to 
the candidate’s examination material which includes securing the material in 
locked cabinets and using log sheets to track the date and individual who 
opened and re-sealed the box. 
 
We recommend that the College revise its record retention policy to include 
retention of the examination materials of candidates who passed for a 
period of one year.  The College should also ensure that all examination 

 

61



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

13 
 

materials for failed candidates are retained for a period of 5 years in 
accordance with the current Record Retention policy. 
 
We recommend that the College’s training of Assessors reinforce the 
requirements relating to the back to back marking of candidates and the 
need to advise the Chief Assessor of all Assessor Booklet corrections.   The 
Chief Assessor should also reiterate these requirements throughout the 
examination and be alert for back to back marking. 
 
A detailed Chief Assessor’s report should be prepared and consulted during 
the candidate inquiry and appeal process. 
 
Based on discussions with other regulatory colleges we noted that standard 
practice is to only have individuals (such as the Chief Assessor, the Assessors 
and/or invigilator) critical to the administration of the examination in 
attendance.  Members from the Council or Committee or other guests 
should not attend the examinations. 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.5.1. • Implement security procedures with respect to the candidate’s 
examination material that ensure materials are secured in locked 
cabinets and log sheet are used to track the date and individual who 
opened and re-sealed the box.  
Note: The CDO has addressed security concerns related to candidate 
examination materials with the implementation of a new Qualifying 
Examination format.  

Revised 
Approach 

3.2.5.2. • Revise record retention policies to include retention of examination 
materials for successful candidates for a period of one year.  

Complete 

3.2.5.3. • Retain examination materials for unsuccessful candidates for a period of 
five years which is in accordance with the current Record Retention 
policy. 

Complete 

3.2.5.4. • Revise Assessor training to ensure requirements related to the back to 
back marking of candidates are reinforced.  

Complete 

3.2.5.5. • Establish a process that requires the Assessor to advise the Chief 
Assessor of all Assessor booklet corrections.  

Complete 

3.2.5.6. • Ensure the Chief Assessor reiterates Assessor requirements throughout 
the examination and remains on alert for back to back marking.  
Note: The CDO has addressed concerns related to back to back marking 
with the implementation of a new Qualifying Examination format.   

Revised 
Approach 

3.2.5.7. • Prepare a detailed Chief Assessor’s report that is consulted during the 
candidate inquiry and appeal process.  

Complete 

3.2.5.8. • Implement a standard practice that ensures only individuals (e.g. Chief 
Assessor, the Assessors and/or invigilator) critical to the administration 
of the examination are in attendance.  

Complete 

3.2.5.9. • Ensure members of Council or Committee or other guests are not in 
attendance at the examinations. 

Complete 

62



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

14 
 

 
3.2.6. Lack of rigour relating to the summer 2011 written examination  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Candidate feedback regarding the 2011 written examinations suggested that the examination was full of 
grammatical, spelling, and rationale errors making it difficult to ascertain what question was being asked 
and to select the associated correct multiple-choice answer.  
 
A lack of rigour regarding the safeguarding of the examination questions was noted. Numerous concerns 
related to the “Exam Professor” software were highlighted: the ability to make undocumented changes to 
examination questions on real-time basis and weak logon ids and passwords required to sign into the 
software.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of an audit trail of revision to questions in “Exam Professor” software increases the risk that 
unauthorized changes could be made to the questions while the examination was in progress thereby 
undermining the overall integrity of the examination process.  

 
Current Status  
Recognizing significant challenges with the “Exam Professor” software, the College decided to return to a 
paper-based examination. The decision to dissolve use of electronic software eliminated the need to assign 
candidates with usernames and passwords.  
 
All items that appear on an examination undergo several stages of review after the initial development 
stage has been completed by the working groups. Prior to being added to the item bank, each examination 
question is carefully reviewed by members of additional working groups, the Qualifying Examination 
Committee, the Chief Assessor and the Qualifying Examination Coordinator to ensure validity, reliability, 
and to address any spelling, grammatical or logic errors that may impact the candidate’s  ability to 
successfully complete the examination.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.6. To the extent that an independent IT specialist can confirm that the 
candidates’ graded examinations stored in Exam Professor represents 
unaltered first attempts, we recommend the following:                                                                                                                                                                
 
The examination be reviewed by experts in denturism and experts in 
psychometric standards to assess the impact of any spelling, grammatical or 
logic errors on the candidate’s ability to successfully complete the 
examination.   This review could be undertaken regarding the overall validity 
and reliability review of the written question databank recommended in 
3.2.3.                                                                                                                                                                                
We understand that Exam Professor includes functionality to convert the 
graded examinations to Excel.  We recommend that the CDO convert the 
graded examinations to Excel spreadsheets to facilitate an electronic 
comparison of the questions by candidate to ensure that all candidates 
received the exact same question. 
 

 

63



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

15 
 

We also recommend that for future written examinations, the examination 
software should include functionality to allow candidates to change their 
password upon the first login and entry of the new password to access and 
complete the examination. 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.6.1 • Review of examinations by experts in denturism and experts in 
psychometric standards to assess the impact of any spelling, 
grammatical or logic errors on the candidate’s ability to successfully 
complete the examination.  

Complete 

3.2.6.2. • Undertake the review regarding the overall validity and reliability review 
of the written question databank recommended in 3.2.3. 

Complete 

3.2.6.3. • Convert graded examinations to Excel spreadsheets in order to facilitate 
an electronic comparison of the questions by the candidate to ensure 
that all candidates receive the exact same question. 

Complete 

3.2.6.4. • Ensure examination software includes functionality to allow candidates 
to change their password upon the first login and entry of the new 
password to access and complete the examination.  
Note: The CDO has eliminated the use of examination software and 
reverted to offering paper-based examinations.  

Eliminated 

3.2.7 Lack of information provided to failed candidates 

 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that failed candidates were not provided with additional information on 
areas of weakness; a practice that is inconsistent with practices of other regulatory colleges. Candidates 
were provided with an opportunity to access their examination material through the inquiry process 
however this was limited to the practical examination.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of information provided to failed candidates related to their areas of weakness increases the 
risk that these candidates will continue to have difficulty given that they do not understand the areas 
where they need to improve.  

• The practice of providing minimal information may increase the risk of a larger volume of inquiries and 
appeals as the failed candidates attempt to obtain information about why they failed. 

 
Current Status  

Within 6 weeks of the examination, candidates receive official pass/fail results by mail. Results are also 
posted in their candidate profile available through the College website. Candidates have 20 business days 
to request an appeal.  Once the appeal period has expired, all candidates receive a breakdown of their own 
scores and the cut scores.  This information is available to the candidate and is posted to individual 
registrant profiles.  
 
Unsuccessful candidates receive a breakdown of their results outlining each area of weakness. In an effort 
to support preparations for the next examination attempt, candidates are encouraged to compare 
individual examination results to the competencies and weighting identified in the Examination Blueprint.  
 
The introduction of clear policies and processes that support candidates who have failed the examinations 
has significantly reduced the number of inquiries and appeals received by the College.  

64



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

16 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.7. The CDO provide information to failed candidates regarding their areas of 
weakness along with the final information grade.  There are alternative 
approaches for providing this information.  The CDO should engage a 
professional with experience in examination development and blueprints to 
assist with the development of reports of weaknesses to be provided to 
failed candidates. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.7.1. • Identify an approach to provide information to failed candidates 
regarding their areas of weakness along with the final grade information.  

Complete 

3.2.7.2. • Engage a professional with experience in examination development and 
blueprints to assist with the development of reports of weaknesses to be 
provided to failed candidates.  

Complete 

 
3.2.8. Lack of analysis of examination results 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College’s Fair Registration Practices Report noted the 
introduction of a new statistical analysis of Assessor marking patterns to verify the objectivity of the 
Assessors.  In some cases, the reported College assessment of objectivity was markedly different than the 
objectivity scores calculated by PwC during the audit process.   A lack of analysis of examination results was 
noted and raised concerns related to Assessor bias.   
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The absence of a documented analysis leaves an evaluation of the objectivity of inter-Assessor 
agreement unknown suggesting that the risk of Assessor bias could be greater than anticipated.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has conducted a statistical analysis of prior Assessor marking protocols which has resulted in 
practices being revised to ensure Assessor bias toward a candidate is eliminated.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

3.2.8. The CDO complete the statistical analysis of Assessor marking for Project D 
for the Summer 2010 Practical Examination. We understand that 
examination booklets for candidates who passed have not been retained 
therefore the analysis cannot be completed for these students.                                                                                                                       
 
The analysis should also compare Assessor marking by question by candidate 
to identify Assessor bias toward particular candidates.                                                                                                               
The current the analysis for Projects A, B and C consists only of a comparison 
of Assessor marking by question. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

3.2.8.1. • Complete the statistical analysis of Assessor marking for Project D for the 
Summer 2010 Practical Examination 

Complete 

65



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

17 
 

3.2.8.2. • Compare Assessor marking by question by candidate to identify Assessor 
bias toward particular candidates, eliminating the process of only 
conducting a comparison of Assessor marking by question.  

Complete 

 

  

66



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

18 
 

4. Qualifying Examination Inquiries and Appeals 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) highlighted deficiencies in 
the College’s processes and practices for inquiries and appeals that suggested that these processes may not 
have been administered in a fair, impartial and consistent manner.  
 

4.2.1. Changes to examination inquiries and appeals policies result in reduced transparency and 
fairness.  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) highlighted several changes to the College’s policies regarding Qualifying 
Examination inquiries and appeals over many years.  These changes have resulted in a shortening of the 
period in which a candidate can make an inquiry or appeal, increased costs for inquiries and appeals and 
other procedures that appear to reduce transparency and fairness of the inquiry and appeal process.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The changes made to the inquiry and appeals policy in 2010 and 2011 are increasingly restrictive and 
result in an overall reduction in the transparency and fairness of the inquiry and appeal process.  

• The lack of clarity on how inquiry decisions are communicated could result in a poor process being 
followed, impairing the decision being made and undermining the fairness of the process.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has revised the inquiry and appeal process to ensure transparency and fairness for all candidates.  
Currently, the Qualifying Examination Appeals Committee operates within specific guidelines, ensuring that 
the appeal period of 15 business days plus 5 days for mailing is clearly defined, communicated, and upheld.  
This timeline is consistent with best practices. 
 
Steps are taken to ensure all content-based inquiries are addressed by the assessment consultant prior to 
the release of final candidate scores.  Appeals related to procedural irregularities, sickness or personal 
emergency are reviewed by the Qualifying Examination Appeals Committee. Candidates are provided with 
the Committee’s decision and reasons in writing within 60 business days from the date of receipt. Costs 
associated with the appeal process are not incurred by the candidate.   
 
The College’s decision to implement a new Qualifying Examination format has eliminated the need to 
provide candidates with an opportunity to review practical examination results. Candidates are advised in 
advance of the examination that access to information that would undermine the integrity and security of 
the examination content and process that is not publicly available, will not be provided. Unsuccessful 
candidates are provided with a performance report outlining identified deficiencies in particular practice 
areas.    
 
As a result, the changes implemented in the appeal process, the number of appeals related to conflicts of 
interest have decreased significantly.  This may be a result of the requirement for both Assessors and 
candidates to declare a conflict, perceived or unperceived, prior to the beginning of the examination or as 
soon as it becomes apparent.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.1. The CDO should revert to the inquiry and appeal time periods that were in 
place in 2009 including the requirement for the Registrar to provide a written 
inquiry decision.   Since it may be difficult to determine when the decision by 

 

67



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

19 
 

the candidate was received, tying the time period to date of mailing is 
acceptable (i.e. 35 days within mailing).  We also recommend that the CDO 
provide candidates with one hour to review the Practical Examination results 
and discuss the results with the Registrar.  The candidates should also be 
provided with the marking sheet and photographs. 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.1.1. • Revert to the inquiry and appeal time periods that were in place in 2009. 
Note: The CDO has revised the inquiry and appeal time periods to 
provide fifteen (15) business days plus five (5) days for mailing.   

 Revised 
Approach 

4.2.1.2. • Ensure the candidate is provided with a written inquiry decision.  
 

Complete 

4.2.1.3. • Tie the time period to date of mailing (i.e. 35 days within mailing). 
 

Complete 

4.2.1.4. • Provide candidate with one hour to review the Practical Examination 
results, including the marking sheet and photographs. 
Note: The CDO has implemented a new Qualifying Examination format 
that is no longer technical in nature, eliminating the need to provide 
candidates with an opportunity to review practical examination results.  

Revised 
Approach 

4.2.1.5. • Provide the candidate with an opportunity to discuss the results with the 
Registrar. 
Note: Candidates may discuss examination results with the Qualifying 
Examination Coordinator. Candidates may be referred to the appeal 
process if continuing concerns are expressed.   

Revised 
Approach 

 
4.2.2. Lack of adequate documentation retained regarding the inquiry process 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The OAR Report (2012) indicated that a review of the inquiry process suggested a lack of adequate retained 
documentation to support the Registrar’s discussions with candidates, explanation of the reasons for 
decisions or responses to inquiry outcomes either verbally or in writing.   
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The absence of documentary evidence supporting all aspects of the inquiry process makes it very 
difficult, if not impossible, to assess the objectivity and fairness of any inquiry decision.  

• The CDO’s failure to provide formal letters to candidates regarding the Registrar’s decision may be 
confusing, especially as it relates to the deadline for submitting a request for appeal. This lack of clarity 
impairs the fairness and transparency of the inquiry and appeals process.  
 

Current Status 
To ensure transparency and fairness, administrative protocols have been introduced that require retention 
of all inquiry requests. Additionally, steps have been taken to ensure that responses are properly 
documented and contain documentation that supports the final decision. The introduction of consistently 
applied protocols has contributed to a noticeable decline in candidate inquiries and appeals.  Currently, the 
majority of inquiries are satisfied by a College response to concerns regarding examination content.  
   
 

68



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

20 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.2. The Registrar should maintain a record of all inquiry requests. 
 
The Registrar should document and retain supporting documentation 
evidencing the basis of the inquiry decision. 
 
The Registrar should issue a written communication on a timely basis to 
candidates relating to the inquiry decision, including the basis for arriving at 
the decision. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.2.1. • Maintain a record of all inquiry requests. 
 

Complete 

4.2.2.2. • Document and retain supporting documentation evidencing the basis of 
the inquiry decision. 

Complete 

4.2.2.3. • Issue written communication on a timely basis to candidates relating to 
the inquiry decision, including the basis for arriving at the decision.  

Complete 

 

4.2.3. Delayed communications with candidates regarding the receipt of appeals requests 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College did not provide timely feedback to candidates regarding 
their examinations appeals. Although a requirement noted in the 2010 Qualifying Examination Appeals 
Policy, the College did not consistently provide written confirmation of the receipt of appeals.  
 
Additionally, it was noted that the Executive Committee consistently exceeded the 5 week timeframe, 
taking between 8 and10 weeks, in most cases, to decide if an appeal should be denied or forwarded for 
confirmation by an Appeals Panel, based on the probability of meeting 1 of 4 criteria including; ill health, 
extreme distress, procedural or administrative problems with the examination or other extenuating 
circumstances that could reasonably be considered to have impacted negatively on the candidate’s 
performance.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The Executive Committee taking longer than 5 weeks to consider whether to deny an appeal is a 
violation of the 2010 Qualifying Examination Appeal policy, and could result in a perceived lack of 
fairness relating to the appeals process due to candidates not knowing if they should prepare to write 
the next set of examinations. 
 

Current Status  
The College has adopted and maintained the criteria for accepting or denying appeals as outlined in the 
Qualifying Examination Appeals policy (2012) and consistently abides by the requirement to provide written 
confirmation of receipt within 15 business days of receipt.  Following a formal review of the inquiry or 
appeal, the candidate is also provided with a written response by mail within 60 business days, which 
details the basis for the decision and the outcome, as determined by the Qualifying Examination Appeals 
Committee and the Registrar.  
 
 

69



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

21 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.3. The CDO should acknowledge the receipt of all appeal requests in writing by 
issuing a letter to the candidate within a reasonable timeframe, at a 
minimum within 14 days, stating that the appeal was received.  
 
The CDO Executive Committee should be reminded of the importance of 
adhering to the time frame reflected in the Qualifying Examinations Appeals 
policy in order to expedite the review of appeals and adhere to the 5-week 
time limitation for future examination appeal requests. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.3.1. • Acknowledge the receipt of all appeal requests in writing by issuing a 
letter to the candidate within a reasonable timeframe, at a minimum 
within 14 days, stating that the appeal was received. 
Note: The CDO has introduced a process which ensures appeal requests 
are acknowledged in writing within fifteen days (15) of receipt; a 
timeframe that is consistent with established responses times within the 
organization.  

Revised 
Approach 

4.2.3.2. • Ensure the CDO Executive Committee understands the importance of 
adhering to the timeframe reflected in the Qualifying Examination 
Appeals policy in order to expedite the review of appeals and adhere to 
the 5-week time limitation for future examination appeal requests. 
Note: The CDO has assigned responsibilities associated with the 
consideration of candidate inquiries and appeals to the Qualifying 
Examination Appeals Committee. Decisions of the Committee are 
provided to the candidate in writing within sixty (60) days of receipt.   

Revised 
Approach 

 

4.2.4. Lack of documentation supporting Executive Committee appeals decisions 
  
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College did not retain records associated with any of the 
decisions to grant or deny appeals. Appointments of the Appeals Panel were not recorded in the meeting 
minutes or any other written documentation. Discussions with Executive Committee members suggested 
that the selection of Appeals Panel members was an informal process that resulted in the participation of 
those who were available or interested.  
 
Of the three (3) appeal requests that were reviewed by the PwC audit team it was noted that none were 
formally referred to the Appeals Panel. Decisions made by the Executive Committee appeared to be 
inconsistent and provided limited rationale for denying appeals which most often were based on a failure 
to meet specified timelines and marking irregularities.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of documentary evidence concerning appeals requests increases the risk that the fairness, 
consistency and transparency of decisions made by the Executive Committee may be difficult, if not 
impossible, to validate.  

• The lack of retention of written appeal submissions results in an inability to demonstrate the 
appropriateness of the Executive Committee decision considering the candidate’s grounds for appeal.  

70



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

22 
 

 
Current Status 
The College has formalized protocols for appeal decisions resulting in all candidate appeals being 
considered by an Appeals Panel comprised of two (2) Council members and one (1) non-Council member. 
Decisions are formally recorded and retained with supporting documentation as evidence to deny or accept 
appeals.  
 
For ease of reference, names of the Appeals Panel members, whose appointments are approved by Council, 
are posted on the College website. Involvement of the Executive Committee in the appeals process has 
been eliminated, resulting in final decisions being determined by the Appeals Panel. Depending upon the 
circumstances being considered, the Registrar may decide to adjust the fee charged to the candidate for 
the next examination attempt.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.4. The CDO Executive Committee should retain sufficient documentary record 
to support all decisions relating to the denial/allowance of appeal requests; 
retain sufficient documentation records to support the selection of Appeals 
Panel members, and include the names of Appeals Panel members as well 
as the rational for granting / denying appeals in the Executive Committee 
meeting minutes.                                                                                                                                            

  

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.4.1. • Retain sufficient documentary records to support all decisions relating 
to the denial/allowance of appeal requests. 

Complete 

4.2.4.2. • Retain sufficient documentary records to support the selection of 
Appeals Panel members. 

Complete 

4.2.4.3. • Include the names of Appeals Panel members as well as the rationale for 
granting / denying appeals in Executive Committee meeting minutes. 
Note: Decisions made by the Appeals Panel are reflected in a record of 
proceedings which identifies the adjudication that has been determined. 
The Committee report which is shared with Council includes the total 
number of appeals and outcomes of each.  

Revised 
Approach  

 

4.2.5. Inadequate practices relating to conflicts of interest 
 
Observation Description (2012) 

The ORA Report (2012) indicated that while the CDO Code of Ethics (Appendix to the CDO By-laws) sets out 
specific requirements regarding conflicts of interest, current practices appeared to be insufficient, 
especially after considering conflict of interest concerns raised by the candidate in the 2010 appeals 
process. It was noted that a general conflict of interest policy was not signed by each Council and 
Committee member. In addition, clear boundaries were not being adhered to which specified that Appeals 
Panel members could not also be College Assessors or members of other Committees.  
 
Additionally, the Executive Committee and Appeals Panel members were not required to sign a conflict of 
interest declaration regarding their relationship with the candidate or the appeal request being reviewed. 
In many situations accusations of conflict of interest were generally not substantiated by facts or 
considered to be part of the appeals process. Further, guidance documents outlining how to address 
conflict of interest claims were not provided.  

71



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

23 
 

 
Risk Description (2012)  

• Failure of the CDO to comply with its own policy on the composition of the Appeals Panel results in a 
lack of independence in the appeals process and increases the risk of potential bias in assessing 
appeals.  

• Processes that do not require Committee and Appeal Panel members to disclose or provide positive 
confirmation that there are no conflicts of interest risk the appeals process being biased due to conflicts 
of interest not being identified in a timely manner.  

• A lack of protocol for Appeals Panel members to follow when considering alleged conflicts of interest 
and lack of independence increases the risk that the approach may not be fair and consistent for each 
appeal. 
 

Current Status  
The College has established policies and processes that clearly define the respective roles of Committee 
members and Appeals Panel members and stipulate that an individual cannot participate in more than one 
capacity. Protocols have been implemented that require Council members, Committee members, and 
Appeals Panel members to provide written confirmation regarding possible conflicts of interest.  
 
Additionally, a new Qualifying Examination format has been introduced that does not permit candidates to 
appeal based on conflicts of interest but requires conflicts be declared prior to the examination 
commencing or as soon as it becomes apparent that a conflict may exist. This approach also eliminates the 
need for Appeals Panel members to collaborate with the Assessors to obtain additional information.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.5. The CDO should establish a process whereby Executive Committee and 
Appeals Panel members provide positive written confirmation regarding 
possible conflicts of interest relating to all candidates who appeal their 
examination marks.   
 
The CDO should expand its Conflict of Interest polices and confirmations to 
include discussion of the following types of conflict of interest; situation or 
circumstances that could improperly influence the person’s objective, 
unbiased and impartial exercise of his or her independent judgement, or 
could be perceived as doing so; or situation or circumstances that could 
compromise, impair or be incompatible with the person’s effective 
performance of his or her contractual obligations, or be perceived as doing 
so.    
                                                                                                                                             
The CDO should develop a protocol for Appeals Panel members to follow 
should students make appeals based on conflicts of interest including 
independence allegations. 
 
The Executive Committee should exclude Assessors from meetings where 
decisions are made on appeals. The Appeals Panel can consult with Assessors 
to obtain further facts, but the Assessors should not be part of the 
deliberation. Appeals Panel selection should exclude Examination Committee 
members. 

 

72



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

24 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.5.1. • Establish a process whereby Executive Committee and Appeals Panel 
members provide positive written confirmation regarding possible 
conflicts of interest relating to all candidates who appeal their 
examination marks.  

Complete 

4.2.5.2. • Expand Conflict of Interest polices and confirmations to include 
discussion of the following types of conflict of interest: situation or 
circumstances that could improperly influence the person’s objective, 
unbiased and impartial exercise of his or her independent judgment, or 
could be perceived as doing so, or situation or circumstance that could 
compromise, impair or be incompatible with the person’s effective 
performance of his or her contractual obligations, or be perceived as 
doing so.     
Note: The CDO provides all representatives of the College with a copy of 
the Letter of Understanding: Conflict of Interest for Council and 
Committee Members, a laminated document containing the CDO mission 
statement, the mandate of the College, and the organization’s objectives. 
Each College representative is required to sign a Confidentiality 
Agreement and Letter of Understanding that is retained in accordance 
with the Record Retention policy.  

Revised 
Approach 

4.2.5.3. • Develop a protocol for Appeals Panel members to follow should students 
make appeals based on conflicts of interest including independence 
allegations.  
Note: The new Qualifying Examination format does not allow for appeals 
based on conflicts of interest. Instead, candidates and/or Assessors are 
required to declare a conflict prior to the examination commencing or as 
soon as it becomes apparent that a conflict may exist.  

Revised 
Approach 

4.2.5.4. • Exclude Assessors from meetings where decisions are made on appeals. 
 

Complete 

4.2.5.5. • Establish a policy or process that allows the Appeals Panel to consult with 
Assessor to obtain further facts without involving the Assessor in 
deliberations.  
Note: The new Qualifying Examination format is standardized, 
eliminating the need for the Appeals Panel to consult with the Assessors 
to obtain further facts.   

Eliminated 

4.2.5.6. • Ensure the Appeals Panel does not include members of the Examination 
Committee. 

Complete 

 

4.2.6. Inadequate documentation relating to the Appeals Panel decision 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the Appeals Panel did not retain adequate documentation outlining 
discussions among panel members, the decision-making process, or the appeal decision(s). Information 
provided in candidate letters was general and did not provide specifics as to who made the decision 
regarding the appeal even though the letter was signed by the Registrar.  
Additionally, it was noted that the Appeals Panel included a public member who was not a denturist. This 
raised questions concerning the validity of assessment of the examination results by an individual with 
limited technical knowledge and no experience in denturism.  

73



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

25 
 

 
Risk Description (2012)  

• Written documentation that does not provide evidence for the basis of appeals decisions and the 
identity of the adjudicator of the appeals results in a lack of transparency which may make it difficult to 
demonstrate that decisions are fair, consistent and objective. 
 

Current Status  
The College has introduced processes that require the preparation and retention of written documentation 
to support the basis of appeal decisions. Pursuant to Article 23.02 of the College By-laws, the Appeals Panel 
is composed of two (2) professional members and one (1) public member. The names of all Appeal Panel 
members are posted on the College website. While knowledge and experience in denturism may prove to 
be beneficial in the consideration of appeals, the Qualifying Examination is heavily focused on 
communication and the provision of safe, competent and ethical patient care for which detailed technical 
knowledge of the practice of denturism is not required.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

4.2.6. The Appeals Panel should retain written documentation to support the basis 
of its appeals decisions.  To ensure transparency of the appeals process, 
candidates should be provided with the names of the individuals forming the 
Executive Committee and Appeals Panel that adjudicated their appeal. 
 
The Appeals Panel should be comprised of individuals with significant 
knowledge and experience in denturism to ensure that the results of the 
examination are reviewed by qualified individuals. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

4.2.6.1. • Ensure the Appeals Panel retains written documentation to support the 
basis of its appeals decisions.   

Complete 

4.2.6.2. • Provide candidates with the names of individuals forming the Executive 
Committee and Appeals Panel that adjudicated their appeal.  
Note: The names of Appeals Panel members are posted on the CDO 
website. The appeals process does not involve input from the Executive 
Committee.  

Revised 
Approach 

4.2.6.3. • Ensure the Appeals Panel is comprised of individuals with significant 
knowledge and experience in denturism.  

Complete 

4.2.6.4. • Ensure results of the examination are reviewed by qualified individuals. 
 

Complete 

 
 

 

 

74



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

26 
 

5. Registrations  
A number of deficiencies were identified in the Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of 
Ontario (2012) that suggested that the College’s current registration process may not have treated 
applicants in a fair, impartial, transparent and objective manner.  
 

5.2.1. Lack of tracking of applicant requests 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that the College was not maintaining a centralized record of applicant or 
candidate requests, the date of receipt and whether the matter had been referred to the Registration 
Committee. Auditors were advised that applicant or candidate requests were first reviewed for 
completeness by College staff and then referred to the Registrar. From there it appeared that if the 
Registrar proposed to refuse a new application, the matter was referred to the Registration Committee. 
Initially, it was suggested that requests for third attempts at the Qualifying Examination were handled 
directly by the Registrar and none of the requests received since April 2010 had been denied. Further 
investigation of a specific file unveiled a different scenario that indicated that a number of deferral requests 
from candidates had, in fact, been denied by the Registrar.      
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Poor documentation of registration processes resulted in a lack of transparency around the handling of 
applications and requests that are reviewed and assessed directly by the Registrar.  

• The lack of formalized tracking may result in files not being assessed or reviewed in a timely manner or 
at all.  
 

Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a formalized process that tracks all application requests for registration and 
academic assessments. Individual details including contact information and qualifications for the Qualifying 
Examination or Academic Equivalence Requirement are entered into a database during the ‘candidate’ 
stage.  
 
As the individual progresses throughout the process and successfully completes the Qualifying Examination, 
the status is changed from ‘candidate’ to ‘applicant’. Now, information regarding citizenship, language 
proficiency and good character are received and entered into the database. Once the application for 
registration has been approved, either by the Registrar or the Registration Committee, the applicant’s 
status is changed to ‘active member.’  
 
To improve reporting mechanisms within the database, the “Referral to Registration Committee” relation 
was added to track files that are referred to the Registration Committee.  This relation captures the reason 
for the referral, communications, and the Committee decision.  The College has added the category 
‘potential candidate’ to track international and out of province candidates. 
 
Applications and requests for registration received at the ‘candidate’ and ‘applicant’ level are processed by 
College staff. Member applications are reviewed and approved by the Registrar or, as deemed necessary, 
the Registration Committee.  
 
Using an academic equivalency assessment, the Registration Committee determines whether a potential 
candidate is eligible to attempt the Qualifying Examination.  The potential candidate’s education is 
reviewed against the Schedule of Courses in the Registration Regulation to determine if the program is 
equivalent to a denturism diploma offered by George Brown College.  

75



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

27 
 

 
The Registration Committee is also tasked with considering applications for Certificates of Registration that 
are referred to the Committee by the Registrar pursuant to Section 15 (2) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code. To support the decision-making process, a framework that outlines the requirement for 
the Committee to consider the nature of conduct, the suitability to practise, and as required, remediation 
steps to address identified issues is currently being developed.  
 
A decisions and reasons template that ensures delivery of consistent messaging is used to disseminate 
information to a potential candidate or applicant. Applicants are advised that all decisions are appealable to 
the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB). Potential candidates are notified that the College 
will accept applications for re-assessment with additional supporting documentation.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.1 The Registration, Quality Assurance & Examination Coordinator should 
maintain a formal centralized tracking log of all applications and other 
registration related requests.   The log should identify the date the 
application was received, the CDO staff member currently reviewing or 
whether the matter is being forwarded to the Registration Committee, the 
decision-maker and confirmation of the date the decision letter was provided 
to the applicant. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.1.1. • Ensure maintenance of a formal centralized tracking log of all 
applications and other registration related requests which includes the 
date the application was received, the CDO staff member currently 
reviewing the matter, referrals to the Registration Committee, the 
decision maker on the matter and confirmation of the date the decision 
letter was provided to the applicant. 

Complete 

 
5.2.2 Changes to the process to request 3rd attempts that may result in potential administrative 
burden and hardship to candidates 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
A change in the protocol for handling the requests for third attempts of the Qualifying Examination was 
approved by the Qualifying Examination Committee in the months prior to the Operational Audit and 
Review. This change was intended to provide the candidate with the ability to appeal to the Registration 
Committee when an appeal decision was denied by the Registrar. Previously, appeals for third attempts 
were handled directly by the Registration Committee. The implemented change raised the concern that the 
creation of an additional step may result in an administrative burden and, more importantly, the potential 
of an additional hardship for the candidate.  
 
It was also noted that, in some cases, the revised approach was applied retroactively. In other instances, 
changes to the process were not communicated to candidates and decisions lacked supporting 
documentation, resulting in a decrease in transparency of the process.  
 
 
 
 

76



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

28 
 

Risk Description (2012) 

• The revised process resulted in further obstacles for candidates in their attempts at the examination 
and may discourage potentially qualified candidates from pursuing professional certification as a 
denturist.  

• Retroactive application of the revised process resulted in a lack of procedural fairness and transparency 
given that applicants were subject to a review of a different process that was initially communicated or 
in effect at the time the request was submitted and/or received.  

• The revised process lacked transparency given that changes to the process being followed by the CDO 
were not communicated to candidates.  

• The lack of documentation provided to candidates to support the basis for decisions made, whether the 
decision was approved or denied, proved difficult to demonstrate the fairness and objectivity of the 
decision if later questioned.   

• The revised process may have been put into practice prior to receiving approval from the Qualifying 
Examination Committee.  

 
Current Status  
In 2015 a draft revision of the Registration Regulation was submitted to the Ministry of Health and Long 
Term Care for consideration.  This revised Registration Regulation contained language that specified a 
maximum number of attempts of the Qualifying Examination.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.2 The College should consider reverting back to the original process of having 
3rd attempts reviewed by the Registration Committee to ensure that 
potentially qualified candidates are not subject to an additional 
administrative burden and hardship by first being reviewed by the Registrar 
and then, if denied, having to make an appeal to the Registration Committee.                                                                                                     
 
Revisions in processes should not be applied on a retroactive basis.                                                                                                                            
 
Applicants should be provided with notices advising of any decision made by 
the Registrar to ensure transparency and the basis of all decisions including 
approvals and denials should be supported by documentary evidence.                                                                                                                                                                                        
 
Requests for 3rd attempts should be reviewed and assessed within 30 days of 
receipt of the request. 
 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.2.1. • Establish original process of having third attempts reviewed by the 
Registration Committee to ensure that potentially qualified candidates 
are not subject to an additional administrative burden and hardship by 
first being reviewed by the Registrar and then, if denied, having to make 
an appeal to the Registration Committee.  
Note: The CDO has introduced a process which complies with 
requirements set out in the proposed regulation and serves to ensure 
qualified candidates are not subject to an additional administrative 
burden and hardship.   

Revised 
Approach 

77



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

29 
 

5.2.2.2. • Ensure revisions in process are not applied on a retroactive basis.  
 

Complete 

5.2.2.3. • Provide applicants with notices advising of any decisions made by the 
Registrar, including the basis for approvals and denials, all of which are 
supported by documentary evidence.  

Complete 

5.2.2.4. • Ensure requests for third attempts are assessed within 30 days of receipt 
of the request.  

Complete 

 
5.2.3. Changes to the process for examination deferral requests may result in hardship to 
candidates 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that many changes to the Examination Protocol implemented since 2009 
could result in hardship to candidates because of having to take the examination at the next available 
session or request a deferral.  
 
Changes that required second examination attempts to be taken at the first available examination session 
had been incrementally introduced. These changes were further expanded to include the expiration of an 
application for certification unless a deferral had been granted by the Registrar.  
 
 Additional revised protocols required all three examination attempts must be taken consecutively.  
 
In some cases, denial of a request for deferral received from a candidate provided no reasoning for denial. 
A decision was challenged by one candidate claiming that the protocol set out in the Qualifying Examination 
and Appeal policy was not being followed in each of the candidate’s appeals and examinations.  This 
candidate requested a deferral for the second attempt.  Granting this deferral would have provided the 
College with the time required to resolve the matter.  However, the deferral request was denied by the 
Registrar because the request was not practical and there were no valid reasons for the deferral, despite 
there being no published guidance that articulated “valid” reasons for a deferral.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Deficiencies in written reasons for the denial of a deferral in notices and published guidance to outline 
“valid” reasons for a deferral results in a lack of transparency around the decision-making process and 
increases the risk that the CDO could not defend the fairness, objectivity and impartiality of its 
decisions.  

• Results of prior registration and candidate appeal requests were also a concern when considering the 
fairness, objectivity and impartiality of decisions made on behalf of the CDO.   

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a new Qualifying Examination format which does not require candidates who have 
been unsuccessful in an examination attempt to apply for a deferral, eliminating the need for the Registrar, 
the Registration Committee or the Qualifying Examination Committee to assess deferral requests.  
 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.3. We recommend that the Registrar include specific written reasons in the 
notice to the candidates regarding the basis of the denial of the deferral.  The 
written reasons should provide sufficient detail regarding the basis on which 

 

78



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

30 
 

the deferral is not valid.  Formal published guidance should be developed to 
assist candidates in understanding in what circumstances a deferral would be 
approved as well as to provide standard criteria against which the Registrar 
would assess deferrals. 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.3.1. • Include specific written reasons in the notice to the candidates regarding 
the basis of the denial of the deferral. 
Note: The current College processes do not require candidates to apply 
for a deferral.   

Revised 
Approach 

5.2.3.2. • Ensure written reasons provide sufficient detail regarding the basis on 
which the deferral is not valid. 
Note: The current College processes do not require candidates to apply 
for a deferral. 

Revised  
Approach 

5.2.3.3. • Develop formal published guidance to assist candidates with 
understanding in what circumstances a deferral would be approved. 
Note: The current College processes do not require candidates to apply 
for a deferral. 

Revised 
Approach  

5.2.3.4. • Develop formal publish guidance to provide standard criteria against 
which the Registrar would assess deferrals.  
Note: The current College processes do not require candidates to apply 
for a deferral. Therefore, there is no requirement for deferrals to be 
assessed by the Registrar.  

Revised 
Approach 

 
5.2.4. Lack of written reasons and supporting documentation for Registration Committee 
decisions 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Results in the ORA Report (2012) indicated that the Registration Committee meeting minutes and notices 
provided to applicants lacked written reasons for decisions. It was also noted that, in general, no other 
documentation in the files indicated which specific documents (e.g. application, written submission by the 
applicant) or facts the Registration Committee considered when arriving at its decisions.  There was no 
communication or documentation of how an applicant failed to meet the registration requirements.  
 
In addition, even though the CDO’s Record Retention policy required the minutes of the Registration 
Committee, including the agenda and materials considered by the Committee, be retained in a locked 
cabinet, the only record of information provided to the Registration Committee were emails from the 
Registration, Quality Assurance & Examination Coordinator to coordinate meetings. Entire registration files 
were presented at Committee meetings.  
 
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of written reasons in the minutes and notices results in a lack of transparency around the 
decision-making process and increases the risk that the CDO cannot demonstrate the fairness and 
objectivity of the decisions.  

• The retention of incomplete files which fail to include a record of materials considered do not support 
the activities and decisions of the Registration Committee.  

 
 

79



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

31 
 

Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a process that ensures the Registration Committee receives a package of 
information pertaining to each applicant or potential candidate for review prior to the Committee meeting. 
Discussion points are recorded during the Registration Committee meeting. Decisions and reasons are 
drafted following the meeting using a framework developed by legal counsel. Information is shared with 
Committee members for review and comment prior to being sent to the applicant or potential candidate.  
 
Approved policies relating to referrals, good character, and educational equivalency assessments have also 
been posted to the CDO website, further supporting decisions made by the Registration Committee. 
Physical files are stored in locked cabinets and electronic files are saved on the organization’s secure server.  
 
The CDO’s Record Retention policy and document management strategy are currently under review. It is 
expected that a revised process will be implemented in 2017 to address the retention of historical and 
current documentation.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.4. We recommend that the Registration Committee include specific written 
reasons in the Registration Committee meeting minutes and notice to the 
applicant.  The written reasons should provide sufficient detail regarding the 
basis on which the requirements have not been met include the 
identification of any criteria that the applicant did not meet. 
 
We also recommend that additional documentation relating to the 
consideration of the file be maintained which includes evidence of the 
documents reviewed by the Registration Committee and the facts that were 
considered including any analysis or recommendations from CDO staff. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.4.1. • Include specific written reasons in the Registration Committee meeting 
minutes which include the requirements that have not been met and the 
identification of any criteria that the applicant did not meet.  

Complete 

5.2.4.2 • Include specific written reasons in the notice to the applicant which 
include the requirements that have not been met and the identification 
of any criteria that the applicant did not meet.  

Complete 

5.2.4.3. • Maintain documentation relating to the consideration of the file which 
includes evidence of the documents reviewed by the Registration 
Committee and the facts that were considered and any analysis or 
recommendations from CDO staff.  

Complete 

 

5.2.5. Lack of or unclear notice of referral to registration committee 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that notices of referral to the Registration Committee were unclear and 
not in compliance with section 15 of the Health Professions Procedural Code. In some instances, 
information provided within a letter was contradicted, suggesting that a decision had been made by the 
Registrar; however, the matter was being referred to the Registration Committee. The basis of the 
Registrar’s decision and the grounds for the decision were not clearly specified and therefore confusing.  
 

80



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

32 
 

Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide applicants with written notices of referrals to the Registration Committee which 
outlines their right to make a submission results in a lack of fairness to the candidate as they are unable 
to present their case.  

• Non-compliance with the Health Professions Procedural Code results in a lack of procedural fairness.  

• Confusion and lack of clarity in notices to applicants increases the risk that applicants may not 
understand what is required of them or how the process works.  

• A lack of transparency around the decision-making process increases the risk that the CDO is unable to 
demonstrate the fairness, objectivity and impartiality of its decision and process.  

 
Current Status  
The College has introduced a process that tracks the receipt and completeness of all applications. Referrals 
to the Registration Committee are logged and specific protocols for addressing the issue have been 
established. These protocols comply with the requirements mandated by the Health Professions Procedural 
Code.  
 
All applicants are advised in writing of referrals to the Registration Committee.   The process for the review 
and the deadline to make additional submissions are clearly outlined. Once the matter is considered by the 
Committee, the decision and reasons are sent to the applicant along with information regarding the appeal 
process.  
  

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.5. The CDO should ensure that applicants receive notice of all referrals of 
applications to the Registration Committee.  The use of the tracking log 
recommended in 4.3.1 could be used to ensure the completeness of notices.    
Notices of referrals to the Registration Committee should not include 
wording which indicates that a decision has already been made, and the 
Committee should refrain from any pre-emptive decision making. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.5.1. • Ensure applicants receive notice of all referrals of applications to the 
Registration Committee.  

Complete 

5.2.5.2. • Record completeness of notices using the tracking log recommended in 
4.3.1. 

Complete 

5.2.5.3. • Ensure notices of referrals to the Registration Committee include wording 
which indicate that a decision has been made.  

Complete 

5.2.5.4. • Ensure the Committee refrains from any pre-emptive decision making.  
 

Complete 

 
5.2.6. Lack of review of the scope of practice 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) referred to a discussion with the Registrar and interviews with various Committee 
members and other stakeholders that suggested that limited work had been conducted to review the scope 
of practice for an entry level denturist and an assessment of occupational and educational standards.  
 

81



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

33 
 

In addition, despite concerns related to curriculum at George Brown College and the high failure rate of 
candidates, the CDO had not invested the budgeted funds to conduct a formal review of occupational and 
educational requirements as they related to the scope of practice and current education programs.  
 
Additionally, it appeared that the Registrar’s focus was on the expansion of the current scope of practice 
rather than the existing scope of practice and educational requirements that ensure individuals who 
practice entry level denturism are qualified, and those who are qualified may be registered with the CDO.  
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to conduct a periodic assessment of the competencies and education required for an entry-level 
denturist against current educational programs increases the risk that there is gap between what 
applicants learn and are trained to perform versus what is required and/or relevant for an entry level 
denturist.  

• Failure to conduct a review of formal occupational and educational requirements may result in 
potentially qualified applicants failing to be registered or the registration of applicants who may not 
meet the entry level qualifications which could be viewed as a failure on the part of the CDO to 
appropriately oversee the profession and govern members in accordance with the public interest.  

 
Current Status  
The College has retained a qualified educational consultant to assess the scope of practice to ensure that 
those who practise denturism are qualified and those who are qualified to practice denturism can be 
registered.  
 
Extensive work has been completed since the Operational Audit and Review was conducted in 2012. Steps 
continue to be taken and funds continue to be invested in the process on an annual basis.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

5.2.6. The College should conduct a periodic assessment of its scope of practice to 
ensure that those who practice denturism are qualified and those who are 
qualified can be registered. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

5.2.6.1. • Conduct a periodic assessment of the scope of practice to ensure that 
those who practice denturism are qualified.  

Complete 

5.2.6.2. • Conduct a periodic assessment of the scope of practice to ensure those 
who are qualified to practice denturism can be registered.  

Complete 

  

82



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

34 
 

6. Complaints, Discipline and Investigations  
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) noted deficiencies in many 
the College’s complaints, discipline and investigation processes which indicated that current processes may 
not result in fair, impartial or consistent decisions.  
 

6.2.1 Lack of expected date of disposition in 150-day letters 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The Health Professions Procedural Code requires that letters be sent to the complainant and member 
(practitioner) if 150 days have elapsed since the date the complaint was filed. A second letter must be sent 
after 210 days and include an expected date of disposition.  
 
As indicated in the ORA Report (2012), a review of the templates for the 150 day and 210 day letter utilized 
by the CDO demonstrated that the expected date of disposition as required by the Act, was not included.  
   
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide an estimated date of disposition in the 150 and 210-day letters constitutes a 
compliance issue as it relates to Section 28 of the Health Professions Procedural Code.  

• Failure to provide the member and complainant with the expected disposition date results in a lack of 
transparency and accountability regarding the complaints process given that the timelines for expected 
disposition are unclear.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has revised the templates used for the 150 day and 210 day letters to include provisions identified 
in the Health Professions Procedural Code. Letters are provided to both the complainant and the member.  
 
In instances where a 210-day letter is required; the expected date of disposition is clearly defined and a 
copy of the letter is also sent to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) as required by 
Section 28 (4)(b) of the Health Professions Procedural Code. 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.1. The CDO should update wording in the 150 and 210-day template letters to 
include a field for expected date of disposition. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.1.1. • Update wording in the 150 and 210-day template letters to include a field 
for expected date of disposition. 

Complete 

 

6.2.2. Delay of complaint decisions 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Findings outlined in the ORA Report (2012) indicated that decisions related to complaints filed with the 
College were not being made in a timely manner. It was noted that decisions in thirteen out of twenty 
complaints sampled were made after 150 days.  
 
While complainants in some cases were informed of the delay, the reasons that were provided failed to 
state an expected date for disposition and instead referred to the parties receiving a decision within a few 
weeks. In other instances, reasons for the delayed decision was the result of a referral to the Alternative 

83



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

35 
 

Dispute Resolution (ADR) process, a turnover of staff at the CDO, or the pending arrival of information from 
individuals involved in an investigation.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide a timely disposition of complaints could result in a lack of fairness to complainants 
and members who are subject to the complaint which may impair transparency and accountability 
given that the timelines for resolution are unclear.  

• A lack of timely resolution of serious complaints may result in further harm to the public as a result of 
being unchecked for a period of time.  

• Delays caused by a referral to an alternative dispute resolution process could constitute non-
compliance with section 28(2) of the Health Professions Procedural Code.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has revised the complaints process and implemented an approach that ensures all complaints are 
addressed in a timely manner. Use of the Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) has been eliminated.  
 
Resources have been identified, including specified CDO staff and external investigators, to review 
complaints and apply a clear and consistent approach for the collection of relevant facts and 
communication of required details to the Registrar and as deemed to be necessary, the Discipline 
Committee.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.2. The CDO should review its complaints process and the associated resources 
to identify ways to expedite the decision-making process to ensure 
complaints are addressed on a timely basis. 
 
The CDO should review the ADR process to ensure that it does not impact the 
timeliness of the complaint resolution process. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.2.1. • Review the complaints process and the associated resources to identify 
ways to expedite the decision-making process.  

Complete 
and 

Continuous 

6.2.2.2. • Ensure complaints are addressed on a timely basis.  
 

Complete 
and 

Continuous 

6.2.2.3. • Review the ADR process to ensure that it does not impact the timeliness 
of the complaint resolution process.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process.  

Eliminated 

 

6.2.3. No record of consideration of the prior history of complaints 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) identified cases where members had a prior history of complaints. Although 
discussions with members of the Inquires, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) confirmed that in 
some instances a member’s prior history was considered, documentation was not retained to evidence how 
prior history was considered in the decision that was finally made.  

84



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

36 
 

 
During an interview with one member of ICRC it was noted that she was uncertain if prior history should be 
considered as part of the complaints decision. As indicated in the Health Professions Procedural Code, if the 
decision on the previous complaint was a caution or referral to a discipline hearing, the result should be 
factored into the decision being made to address the current complaint.   
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to document whether prior history was considered makes it difficult to determine compliance 
with Paragraph 26(2) of the Health Professions Procedural Code.  

• Failure to factor relevant prior history may result in inappropriate action being taken in response to a 
complaint.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced procedures that ensure a member’s prior history of complaints is considered in the 
decision-making process for current complaints. In all instances, details related to a member’s prior history 
of complaints are included in materials provided to ICRC for consideration during the decision-making 
process related to the current complaint. Templates for letters sent to members have been constructed to 
include a specific section for the provision of information related to the member’s prior history of 
complaints.   
 
Minutes of an ICRC meeting includes discussion highlights, and a Decisions and Reasons document which 
provides details of the decision that was made, the rationale for making the decision, any consideration 
that was given to a member’s prior history with complaints and how previous actions and directions 
impacted the Committee’s final decision for the current complaint. The finalized Decisions and Reasons 
document is provided to all involved parties and a copy is added to the complaint file in accordance with 
the Record Retention policy.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.3. If the subject of a complaint has prior history, then the ICRC should document 
whether this was considered as part of the decision-making process as per 
the requirements stated in section 26(2) of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.3.1. • Ensure ICRC documents reflect whether consideration was given in the 
decision-making process if the subject of a complaint had a prior history 
as per the requirements stated in section 26(2) of the Health Professional 
Procedural Code.  

Complete 

 
6.2.4. Inconsistent use of investigators in complaints 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2102) noted that the ICRC was inconsistent in its use of investigators for fit and function 
complaints and follow up interviews for complaints involving conduct.  
 
Complaint files considered during the Operational Audit and Review (2012), indicated that where the 
nature of the complaint was related to fit and function, an investigator was not appointed to examine the 

85



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

37 
 

validity of the complaint in most of cases. Documentation to provide the rationale for decisions made to 
either employ the services of an external investigator, or not, was not included in the file. 
Additionally, in some of the cases where the complaints related to conduct, the file did not contain 
evidence to document that any additional investigation of the complainant, member or any witness was 
undertaken by the ICRC to establish and gain additional comfort over the credibility of the complaints filed.  
 
In another instance, documentation in a complaint file suggested that follow up had been conducted with 
witnesses to assess the credibility of the complaint but the rationale for contacting the witnesses was not 
recorded.  
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Inconsistent utilization of investigators for complaints related to fit and function could lead to a lack of 
fairness regarding the complaint process.  

• Inconsistent utilization of follow-up interviews for complaints relating to conduct could lead to a lack of 
fairness regarding the complaint process.  

• Failure to speak with complainants, members or witnesses to investigate complaints could result in 
questionable findings.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced processes that include the assignment of an external investigator who investigates 
complaints related to the fit and function of a fabricated denture.  In these matters, the external 
investigator conducts an interview with the complainant and assesses the fit and function of the fabricated 
denture in question.  Where deemed necessary by the ICRC or at the request of the Registrar, the ICRC 
appoints an external investigator to gather evidence, interview a complainant, a member or other 
witnesses.   
When the investigation is complete, all documents, including Registrar’s reports and Investigator’s reports, 
are reviewed by the ICRC and a decision is made based on the information provided to the Committee. The 
ICRC reserves and exercises the right to request additional information or clarification of any details prior to 
deciding about a complaint. Rationale for decisions are recorded and retained as documentary evidence for 
future reference as required.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.4. If a complaint relates to fit and function, then the decision to use (or not use) 
an investigator should be documented in the complaints file. 
 
If the complaint relates to conduct, then the decision to follow-up with 
witnesses (or not follow-up) or to investigate should be documented in the 
complaints file. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.4.1. • Ensure complaints files document decisions to use (or not use) an 
investigator if a complaint relates to fit and function.  

Complete 

6.2.4.2. • Ensure complaint files document decisions to follow-up with witnesses 
(or not follow-up) or to investigate if the complaint relates to conduct.  

Complete 

 
 

86



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

38 
 

6.2.5. Lack of consent to release information documents 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
A review of complaint files demonstrated inconsistent use of the Consent to Release form.  In some cases, 
this resulted in the sharing of confidential information (e.g. medical history records) with the ICRC without 
receipt of a signed document.  In other cases, information was shared after a blank and unsigned form, 
indicating no consent, had been returned.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Acceptance and inclusion of patient’s medical history without signed consent forms from the patient 
could lead to further complaints to the CDO.  

• Acceptance and inclusion of patient’s medical history without signed consent forms from the patient 
could result in possible legal action.  

 
Current Status  
The College has introduced processes that require submission of a completed and signed Consent to 
Release form within a specified timeframe (14 days).  Documentation provided to a complainant when 
completion of the form is requested by the College, informs the complainant that their medical history 
records may be requested from the denturist for review by CDO representatives, including members of 
ICRC. 
 
Internal procedures that ensure receipt of all required documentation, including the Consent to Release 
form, have also been introduced. This information is recorded on a checklist that is included in the front of 
each case file. 
  

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.5. We recommend that the CDO include language in the acknowledgement 
letter sent to the complainant which informs the complainant that a request 
for their medical records will be made to the denturist, and that they should 
return a signed consent form by a given time frame. We also recommend 
that the CDO develop a checklist that is attached to all complaints file 
folders that would include, among other requirements, the need for signed 
consent forms. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.5.1. • Include language in the acknowledgement letter sent to the complainant 
which informs the complainant that a request for their medical records 
will be made to the denturist. 
 

Complete 

6.2.5.2 • Require the complainant to return a signed consent form within a given 
timeframe.  

Complete 

6.2.5.3. • Develop a checklist that is attached to all complaint file folders which 
includes, among other requirements, the need for signed consent forms. 

Complete  

 
 
 
 

87



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

39 
 

6.2.6. Consent forms not obtained for Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Findings reported in the ORA Report (2012) suggested that the CDO was not providing an Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) Consent Form to the complainant and denturist, despite this previously being a 
standard practice that had recently been revised by the Registrar.  
 
Prior to 2010, the complainant and member were required to complete, sign and return the consent form 
to the CDO confirming their agreement to participate in the ADR Program as an alternative to the formal 
complaint investigation process.  
 
In 2010, the CDO adopted a new process that required the ADR Mediator / Coordinator to verbally relay the 
information on the consent form to the complainant and denturist, and as such obtain their verbal consent 
to continue with the ADR process. The explanation provided for the change in approach was that it 
expedited the process.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) process is less transparent when the member and 
complainant do not receive and sign written Consent to Release forms relating to the ADR process and 
could result in complaints being sent to ADR without agreement to do so by either or both parties.   

 
Current Status  
The Supervisor appointed to the College decided to suspend the ADR process for complaint resolution.  This 
decision was based on the lack of adequately trained mediators to facilitate the ADR process.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.6. We recommend that the CDO reinstate the process of providing written 
Consent to Release forms to both the denturist and complainant. They 
should also require that these forms be completed and signed prior to the 
initialization of the ADR process. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.6.1. • Provide written Consent to Release forms to the denturist.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process. 

Eliminated 

6.2.6.2. • Provide written Consent to Release forms to the complainant.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process. 

Eliminated 

6.2.6.3. • Require submission of signed Consent to Release forms prior to the 
initialization of the ADR process.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process. 

Eliminated 

 

6.2.7. Delays regarding disciplinary hearings 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the ICRC had the option of referring a complaint to the Discipline 
Committee for a disciplinary hearing.   However, numerous delays were noted subsequent to the matter 
being referred which most notably resulted in members receiving information between 6 weeks and 10 
months after the referral. Findings also suggested that in some instances the delay appeared to be the 

88



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

40 
 

result of referrals to the ADR process where mediation was unsuccessful and/or extended timelines to 
establish a disciplinary panel and hold a hearing.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to notify members that their complaints have been referred to the Discipline Committee could 
lead to a lack of perceived fairness regarding the disciplinary process.  

• Failure to hold disciplinary hearings in a timely manner could lead to a lack of perceived fairness 
regarding the disciplinary process.  

• Initiation of the ADR process after a complaint has been referred to the Discipline Committee is not 
compliant with section 25.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code which states that “(1) The 
Registrar may, with the consent of both the complainant and the member, refer the complainant and 
member to an alternative dispute resolution process, (a) if the matter has not yet been referred to the 
Discipline Committee under section 26; and (b) if the matter does not involve an allegation of sexual 
abuse , c. 10, Sched. M, s. 30.” 
 

Current Status  
As indicated previously, the CDO has made a decision to no longer utilize the ADR process as an alternative 
method for the complaint resolution process. Internal timelines have however been established to ensure 
members are advised of a referral to the Discipline Committee in a timely manner.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.7. The CDO should implement internal deadlines to notify members of 
complaints being referred to the Discipline Committee, form a disciplinary 
panel, and hold a hearing. 
 
The CDO should not initiate the ADR process after it refers a complaint to 
the Discipline Committee. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.7.1. • Implement internal deadlines to notify members of complaints being 
referred to the Discipline Committee, the formation of a disciplinary 
panel and the holding of a hearing.   

Complete 

6.2.7.2. • Refrain from initiating the ADR process after it refers a complaint to the 
Discipline Committee.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process. 

Eliminated 

 

6.2.8. ADR initiated subsequent to the ICRC deciding to refer a complaint to the Discipline 
Committee 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The PwC audit team referred to two sample cases that were referred to the Discipline Committee prior to 
the CDO initiating the ADR mediation process with the complainant and the member.  
 
In one instance the decision was prepared, sent to the member and subsequently returned to the CDO.  
The other case suggested that the subject of the complaint was contacted by the Registrar and asked to 
come to the CDO office to discuss a settlement. While the process undertaken to address the matter 
appeared to resemble the ADR process which included a draft written settlement agreement, the member 

89



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

41 
 

did not support the decision and the Discipline Committee had not convened to discuss the case before the 
Operational Audit and Review (2012) concluded.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Initiation of the ADR process after a complaint has been referred to the Discipline Committee is not 
compliant with section 25.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code which states that “(1) The 
Registrar may, with the consent of both the complainant and the member, refer the complainant and 
member to an alternative dispute resolution process, (a) if the matter has not yet been referred to the 
Discipline Committee under section 26; and (b) if the matter does not involve an allegation of sexual 
abuse , c. 10, Sched. M, s. 30.” 

 
Current Status  
The CDO has formalized clear and consistent practices to address complaints related to the conduct of a 
member which do not use the ADR process as an alternative method for the investigative process.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.8. The CDO should refrain from commencing the ADR process relating to 
complaints that have been referred to a Discipline Committee by the ICRC. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.8.1. • Refrain from commencing the ADR process relating to complaints that 
have been referred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.  
Note: The CDO no longer utilizes the ADR process. 

Eliminated 

 
6.2.9. Lack of Discipline Committee meeting minutes 
  
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that a review of Council materials indicated that meetings of the 
Discipline Committee were not held between February 18, 2010 and June 15, 2011. It appeared that the 
Discipline Committee convened to prepare a report to Council which was received on October 1, 2010 
however no minutes were taken at the meeting.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Rational for and approval of key decisions made by the Committee cannot be confirmed if meeting 
minutes are not recorded and retained.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced consistent practice throughout the organization which require meeting minutes 
include discussion highlights, action items, decisions and rationale for decisions made, be documented, 
approved and retained for all Committees, including the Discipline Committee.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.9. The Discipline Committee should retain minutes for all meetings. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

90



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

42 
 

6.2.9.1. • Retain minutes for all Discipline Committee meetings.  
 

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

 

6.2.10. No formal ICRC approval or notification of an investigation 
  
Observation Description (2012) 
The PwC audit team assessed 4 investigations and noted in one instance that evidence was not available to 
confirm that ICRC had approved an investigation initiated by the Registrar as required by the Health 
Professions Procedural Code, section 75. Additionally, the investigation was not presented to ICRC, as 
required by section 79 of the Health Professions Procedural Code.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to obtain ICRC approval for an investigation could lead to an investigation being conducted that 
is unwarranted.  

• Failure to present results to ICRC may result in risks identified in the investigation not being mitigated in 
a timely or effective manner.  

 
Current Status  
The College has implemented a process that ensures ICRC approval is obtained for all investigations 
initiated by the Registrar. Following completion of the investigation, ICRC is provided with a full 
investigation report which details all findings.  
  

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.10. The CDO should obtain ICRC approval and present the investigation report to 
the ICRC for all investigations initiated by the Registrar. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.10.1. • Obtain ICRC approval for all investigations initiated by the Registrar.  
 

Complete 

6.2.10.2. • Present ICRC with the investigation report for all investigations initiated 
by the Registrar.  

Complete 

 

6.2.11. ICRC decision regarding investigations are not made in a timely manner 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the PwC audit team examined four (4) case files to assess the 
timeliness of the decisions made by ICRC and the communication of the Committee’s decisions to 
members. When the Operational Audit and Review (2012) was completed, the ICRC was provided with an 
investigation report for three (3) of the four (4) cases.  A meeting to decide about how to proceed was 
pending when the audit concluded.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Although there is no requirement in the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) for ICRC to 
decide regarding an investigation in a timely manner, failure to do so could lead to risks identified in the 
investigation not being mitigated in a timely manner.  

91



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

43 
 

• Failure to make decisions regarding an investigation in a timely manner results in the member being 
subject to an open investigation for a long period of time which creates considerable stress.  

 
Current Status  
The College has developed a process that is designed to expedite the decision-making process for ICRC and 
address investigation matters in a timely manner. In all instances, ICRC is provided with an investigation 
report for full review prior to a decision on the outcome of the matter.   
 
Revised approaches have resulted in fewer files being returned to ICRC for further action. In most instances, 
the Committee makes a decision within 100-150 days. Following the meeting a decision letter is drafted and 
approved via teleconference well in advance of a 210 letter needing to be issued.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.11. The CDO should develop a process to expedite making ICRC decisions 
regarding investigations in a timely manner. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.11.1. • Develop a process to expedite making ICRC decisions regarding 
investigations in a timely manner.  

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

 
6.2.12. Grounds for investigations initiated by Registrar not documented 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College did not have a standard template for documenting the 
rationale and/or grounds behind investigations initiated by the Registrar. In a review of a sample of files, 
the PwC audit team was unable to identify documentation that articulated concrete reasons for any 
Registrar’s investigations.  
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to document grounds for Registrar’s investigations make it difficult, if not impossible, to oversee 
that the Registrar has exercised the power responsibly which could result in members being treated 
unfairly.  

Current Status  
The College has introduced a standardized template to document the rationale and/or grounds for all 
investigations initiated by the Registrar, including confirmation of prior approval from ICRC.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.12. The CDO should document grounds for all investigations initiated by the 
Registrar. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.12.1. • Document grounds for all investigation initiated by the Registrar.  
 

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

92



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

44 
 

6.2.13. Investigator was former instructor 

 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that in one of the reviewed investigations, the investigator assigned to the 
case was a former instructor of the member when he/she was a student in a professional denturism 
program.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Assignment of a former instructor to investigate a member could lead to bias due to the investigator 
having pre-conceived notions about the member’s performance.  

 
Current Status  
The College now employs an external professional investigator to review complaints when required. 
Compliance with conflict of interest requirements also eliminates the possibility of a member being 
investigated by a former instructor from a professional denturism program.  
  

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

6.2.13. The CDO should not assign individuals to investigations if they have 
previously taught the member under investigation. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

6.2.13.1. • Refrain from assigning individuals to investigations if they have 
previously taught the member under investigation.  

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

 

  

93



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

45 
 

7.  Quality Assurance 
Many deficiencies were identified in the Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of 
Ontario (2012).  These deficiencies indicated that current processes related to the College’s Quality 
Assurance Program may not have resulted in fair, impartial and consistent decisions.  
 

7.2.1. No documentation for selection process for assessments 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Observations outlined in the ORA Report (2012) indicated that the while members selected for Quality 
Assurance assessments were to be randomly selected using automated programming within the “AMSoft” 
database, supporting documentary evidence was not available to demonstrate the selection of members 
for the 2010/2011 assessments. Instead it appeared that 2 members were judgementally added to the 
assessment listing and results were recorded in an Excel spreadsheet.   
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Without a formal written policy for the selection process, an inconsistent approach could be applied 
year over year to select members for the Quality Assurance program.  

• In the absence of a formal policy, inappropriate and/or inadequate criteria could be applied when 
selecting members for assessment.  

 
Current Status  
The selection process for Quality Assurance assessments is managed by the Manager, Registration, Quality 
Assurance and Policy. A formal selection process that aligns with legislative requirements has been 
developed to clearly define the process and requirements for the random selection of members that are 
chosen to participate in annual Quality Assurance assessments.   
 
Each year a request to randomly select 5 % of the membership (approximately 30-35 registered denturists), 
is submitted to database provider “in1touch” which has replaced “AMSoft”. The database manager runs a 
program that randomly selects those members.  In instances where compliance issues are of concern, the 
Quality Assurance Committee has the legislative authority to order a member to undergo a Quality 
Assurance assessment. Additionally, members who have not participated in an assessment but apply to 
become a Peer and Practice Assessor are first required to undergo an assessment as part of the application 
and appointment process.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

7.2.1. The CDO should document the formal process for selecting assessors and 
selecting the annual Quality Assurance assessment candidates in a policy 
document.   The policy should specify the criteria for selecting assessment 
candidates, who oversees the automated selection, what documentation 
needs to be kept as evidence of an independent selection, and sign off by 
the people who oversaw the selection on the computerized report 
evidencing the automated selection. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

7.2.1.1. • Introduce a policy that documents the formal process for selecting 
assessors.  

Complete 

7.2.1.2. • Introduce a policy that documents the process for selecting the annual 
Quality Assurance assessment candidates. 

Complete 

94



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

46 
 

 
7.2.2. No criteria for selection of assessors 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College did not have established criteria for the selection of 
assessors for the Quality Assurance peer assessment program. Instead a chief assessor, selected by the 
Quality Assurance Committee, was responsible for selecting assessors from the College membership who 
had applied for the position.  
 
At the time of the audit, no documentation was available to outline the process undertaken by the Quality 
Assurance Committee to select the chief assessor. It was noted that the selected chief assessor was an 
elected member of Council and sat on the Executive Committee. The only conflict of interest criterion that 
was used to support decisions stated that an assessor could not perform an assessment in the same district 
where he/she practises.  
 
It was suggested that an email was sent to the entire College membership in 2011 to advise that interested 
members needed to submit a cover letter and resume. A review of the list of 2010 peer assessors revealed 
that only 1 of the 6 assessors had submitted the required documentation.  
 
A training session, led by the chief assessor, was held for all applicants. Afterward the chief assessor 
selected the assessors for the year. Eligibility of an assessor required the member to have been practising 
as a registered denturist for a minimum of five (5) years and to have undergone an assessment themselves. 
Returning assessors were not required to resubmit a cover letter and resume. Additional criteria used by 
the chief assessor, or the reasoning behind the chief assessor’s decisions, were not documented.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The absence of formal detailed evaluation criteria being consistently communicated to the membership 
may be subjective and open to biased decision making.  

• The lack of documentation and criteria to evidence the assessment of each assessor’s eligibility may be 
subjective and open to biased decision making.  

• The lack of established criteria for the selection of assessors may be subjective and open to biased 
decision making.  

• High quality candidates may not be selected to act as assessors which could impact the quality of the 
Quality Assurance assessment process.  

• The lack of transparency around the criteria and assessment of applicants makes it difficult for the CDO 
to demonstrate appropriate conduct has been followed in situations where complaints are made by 
members about the process followed.  

 
Current Status  
The Quality Assurance Committee has approved eligibility criteria for peer assessors and provided support 
for the introduction of formalized processes to manage and administer Quality Assurance assessments and 
assessors. 
 
A Call for Peer Assessors is issued to the College membership by email and through a posting on the College 
website which sets out formal detailed application criteria for the eligibility and selection of assessors which 
strives to ensure the consideration of high quality candidates. Among other criteria, members must be in 
good standing with the College and have been a minimum of 5 years of clinical experience as a registered 
denturist.  
 

95



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

47 
 

Interested members are invited to apply. Qualified members are required to participate in a panel 
interview with the Manager, Registration, Quality Assurance & Policy and 2 members of the Quality 
Assurance Committee. The interview panel considers each member’s experience as it relates to the 
standards outlined in the CDO’s Quality Assurance Manual and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 
(RHPA).  
 
On an annual basis, the College extends contracts to between 6 and 8 assessors, with some of the assessors 
returning from the previous year. A skills matrix that details the experience and expertise of the assessor is 
completed and filed. The skills matrix provides a rationale for the selection or rejection of an individual.  
 
Early each year, all assessors are required to participate in a training session hosted by the College. In this 
training session, assessors receive instruction in how to conduct a Quality Assurance assessment, an 
overview of the random selection process, and the conflict of interest and confidentiality requirements of 
the assessor position. Following completion of the training session and prior to conducting a Quality 
Assurance assessment on their own, new assessors shadow an experienced assessor.  The Manager, 
Registration, Quality Assurance and Policy facilitates the training session.  
 
Using an established template, assessors prepare a 6 to 7-page Assessment Report for each Quality 
Assurance assessment conducted.  This Assessment Report was revised and updated following the 
Operational Audit and Review in 2012.  During the 2 to 3-hour assessment, a checklist of items are 
reviewed and marked as ‘complete’ or ‘incomplete’. Suggestions and concerns are also documented. The 
assessor has the option of submitting a handwritten or computerized Assessment Report. All reports are 
returned to the College by mail in a self-addressed envelope.  
 
Consideration is currently being given to changing the checklist rating from ‘complete’ or ‘incomplete’ to 
‘appropriate’ or ‘inappropriate’ which is consistent with wording used for assessments conducted prior to 
2015/2016. In addition, to support the collection of statistical analysis and improve readability of all 
reports, it is expected that a policy will be introduced that requires electronic submission of the Assessment 
Report.     
 
The CDO has also introduced a process that requires assessors to complete a conflict of interest declaration 
prior to the commencement of the Quality Assurance assessment. Members who are selected to 
participate in the assessment may also declare a conflict of interest. In these cases, the member’s 
assessment is re-assigned to another assessor.  This reassignment may result in the deferral of the 
assessment to the following year depending on the availability of an alternate assessor.   
 
A policy has been implemented that prohibits Council members and Quality Assurance Committee 
members from being a Quality Assurance assessor.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

7.2.2. CDO should develop formal detailed evaluation criteria to assess potential 
Quality Assurance assessors.  The criteria should include not only the number 
of years as a denturist but also specific criteria to assess an applicant’s 
experience with the standards outlined in the CDO’s Quality Assurance 
Manual and the RHPA.  The use of a skills matrix detailing the expertise and 
experience desired in an assessor is recommended.   A skills matrix should be 
completed for all applicants to provide an audit trail of the rationale for the 
selection or rejection of assessors. 

 

96



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

48 
 

 
Potential conflicts of interests should also be addressed with each assessor 
completing a Conflict of Interest statement prior to each assessment. All prior 
relationships and dealings between the assessor and member should be 
documented prior to the assessment taking place. In addition, elected 
members of Council should not serve as assessors. 
 
The expertise and experience desired in an assessor should be communicated 
to the membership when applications are requested.  The Quality Assurance 
Committee should be required to assess candidates utilizing the publicly 
disclosed criteria. 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

7.2.2.1. • Develop formal detailed evaluation criteria to assess potential Quality 
Assurance assessors that specify the number of years practising as a 
denturist.   

Complete 

7.2.2.2. • Develop formal detailed evaluation criteria to assess an applicant’s 
experience with the standards outlined in the CDO’s Quality Assurance 
Manual and the RHPA. 

Complete 

7.2.2.3. • Introduce use of a skills matrix detailing the expertise and experience 
desired in an assessor.  

Complete 

7.2.2.4. • Complete a skills matrix for all applicants to provide an audit trail of the 
rationale for the selection or rejection of assessors.  

Complete 

7.2.2.5. • Address potential conflicts of interest with each assessor by completing a 
Conflict of Interest statement prior to each assessment.  
Note: Each assessor is now required to complete a Conflict of Interest 
statement for each assessment conducted. 

Ongoing 

7.2.2.6. • Document relationships and dealings between the assessor and member 
prior to the assessment taking place.  

Complete 

7.2.2.7. • Ensure elected members of Council do not serve as assessors.  
 

Complete 

7.2.2.8. • Communicate the expertise and experience desired in an assessor when 
applications are requested from the membership. 

Complete 

 

7.2.3. Lack of documentation with respect to tracking and review of assessments 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) referred to discussions with Quality Assurance Committee members that suggested 
that the Committee conducts a review of each random or remediation assessment and notes identified 
deficiencies. The findings were discussed and remediation activities were identified at the Quality 
Assurance Committee meeting. Proof of remediation submitted by the member, including photos, receipts 
and templates were considered by Committee members.  
 
However, meeting minutes did not include details of the discussion of Quality Assurance assessments, the 
reasons for accepting assessment results, or recommendations for remedial actions. In two out of five 
instances, follow up action and documentation of the receipt of proof of remediation were included in the 
Quality Assurance Committee meeting minutes.  
 

97



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

49 
 

A formal tracking mechanism to track the progress of each assessment was not maintained by the Quality 
Assurance Coordinator and subsequently not shared with the Quality Assurance Committee. Discussions 
regarding outstanding items for the assessments were not noted in the Quality Assurance Committee 
meeting minutes during the 2010/2011 fiscal year.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• A lack of documentation to provide rationale for passing or requiring remediation may result in the 
Quality Assurance Committee not being able to provide objective consideration of assessment 
deficiencies and a consistent decision-making approach.   

• Without a formal tracking mechanism in place that is shared with the Quality Assurance Committee, 
outstanding assessments or remediation requirements may not be addressed in a timely manner.  

 
Current Status  
The Manager, Registration, Quality Assurance and Policy is responsible for tracking the status of Quality 
Assurance assessments within the College database. An Excel spreadsheet is also maintained that outlines 
the progression of individual assessments throughout the year.  
 
Once the Assessment Report is submitted to the College by the assessor, a copy of the report is sent to the 
member for review. The member is permitted 30 days to provide additional submissions or comments to 
the Quality Assurance Committee.  
 
Regular updates on the progress of Quality Assurance assessments are provided to the Quality Assurance 
Committee throughout the year. Committee members review each Assessment Report and determine the 
outcome of the assessment to be either ‘satisfactory’ or ‘unsatisfactory’. A copy of the Committee’s final 
decision is provided to the member.   
 
If the Quality Assurance Committee requires additional information the member is contacted directly. If the 
Committee deems the outcome to be ‘unsatisfactory’, which often results from concerns related to 
infection control, record keeping or informed consent, remedial action requirements are defined and 
communicated to the member.  
 
Member responses to confirm completion of identified remedial actions must be received within thirty 
days. Submissions are considered by the Quality Assurance Committee for decision prior to the assessment 
file being closed. Discussion highlights and the reasons for all decisions made throughout the Quality 
Assurance assessment process are recorded in the meeting minutes.  
 
To align completion of the Quality Assurance assessments within the annual renewal period, 2016/2017 
assessments will be assigned during the first quarter of 2017. Peer assessors and members selected for 
assessment will be advised that the Quality Assurance assessment needs to be completed within 3 months 
from the date of assignment.   
 
The random selection process for 2017/2018 will occur in May2017 with the deadline for the submission of 
Assessment Reports scheduled for the end of 2017. It is expected that this change in process will result in 
the completion of all required steps, including remedial action items, prior to the end of the renewal year.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

7.2.3. The CDO should implement a formal tracking mechanism that is presented to 
the Committee before each Committee meeting.  In addition, all decisions 

 

98



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

50 
 

regarding Quality Assurance assessments including the rationale behind them 
should be documented in the Quality Assurance Committee meeting minutes 
which are approved by the Committee. 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

7.2.3.1. • Implement a formal tracking mechanism for the review of assessments.  
 

Complete 

7.2.3.2 
 

• Present the formal tracking mechanism for the review of assessments to 
the Committee before each Committee meeting.  

Complete 

7.2.3.3. • Document all decisions regarding Quality Assurance assessments and the 
rationale behind them in the Quality Assurance Committee meeting 
minutes.  

Complete 

 

7.2.4. Assessment files are not complete 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that documentation in assessment files was incomplete. While it was 
expected that specific information be included in each assessment file, it was noted that 2 out of 5 files 
were missing proof of remediation and/or final closing letters. In both cases the files had been closed 
following receipt of remediation evidence via email but the missing items had not been filed.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Incomplete files do not support the activities of the Quality Assurance Committee.  

• Quality Assurance assessment files are to be kept in a locked cabinet as per the CDO Record Retention 
policy.  

• Maintaining documentation in outside files, including staff email inboxes, is a violation of the CDO 
Record Retention policy.   

 
Current Status  
The Manager, Registration, Quality Assurance and Policy, is responsible for the maintenance of a separate 
file for each member that has been selected to participate in a Quality Assurance assessment. 
Documentation is maintained to confirm that each step of the process has been completed within the 
established timeframes and in accordance with the College’s Record Retention policy. The “QA 
Assessment” relation in the database is used to track random selection, assessment dates, remediation 
deadlines, assessment results and file closure.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

7.2.4. All correspondence, documentation and remediation evidence should be 
filed within a set time frame, such as 30 days. This requirement could be 
documented in the Record Retention policy. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

7.2.4.1. • File all correspondence, documentation and remediation evidence within 
a set time frame (e.g. 30 days). 

Complete 

7.2.4.2. • Document the requirement to file all correspondence, documentation 
and remediation evidence in the Records Retention policy.  

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

99



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

51 
 

8. Stakeholder Consultations  
Several significant deficiencies with respect to the process to consult and obtain feedback from 
stakeholders regarding the 2011 by-law revisions were noted in the Operational Review and Audit of the 
College of Denturists of Ontario (2012). The review also identified issues with respect to the nature of 
changes to the by-laws that led to non-council members having increased ability to make decisions that 
previously could only be made by elected Council members and public members appointed to Council.  
 

8.2.1. Method of circulation of the proposed changes conducted in a less than transparent 
manner 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the College undertook an initiative to make significant change to 
many its by-laws in the Fall of 2010. Proposed changes were posted on the CDO website on November 25, 
2010 and subsequently approved by Council on March 11, 2011. While proposed by-laws incorporated 
comments from the membership, it was noted that circulation of the proposed changes was conducted in a 
less than transparent manner.  
 
Members were not provided with a formal notice by email or letter to advise that proposed by-law changes 
had been posted to the CDO website on November 25, 2010. Communication distributed to the 
membership by email on December 7, 2010 made no mention of the number of proposed by-law changes, 
other than an update on the proposed insurance program which related to one (1) of the proposed 
changes.  Reference was made to the December issue of the College Contact being available which 
highlighted six (6) of the by-law changes and provided a website link to the proposed changes but failed to 
include a deadline for comment submissions.  
 
On January 18, 2011, an email was sent to the membership that explicitly drew attention to the proposed 
by-law changes and provided a link to the CDO website. The email stated that comments must be provided 
to the CDO by February 11, 2011.   
 
It was noted that the membership should have been advised of the proposed changes being posted to the 
CDO website on November 25, 2010 and that it is unreasonable to expect that all members regularly check 
the website or read every issue of the College Contact in its entirety. 
 
The process undertaken to implement by-law changes failed to comply with legislative requirements 
specified in Paragraph 94(2) of Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) Health 
Professions Procedural Code which indicates that by-law changes cannot be made unless proposed changes 
have been circulated to every member at least 60 days in advance of the change being approved by 
Council.    
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Inadequate circulation of the proposed by-laws to all members could result in a lack of transparency as 
members were not made aware of the significant proposed changes. 

• Failure to comply with the RHPA requirements for circulating the proposed changes results in a lack of 
procedural fairness. 

• Failure to circulate the proposed by-law changes may result in the by-laws not being supported by the 
majority of the profession.   

 
 
 

100



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

52 
 

Current Status  
The CDO has implemented procedures that comply with RHPA legislative requirements that ensure the 
membership at large is formally advised of proposed by-law changes by email at least sixty (60) days in 
advance of being presented to Council for approval. Details are also posted on the CDO website. 
Communication initiatives provide clear instructions and timelines for the submission of comments.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

8.2.1. For future by-law changes, the CDO should circulate proposed changes via an 
email or written letter informing members of the proposed by-law changes, 
and provide them with a link to where they have been posted on the website 
as well as information on where to send comments. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

8.2.1.1. • Circulate proposed by-law changes via email or written letter to the 
membership.  

Complete 

8.2.1.2. • Post proposed by-law changes on the website.  
 

Complete 

8.2.1.3. • Provide information on where to send comments related to proposed by-
law changes.  

Complete 

 

8.2.2. Communication of the nature of by-law revisions did not include black-line or rationale 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the format used to present proposed by-law changes was considered 
to be ineffective and failed to provide rationale for all changes, with the exception of the by-law which 
related to professional liability insurance. Proposed changes were not tracked or clearly identified within 
the document resulting in the reader needing to review 75 pages of information to identify the proposed 
changes.  
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide members with a comparative document that highlights proposed by-law changes or 
offers a summary with justification for each of the changes results in a lack of transparency around the 
extent of changes and the rationale for the change. 

• Failure to communicate reasons for change, make it difficult for members to provide appropriate input.  
 
Current Status  
The College has revised communication protocols to ensure information provided to the membership is 
presented in a format that clearly identifies proposed changes and offers rationale or justification for 
making the change.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

8.2.2. For future by-law changes, the CDO should provide members a tracked-
changes version of the proposed by-laws and provide the rationale for all 
changes being proposed.      
                                                                                                                   

 

101



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

53 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

8.2.2.1. • Circulate proposed by-law revisions with tracked changes to the 
membership. 

Complete  

8.2.2.2. • Provide rationale for all proposed changes to by-laws.  
 

Complete 

 
8.2.3. Communication back to the members regarding their written comments/submissions 
regarding the proposed by-law changes 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that all comments from the membership regarding the proposed by-law 
changes were not considered prior to the by-law changes being approved by Council. Comments received 
were retained in an internal tracking file and provided to the Regulations and By-Laws Committee for 
consideration.  
 
Of the eighty-seven (87) comments received, it appeared that only seventeen (17) comments were 
incorporated into the new by-laws with most of comments relating to grammatical and spelling errors.  
Comments submitted by members that disagreed with the proposed by-law changes which related to fee 
disclosure, elections and the overall governance structure, appeared to have been dismissed.  
 
Members who submitted comments were not provided with an acknowledgement letter to confirm receipt 
of their submission. The membership was not provided with feedback containing a summary of the nature 
and type of comments received. Documentation to provide rationale for excluding or including any of the 
member comments was not prepared or provided to the membership.  
 
In addition, a summary of the comments that were incorporated into the by-laws was not provided to the 
membership nor was an updated version of the by-laws recirculated to the membership prior to being 
approved by Council; instead feedback was provided in the form of a report from the Regulations and By-
Laws Committee which was included with Council materials.  
   
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide members with feedback regarding their comments related to proposed by-law 
changes results in a lack of transparency with respect to the consideration of comments.  

• Failure to re-circulate the revised proposed by-law changes to the membership results in a lack of 
transparency with respect to subsequent revisions of the proposed by-laws.  

 
Current Status  
The College has dissolved the Regulations and By-Laws Committee and assigned responsibilities associated 
with oversight of regulations and by-laws to the Executive Committee.  
 
Processes have been introduced that provide the membership with an opportunity to submit comments 
relating to proposed by-law changes within sixty (60) days. All comments received are reviewed by Council 
and considered prior to any modifications being made. Messaging to the membership regarding new 
changes to the by-laws is posted on the CDO website.    
 
 
 

102



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

54 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

8.2.3. For future by-law changes, the CDO should consider implementing a process 
whereby all member comments are summarized and responded to prior to 
issuing the new by-laws.  This could include circulating a document to all 
members which summarizes the comments and provides an explanation for 
either maintaining the proposed by-law wording or revising.  The revised 
proposed by-laws should be included in this document or posted on the 
website with reference to this fact within the document. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

8.2.3.1. • Implement a process whereby all member comments are summarized 
and provided to Council prior to issuing new by-laws. 
Note: The College provides a report to Council that summarizes 
comments received from the membership and stakeholders. An official 
response is not provided for each comment received. A consultation 
report that includes a summary of comments will be posted to the new 
CDO website.   

Revised 
Approach  

8.2.3.2. • Circulate a document to all members which summarizes the comments 
and provides an explanation for either maintaining the proposed by-law 
wording or revising.  
Note: Council reviews submissions received from the membership 
within sixty (60) days and considers modification of proposed by-law 
wording based on submitted comments.  

Revised 
Approach 

8.2.3.3. • Post revised proposed by-laws on the website with reference to changes 
within the document. 
Note: Proposed by-laws with reference to changes within the document 
are posted on the CDO website. 

Ongoing 

 
8.2.4. By-law relating to professional liability insurance requirements changed despite Minister’s 
requirement to refrain from doing so  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The Minister of Health and Long Term Care issued a letter to the College on March 9, 2011 requesting that 
the organization refrain from making any new by-laws pursuant to clause 94(1)(y) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code and suspend all efforts to implement the professional liability insurance program that was 
announced by the College in November 2010 until such time that all questions and concerns from the 
membership and stakeholders had been fully and satisfactorily addressed.    
 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the Minister halted the change because of insufficient stakeholder 
consultations to support the fact that the CDO considered the public’s best interest in the proposed by-law 
change that indicated that every member must provide proof that the member carries professional liability 
and malpractice insurance “… as approved by the College, in the minimum amount of $2,000,000 for each 
occurrence …”. 
 
Communications issued to the membership by the CDO between November 2010 and March 2011 
indicated that the only insurance provider that had been approved was “Prolink”, a new insurance carrier. 

103



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

55 
 

Implementation of the proposed change would have required that most members abandon relationships 
with existing insurance companies and join “Prolink” in order to comply with the by-law.   
  
The College administration, at that time, chose to disregard the Minister’s request to refrain from changing 
the professional liability insurance program and passed many new by-laws in March 2011 which included 
the requirement for “an active member to a purchase professional liability insurance policy as approved by 
the College, in the minimum amount of $2,000,000 for each occurrence.” The CDO did not highlight the 
change to members, or include a copy of the change in the by-laws provided to PwC for audit purposes. 
Members were also not advised of approved insurance providers in March 2011.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to address concerns raised by many members and the Minister related to a by-law change 
which dictate that a member must purchase professional liability insurance from a CDO approved 
carrier constitutes a lack of fairness.  

• Failure to communicate the by-law change to the membership results in a lack of transparency.  

• The lack of consultation with members and stakeholder results in an inability to demonstrate that the 
by-law change is being made in the public interest. 
 

Current Status  
The CDO is no longer involved in the professional liability insurance program. By-law changes that were 
introduced in March 2011 have been reversed which allow members to purchase professional liability 
insurance from a carrier of their choice.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

8.2.4 The CDO should reverse the changes made to 37:15(a) and conduct 
stakeholder consultations including a vote of all members, to determine 
whether the new insurance program reflects the profession’s and the public’s 
best interests. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

8.2.4.1. • Conduct stakeholder consultations including a vote of all members, to 
determine whether the new insurance program reflect the profession’s 
and public’s best interests. 
Note: The CDO is no longer involved in the insurance program.  

Eliminated 

 
8.2.5. By-laws that have a potential adverse impact on fairness and transparency 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) identified many by-law changes that were implemented by the CDO in March 2011 
which had a significant impact on governance including changes that: 
 

• did not require a unanimous decision from Council to approve by-laws or resolutions outside of 
Council meetings. 

• addressed the composition of the Executive Committee (which between meetings of the Council 
had all the powers of the Council) and permitted the Committee to appoint any member at the 
discretion of the Council to the Executive Committee. 

104



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

56 
 

• removed the five (5) person limit for the composition of the Executive Committee which did not 
permit inclusion of non-Council members, from a limit of 2 public Council members and 3 elected 
members of Council to ‘at least 5 members’ that includes non-Council members.  

• updated the by-laws governing the composition of the Statutory Committees, removing the ceiling 
for non-Council members by adding the words ‘at least’. 

• removed the fees listed in many the by-laws and replaced the term ‘as prescribed by College 
policy’.  

  
The PwC audit team reviewed current by-laws at the College of Alberta Denturists and the College of Dental 
Hygienists of Ontario and noted many inconsistencies when compared to the two peer organizations. It was 
noted that:  
 

• neither of the peer organizations allowed for the signing of by-laws or resolutions in lieu of voting 
in person at Council meeting. 

• while the College of Alberta Denturists did not impose restrictions or limits on the composition of 
the Executive Committee, the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario did not permit inclusion of 
non-Council members on the Executive Committee and limited the Committee to three (3) 
registrants of the College and two (2) public members.  

• the College of Alberta Denturists did not have a limit on any Committees with the exception of a 
limit of three (3) registered members for the ‘Fee Guide Development and Negotiation Committee’ 
and the College of Dental Hygienists had placed a ceiling on the number of non-Council members 
for the Statutory Committees (e.g. the Registration Committee includes a limit of one non-Council 
member). 

• while the College of Alberta Denturists by-laws did not explicitly state fees, but indicate that Council 
has the responsibility for setting fees within a reasonable time before the beginning of the College’s 
fiscal year, the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario explicitly defined a number of fees including 
registration fees, entry-to-practice fees, election recount fees, and reinstatement fees. 
 

Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to require a unanimous decision for by-law amendments made outside of Council meetings 
increases the risk of by-law changes that do not consider or meet all the interests and requirements of 
the public, the profession, or other stakeholders. 

• Allowing an unlimited number of non-Council members on the Executive Committee and other 
Statutory Committees results in the potential for decisions to be made by individuals who were not 
elected to Council which undermines the integrity of the governance process. 

• Failure to include fees in by-laws serves to increase the possibility of fees being increased without 
sufficient input from Council.  

 
Current Status  
The College has amended by-law revisions that were introduced in 2011. Current processes require a two-
thirds vote of all Council members voting in favour of any proposed by-law amendments. Decisions are not 
permitted to be made outside of regular Council meetings. All Council decisions are documented in the 
meeting minutes.  
 
By-laws amended in 2012 also dictate the composition of the Executive Committee requiring 3 professional 
members and 2 public members. The Council is responsible for approving the composition of Statutory 
Committees, outside requirements prescribed in the by-laws. Non-Council members are not permitted to 
be members of the Executive Committee. 
  

105



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

57 
 

Amended by-laws include a fee schedule for the Qualifying Examination, applications for initial registration 
for General Class, renewal of a Certificate of Registration for a General Class, renewal of a Certificate of 
Registration for an Inactive Class and pro-rated fees to transfer back to General Class before renewal.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

8.2.5. The CDO should consider updating its by-laws by requiring an unanimous 
decision for by-law amendments made outside of Council meetings, or 
disallowing this practise altogether, including fees in the by-laws, and 
placing a ceiling on the number of non-Council members eligible for the 
Executive and other Statutory Committees.        
                                                                                                

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

8.2.5.1. • Require a unanimous decision for by-law amendments made outside of 
Council meetings. 

Revised 
approach.  
See 8.2.5.2 

8.2.5.2. • Disallow the ability to make decisions related to by-law amendments 
outside of Council meetings. 

Complete 

8.2.5.3. • Include fees in the by-laws. 
 

Complete 

8.2.5.4. • Implement a maximum number of non-Council members eligible to 
serve on the Executive and other Statutory Committees.  
Note: Non-Council members are not permitted to sit on the Executive 
Committee. The composition of Statutory Committees, outside any 
requirements described in the by-laws, must be approved by Council.  

Revised 
Approach 

  

106



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

58 
 

9. Elections 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) suggested that the 
College’s March 2010 elections in Districts 1 and 2 were not conducted fully in accordance with certain 
College election by-laws in effect at the time of the elections. Documentation, decisions and events were 
reviewed to determine if implemented procedures complied with current by-laws. An assessment was also 
conducted to establish if conflicts of interest were evident and if decisions made were supported by 
documentation that clearly outlined reasons for making the decision. 
 

9.2.1. Non-compliance with by-laws in place at the time of 2010 council elections  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) suggested that while issues raised by two (2) candidates in the 2010 Council 
elections were satisfactorily addressed, many administrative errors on the part of the Registrar and the 
Election Manager resulted in several instances of non-compliance with the election by-laws in effect at the 
time.  These included: 
 

• failure on the part of the Election Manager to provide members with a return envelope at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the election (By-law 11:01 paragraph (e)). 

• failure on the part of the Registrar to provide a signature envelope sample to the Election 
Manager that was pre-printed with the member’s name and registration number (By-law 11:01 
paragraph (d)). 

• failure on the part of the Election Manager to mail biographical and policy information about 
each candidate thirty (30) days prior to the election (By-law 11:01 paragraph (f)). 

• failure to document in the Council or Executive meeting minutes, the Council’s decision to 
appoint Pristine Printers as an Election Manager to oversee Council elections and By-Elections 
(By-law 5:07). 

• a decision made by the Registrar that instructed the Election Manager to destroy ballots even 
though the election had been challenged and an inquiry was underway (By-law 13:07). 

• a decision made by the Registrar to call a Council meeting to discuss the appeal of the District 1 
election without adhering to the provisions for a Special Council meeting that require: a written 
request from the President which includes all issues to be considered (By-law 21:01),  twenty-
four (24) hours advanced notice given to all Councillors (By-law 21:02), only stated business for 
the Special Council Meeting be addressed unless all Councillors agree unanimously to consider 
other items of business (By-law 21:03) and the quorum rule to apply in the case of a Special 
Council Meeting (By-law 21:04). 

 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the Registrar sent an email to all Council members on June 8, 2010 at 
4:51 pm to inform them of a Special Council meeting on June 9, 2010 to discuss the appeal of the District 1 
election. The Registrar informed Council members that the appeal had been presented to the President and 
that he was calling the teleconference on behalf of the President. Meeting minutes from the teleconference 
were not recorded and formal decisions of the Council were not documented. 
 
The PwC audit team also recognized that failure to comply with certain election by-laws were directly 
attributable to errors made by the Election Manager while other instances suggested either a lack of 
understanding or disregard for the by-laws on the part of the Registrar.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to comply with the by-laws undermines the integrity of the election process which may result in 
a higher risk that the election will be disputed.  

107



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

59 
 

 
Current Status  
Following a review of the documented concerns related to the election inquiry in 2012, the College made a 
decision to introduce use of electronic voting to conduct all elections, eliminating the requirement for 
members to submit paper ballots in a signature envelope.  
 
As a result, administrative requirements associated with the election process, including preparation and 
printing of the Notice of Election and supporting documentation, are managed internally by the 
Coordinator, Office of the Registrar and CEO, which has eliminated the need to appoint an external Election 
Manager.  
 
The Registrar is responsible for the review and approval of all mailing lists and documentation, including the 
Notice of Election and Nomination Package, which are sent by regular mail to all members who live or work 
within the electoral district. A service provider with experience in conducting electronic elections is hired by 
the CDO to execute the election in each district.  
 
Clear election processes have been established and documented that serve to ensure that the Registrar, 
CDO staff who have been assigned election responsibilities, and service providers adequately understand 
the requirements as defined within the election by-laws. 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.1. The Council is accountable for the adherence by the CDO to statutes and laws 
governing the CDO, accordingly the Council should ensure that the 
requirements of the Election by-laws are adequately understood by the 
Registrar as well as any service providers.   The Registrar should also consider 
obtaining positive written confirmation from the Election Manager (and any 
service providers) that all packages are complete and all samples are 
accounted for prior to the mailing of the voting packages. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.1.1. • Ensure the requirements of the Election by-laws are adequately 
understood by the Registrar and service providers.  

Complete  

9.2.1.2. • Obtain positive written confirmation from the Election Manager (and any 
service providers) that all packages are complete and all samples are 
accounted for prior to the mailing of the voting packages.  
Note: The CDO has introduced use of electronic voting to conduct all 
elections which has eliminated the need to involve an external Election 
Manager to prepare and account for all voting packages.  
 

Revised 
Approach 

 
 
 
 
 
 

108



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

60 
 

9.2.2. Reasonable Grounds for Inquiry not documented  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that Council meeting minutes from June 18, 2010 reported the Council 
was unanimous in its opinion that reasonable grounds for doubt or dispute as to the validity of the election 
of the member from District 1 were evident. A basis for the decision made by Council was not documented 
in the minutes.  
 
During an interview with the second Vice President who presided over the Council meeting, it was 
suggested that the reasonable grounds were due to the more than normal number of spoiled ballots in 
District 1 however spoiled ballots in District 2 did not exceed the normal amount. Details contained within 
the Council meeting minutes however did not provide a clear understanding for the basis of the decision.  
 
A discussion with the Registrar indicated that the teleconference Council meeting held on June 9, 2010 to 
discuss the appeal that was received for the District 1 election was an in-camera meeting and discussions 
were not recorded. Subsequently reference of the in-camera session held by Council on June 9, 2010 was 
not documented in the Council meeting minutes that followed on June 18, 2010.  
   
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to document the basis of the Council’s opinion that there were reasonable grounds for doubt or 
dispute as to the validity of the District 1 election results in a lack of transparency around the decision 
and inhibits the assessment of whether the decision was reasonable in the circumstances. 

• Failure to document the fact that Council had in-camera discussions in advance of the formal Council 
meeting results in a lack of transparency around the Council’s consideration of the issues regarding the 
election.  
 

Current Status  
The CDO has introduced standardized processes that include the preparation of a report and meeting 
minutes to ensure a meaningful record of all agenda items discussed at Council is maintained. Action items 
and motions for decisions made are clearly and consistently documented in the meeting minutes. 
Occurrences of all in-camera meetings are also recorded and referenced at the next Council meeting.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.2. The minutes of Council meetings are critical to demonstrate that Council is 
fulfilling its mandate. Minutes should be detailed enough to provide a 
meaningful record of the meeting and so that those not in attendance can 
understand what occurred.  The CDO should ensure that the occurrence of 
all in-camera meetings are documented in the Council meeting minutes to 
provide greater transparency on the activities of the Council. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.2.1. • Ensure minutes are detailed enough to provide a meaningful record of 
the meeting so that those not in attendance can understand what 
occurred.  

Complete 

9.2.2.2. • Ensure the occurrence of all in-camera meetings are documented in the 
Council meeting minutes.  

Complete 

109



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

61 
 

9.2.3. Support for Council’s decisions appears very limited 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted that the documentation prepared following the Council’s decision related to 
the election results of District 1 and District 2 appeared to be very limited and failed to provide a complete 
explanation for the reasons and decisions made.  
 
Reasons documented within the ORA Report (2012) which were also outlined in “The Report of Council on 
the Inquiry relation to the election of the member from District 1” (“Council Inquiry Report”), seemingly 
provided a summary of purported facts regarding the election process and results rather than explanations 
for why the election results were deemed to be invalid.  
 
It also appeared that the basis for invalidating the election offered an incomplete consideration of the issue 
and contained a significant omission that resulted in non-compliance with the by-laws. Additionally, the 
Council Inquiry Report indicated that decisions had been made without the need to rely on portions of the 
Registrar’s report given that the report provided by the Election Manager was thought to offer more 
relevant facts.  
 
The PwC audit team highlighted the fact that a report from the Election Manager had not been requested in 
the past. During a discussion, the Election Manager indicated that the Registrar asked her to include in the 
report that a recommendation that re-election of District 1 take place. The Election Manager provided the 
report to the Registrar several weeks after the date of the election which did not include any discussion or 
analysis with respect to the by-laws of the College governing the election process.  
 
In addition, discussions with the Election Manager revealed that she had very little experience acting as an 
Election Manager prior to assuming the role for the CDO in 2009.  Her experience working with other 
organizations had been limited to printing election materials.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Incomplete and/or inconsistent reasoning to support Council’s decision could result in an ambiguous 
decision which may not be clearly understood and difficult to defend.   

• The appearance of incomplete or inconsistent reasoning increases the risk that the decision is not 
objective or impartial.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO documents all decisions made by Council and provides a detailed explanation for the basis of each 
decision. In addition to providing a formal record, consideration is also given to the preparation of meeting 
minutes that provides Council members who were absent from a meeting with an understanding of 
decisions and reasons made by Council.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.3. We recommend that the Council provide a complete and detailed 
explanation for the basis of its decisions. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.3.1. • Provide a complete and detailed explanation for the basis of all Council 
decisions. 

Complete 

110



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

62 
 

9.2.4. Involvement of the President and Registrar in election  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the involvement of the President and the Registrar in certain aspects 
of the election process and inquiry raised the perception of potential conflict of interest. It was noted that 
the President was involved in the election in other capacities including acting as scrutineer, being a 
candidate in District 2, engaging in discussions with contesting candidates, and participating in the June 9, 
2010 Council teleconference meeting; all of which could be perceived as lacking independent judgement.   
 
The Registrar who was appointed by Council to conduct the inquiry into the 2010 Council elections was 
involved from the beginning of the election process by providing templates and instructions to the Election 
Manager and attending the counting of the ballots. Subsequently the Registrar authorized the destruction 
of ballots involved in the inquiry after being appointed to oversee the inquiry.  
 
The conduct of the Registrar was also questionable given his decision to request a report from the Election 
Manager detailing her observations and conclusions, a decision that had not been made prior to 2009 and 
that was in contravention of By-law 10:03 which stated that “the Election Manager shall be responsible to 
honestly and accurately count the votes in each election, record the results of each count and thereby 
determine the result of each election”. 
 
In addition, the Registrar contacted people whose ballots were spoiled to determine their intention of 
voting, a step that is not in compliance with By-law 12:01 (b) which stipulates that the Election manager 
must examine the signature envelopes to see whether they display the signature of a member entitled to 
vote. Given that there were no requirements within the by-law to determine the voter’s intentions in order 
to assess whether the ballots were spoiled or not, the Registrar’s conduct appeared to be inappropriate in 
light of the possibility of a potential re-election.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure on the part of the President to immediately declare a conflict of interest on June 7, 2010 when it 
became clear that the contesting candidate was seeking to appeal the election results increases the risk 
for a lack objectivity and impartiality around the Council’s decision which provided reasonable grounds 
for doubt about the validity of the election.  

• Relying on the Registrar as the person to conduct the inquiry into the election of the Council member 
for District 1 increased the risk of a lack of independence of the process and the existence of conflict of 
interest, especially given the Registrar’s heavy involvement of the election process.  

 
Current Status  
Recognizing the concerns related to conflict of interest at multiple levels within the organization, the 
College has implemented conflict of interest requirements to address multiple situations and 
circumstances, including the election process, that could be improperly influenced on the part of an 
individual or be perceived as doing so.  
 
Requirements related to conflicts of interest are applicable to Council members, Committee members, CDO 
staff, consultants and temporary staff; all of whom are responsible for disclosing and managing conflicts of 
interest.  
 
In an effort to continuously emphasize the importance of disclosing and managing conflicts of interest, all 
representatives of the CDO are provided with a copy of the Letter of Understanding: Conflict of Interest for 
Council and Committee Members, a laminated document containing the CDO mission statement, the 

111



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

63 
 

mandate of the College, and the organization’s objectives. Each CDO representative is required to sign a 
Confidentiality Agreement and Letter of Understanding that is retained in accordance with the College’s 
Record Retention policy.  
 
Potential conflict of interest scenarios are also regularly discussed at staff, Council and Committee 
meetings. In instances where an individual is unsure if a potential situation presents a conflict, legal counsel 
is obtained.  
 
From an election process perspective, steps have been taken to address potential conflicts of interest with 
the introduction of electronic voting. Formalized procedures have been put in place that ensure only 
authorized individuals (e.g. the Registrar, Coordinator, Office of Registrar and CEO, and appointed service 
providers) are involved in the election process.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.4. Although the Code of Conduct and Governance policy includes a brief 
discussion on Conflicts of Interest, we recommend that a more robust 
Conflict of Interest policy be implemented that includes discussion of the 
following types of conflict of interest; situation or circumstance that could 
improperly influence the person’s objective, unbiased and impartial exercise 
of his or her independent judgement, or could be perceived as doing so, or 
situation or circumstance that could compromise, impair or be incompatible 
with the person’s effective performance of his or her contractual 
obligations, or be perceived as doing so.     
                                                                                                                                                            
The policy should include requirements with respect to Council, Committee 
and CDO staff disclosing and managing Conflicts of Interests.  The policy 
should provide examples of what may be a conflict of interest and the 
requirement to disclose and recuse oneself from any discussions and/or 
decisions regarding the matter giving rise to the potential conflict of 
interest. 
                                                                                                                      
To avoid any conflict of interest, Candidate representatives who attend the 
counting of the ballots should not be current Council members or any 
otherwise involved in the election process, such as other candidates. For any 
future inquiries that may arise from elections, the person who is leading the 
inquiry should be independent of that election process.  
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.4.1. • Implement a more robust Conflict of Interest policy to address situations 
or circumstances that could improperly influence the person’s objective, 
unbiased and impartial exercise of his or her independent judgement, or 
could be perceived as doing so and situations or circumstances that 
could compromise, impair or be incompatible with the person’s effective 
performance of his or her contractual obligations, or be perceived as 
doing so.  
Note: The CDO has introduced standardized conflict of interest 
requirements which are applicable to all CDO representatives. 

Revised 
Approach 

112



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

64 
 

9.2.4.2. • Ensure the Conflict of Interest policy includes requirements with respect 
to Council, Committee and CDO staff disclosing and managing conflicts 
of interest.  
Note: Requirements that address conflicts of interest are defined with 
the CDO’s Letter of Understanding: Conflict of Interest for Council and 
Committee Members. Council members, Committee members, CDO 
staff, consultants and temporary staff are responsible for disclosing and 
managing conflicts of interest as set out in the Confidentiality 

Agreement and Letter of Understanding.   

Revised 
Approach 

9.2.4.3. • Provide examples within the Conflict of Interest policy of what may be a 
conflict of interest and the requirement to disclose and recuse oneself 
from any discussion and/or decisions regarding the matter giving rise to 
the potential conflict of interest.  
Note: CDO staff and Council members engage in frequent conversations 
around conflict of interest that include the provision of examples.  

Revised 
Approach 

9.2.4.4. • Ensure candidate representatives who attend the counting of the ballots 
are not current Council members or otherwise involved in the election 
process (e.g. other candidates).  
Note: The CDO has implemented use of electronic elections which 
eliminates the involvement of external representatives.  

Revised 
Approach 

9.2.4.5. • Ensure the person who is leading the inquiry is independent of the 
election process.  

Complete 

 

9.2.5. Fairness and impartiality of new election by-laws. 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted a review of the election by-laws that were implemented in March 2011 
indicated a change to By-law 8:01 (b) (i) which stated that “members must be a denturist for at least five (5) 
years prior to being eligible for Council” and suggested that the change may have an adverse impact on the 
fairness and impartiality of the election process.  
 
This requirement was compared to the by-laws for the College of Alberta Denturists which did not specify a 
period, and the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario which specified a required time period of thirty (30) 
days.  
 
An additional change was also noted in By-law 11:01 which indicated that “a signature is no longer required 
on the envelope containing the ballot”. It was suggested that requiring a signature on the envelope 
containing the ballot is a good practice to ensure the validity of the ballot, even though the by-laws for both 
the College of Alberta Denturists and the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario did not stipulate this 
requirement.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Enforcing a requirement for members to have a minimum of five (5) years of experience prior to being 
eligible for Council could have an adverse impact on fairness and may not provide the best pool of 
qualified candidates.  

• Failure to require a signature on the ballot envelope increases the risk of election fraud as a result of 
the Election Manager not being able to confirm that the member who is entitled to vote is the person 
who submitted the ballot.  
 

113



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

65 
 

Current Status  
The by-laws which previously required that a member have a minimum of five (5) years of experience prior 
to being eligible for Council is no longer in effect.  
 
The CDO has also introduced use of electronic voting to conduct district elections across the province which 
has eliminated concerns related to spoiled ballots and the requirement for the member’s signature to 
appear on the envelope to ensure validity of the ballot.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.5. The CDO should revise the by-law requiring a minimum of five (5) years of 
experience to ensure that all denturists are provided the opportunity to be 
elected to Council.       
                                                                                                                  
We recommend that the CDO revise the by-law to require signature on the 
ballot envelope as this is a good control practice to ensure the validity of the 
ballots. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.5.1. • Revise the by-law requiring a minimum of five (5) years of experience to 
ensure all denturists are provided the opportunity to be elected to 
Council.  

Complete 

9.2.5.2. • Revise the by-law to require signature on the ballot envelope to ensure 
the validity of the ballots.  
Note: The CDO has introduced use of electronic voting to conduct 
elections.  

Revised 
Approach 

 
9.2.6. No representative for district 1 sat on the council during the inquiry process 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted that the Registrar prevented the elected candidate for District 1 from sitting 
in the meetings as a member of Council, receiving the meeting agenda and introductory materials as a new 
member and attending in-camera portions of the meeting due to the fact that an inquiry was being 
conducted.  This decision which resulted in District 1 not being represented during the June 2010 Council 
meeting.  
 
However, the by-laws did not state that elected members of Council cannot hold their position on Council if 
an inquiry is underway. Despite the significance of the action, the basis for the decision was unclear and the 
matter was not documented.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Members of District 1 were not represented at Council meetings held during the period between the 
election on June 2, 2010 and re-election on September 30. 2010.  
 

Current Status  
To ensure the CDO is adequately prepared to handle election inquiries in the future, internal protocols to 
clarify the process for Council meetings and the rationale for adopting appropriate procedures when an 

114



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

66 
 

election inquiry takes place are defined in By-law Article 20. A review of other health regulatory Colleges to 
determine appropriate practices for Council meetings when an election inquiry is made is in progress. 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

9.2.6. Internal procedures should be established to clarify the process for Council 
meetings when an election inquiry takes place.  The CDO should conduct peer 
review of other regulatory bodies to determine what constitutes appropriate 
practice in this situation and document its rationale for any procedures 
adopted. The CDO should also implement deadlines for the completion of an 
inquiry and re-election date to ensure that the inquiry and re-election occur 
expeditiously. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

9.2.6.1. • Establish internal procedure to clarify the process for Council meetings 
when an election inquiry takes place.  

Complete 

9.2.6.2. • Conduct a peer review of other regulatory bodies to determine what 
constitutes appropriate practice for Council meetings when an election 
inquiry takes place.  

Complete 

9.2.6.3. • Document the rationale for adopting appropriate procedures for Council 
meetings when an election inquiry takes place.  

Complete 

 

  

115



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

67 
 

10. Council and Employee Expenses 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) suggested Council and 
employee expenses were inconsistently managed resulting in the reimbursement of claimed expenses 
without sufficient supporting documentation.  
 

10.2.1. Employee and Council member expense claims do not have itemized receipts included 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
During the Operational Audit and Review (2012) it was noted that 2 of the 5 employee expense reports that 
were paid out in 2010/2011 did not contain many receipts or supporting documentation indicating a failure 
to comply with the requirements of By-law 35:08 (a) that stated, “all expenses, other than meal allowances, 
must have been actually incurred and must be accompanied by receipts or vouchers”.  
 
Additionally, the PwC audit team found evidence of expenses being reimbursed based on the submission of 
an employee’s personal credit card statement where certain items were deemed to be College expenses.   
However, no itemized receipts were attached. In another instance re-imbursement of Canadian Pension 
Plan (CPP) to a CDO staff member was made as per terms of the employee’s employment agreement which 
was based on a calculation by the Bookkeeper.  No supporting documentation was included.  
 
Reimbursement of transportation expenses related to parking, personal use of an automobile and taxi fare 
without a receipt or supporting documentation were also highlighted as a concern given the apparent non-
compliance with By-law 38:08 (a).  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Expense claims without itemized receipts or supporting documentation could lead to inappropriate 
and/or ineligible expenses being approved and paid.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a process which requires submission of a signed expense report, itemized receipts 
or supporting documentation. Expense claims are not paid until all required documentation has been 
received.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation OAR (2012) 
Reference 

10.2.1. All expenses claimed by employees and Council members must be 
supported with itemized receipts, detailing the individual items purchased 
or services provided, or other appropriate documentation that supports the 
claim. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.1. • Ensure all expense claims by employees and Council members are 
supported with itemized receipts, detailing the individual items 
purchased or services provided, and other appropriate documentation 
to support the claim.  

Complete 

 

116



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

68 
 

10.2.2. Employee and Council member expenses are claimed without written rationale for 
expenses  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that documentation to explain the rationale for submitted expense claims 
was not provided resulting in the PwC audit team being unable to confirm the validity of the expenses 
claimed. The nature of the expenses claimed included computer equipment, food, office supplies and 
restaurant receipts that exceeded per diems outlined in the expense policy. In each of the samples tested, it 
was unclear if the expenses claimed were incurred while conducting approved CDO business.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to enforce a requirement to provide the reason for each expense being claimed could result in 
non-allowable expenses incurred for items or events that are not for CDO approved business being 
paid.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a new expense policy which requires that all individuals provide clear rationale for 
submitted expenses. All CDO staff and Council members are advised of the expense policy and provided 
with parameters that clearly identify per diems and items that are considered to be an acceptable expense.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.2. The CDO should consider implementing a Business Expense, Travel and 
Entertainment policy.  It should require that all expense claims be 
accompanied with an explanation as to the nature of the expense claim and 
the reason it was incurred. The policy should also detail the maximum 
amount per person can be charged for meals and drinks at social events, such 
as Holiday Parties. For all meals that are expensed, that are not per diems, 
the nature of the meeting should be documented along with all attendees 
and which organizations they represent. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.2.1. • Implement a Business Expense, Travel and Entertainment policy that 
details the maximum amount per person that can be charged for meals 
and drinks at social events (e.g. holiday parties). 

Complete 

10.2.2.2. • Ensure all expense claims are accompanied with an explanation as to the 
nature of the expense claim and the reason it was incurred.  

Complete 

10.2.2.3. • Document the nature of the meeting, the attendees and organization 
they represent for all meals expense which are not per diems.  

Complete 

 
10.2.3. Employee and Council member expense claims were for items incurred more than 60 
days prior to claim submission 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Even though By-law 35:08(g) stated that “all claims must be recorded on for the forms established by the 
College and must be submitted within 60 days of being incurred or the claim will be forfeited”, the PwC 
audit team indicated in the ORA Report (2012) that the majority of CDO staff and Council member expense 
claims were incurred more than sixty (60) days prior to when the expense was submitted. In each of the 

117



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

69 
 

instances reviewed, the expense was paid even though the maximum number of allowable days had been 
exceeded.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Payment of out-dated expenses could lead to inaccurate financial statement accounts as a result of 
expenses potentially being attributed to the wrong financial period.  

 
Current Status  
In addition to providing new CDO staff and Council members with information that addresses procedures 
for the reimbursement of expense claims and timelines for submission, existing staff and Council members 
are provided with regular reminders to ensure incurred expenses are submitted within sixty (60) days from 
the date the purchase was made. As required, submitted expense claims that exceed the sixty (60) day 
timeframe are addressed on a case by case basis.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.3. Staff and Council members should receive remedial training regarding the 
required timeliness of submission of expenses. Expense claims that are 
submitted after 60 days of the expenses being incurred should be declined, 
as per the by-law. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.3.1. • Provide staff and Council members with remedial training regarding the 
required timeliness of submission of expenses.  

Complete 

10.2.3.2. • Decline payment of expenses submitted after 60 days, as per the by-law. 
By-law 35.08 was rescinded and replaced by Schedule 6 of the current by-
laws.  The 60-day requirement for submission of expense claims has been 
removed.   
 

Revised 
Approach 

 

10.2.4. Employee and Council member expense claims are submitted without proper form 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that established expense forms were not in place for employee expenses 
during 2010/2011 fiscal year resulting in only receipts or statements being submitted. During the same time 
period, standard forms were required to be completed by Council members for honoraria and expenses; 
however, it was noted in some of the test cases that submitted expenses did not include a completed form.  
 
During a discussion with CDO staff it appeared likely that honoraria was paid automatically by the College 
without submission of an expense claim. It was also noted that current policies permitted the payment of 
honoraria for teleconferences that were automatically paid on a quarterly basis and relied on conference 
call provider documentation as support for payment. In all other instances honoraria had to be claimed by 
the Council member.  
 
A review of submitted expenses from Council members indicated that the policy was not being followed in 
practice during the timeframe established for the review. The only supporting documentation available to 
confirm reimbursement of the expenses was a journal entry recording in “Simply Accounting” which made 
it unclear as to which Council or Committee teleconferences each member attended to earn the honoraria.  

118



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

70 
 

Risk Description (2012) 

• Payment of expenses submitted without the expense form is not in compliance with by-law 
requirements.  

• Failure to document the purpose for the expense makes it difficult to confirm the expense is valid.  
 
Current Status  
The College has introduced standardized expense forms that are used by College staff and Council members 
when expense claims are submitted for reimbursement. Payment is only provided when the expense form 
is completed in full and all supporting documentation is submitted.   
 
The CDO continues to pay honoraria for Council and Committee meetings held by teleconference. 
Teleconference attendance is confirmed using information provided on reports from the conference call 
provider.  This information is retained as evidence of participation.   
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.4. Expense forms must be completed for all employee and Council member 
expense claims. All fields in the expense forms must be filled out prior to the 
expense claim being processed. Expenses should not be reimbursed until all 
the necessary documentation is provided. 
 
For the honouraria that are paid out by the CDO without the need for the 
Council member to complete an expense form, the Recite conference call 
report evidencing that individual dialled into the call should be attached to 
the journal entry. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.4.1. • Ensure expense forms are completed for all employee and Council 
member expense claims.  

Complete 

10.2.4.2. • Require completion of all fields in the expense form prior to the expense 
claim being processed.  

Complete 

10.2.4.3. • Reimburse expense claims only after all necessary documentation is 
provided.  

Complete 

10.2.4.4. • Attach Recite conference call evidence to the journal entry for each 
Council member who called in prior to paying honoraria that do not 
require completion of an expense form.    

Complete 

 
10.2.5. Approval of expenses for employee and Council members is not consistently 
documented 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
Findings of the PwC audit team indicated that the approval of expense claims for employees and Council 
members was not consistently in evidence. In more than half of the claims submitted by Council members, 
documentary evidence of approval by the Registrar or Quality Assurance Coordinator was not provided. In 
addition, all of the employee expense claims did not have documentary evidence of approval from the 
Registrar.  
 

119



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

71 
 

It was noted that while the by-laws do not specify a requirement for expense claim approval, it is standard 
control practice to have expense claims approved by an independent person prior to being processed for 
payment.  
  
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to require approval of submitted expenses could result in the payment of expenses not incurred 
for CDO business. 

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced a delegation of authority matrix that requires expense claims paid in excess of 
$5000.00 be approved by the Registrar and a member of Council. Other expense claims are approved by 
the Registrar or the Coordinator, Operations and Examinations.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.5. The CDO should consider implementing a delegation of authority matrix that 
outlines the monetary levels for expense claims that staff members and 
Council members have the authority to spend. The matrix should also include 
the monetary levels that staff members and Council members have the 
authority to approve for payment. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.5.1. • Implement a delegation of authority matrix that outlines the monetary 
levels for expense claims that staff members and Council members have 
the authority to spend.  

Complete 

10.2.5.2. • Ensure the delegation of authority matrix includes the monetary levels 
that staff members and Council members have the authority to approve 
for payment.  

Complete 

 

10.2.6. Payments of employee and Council Members expenses are not properly approved 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that the number of signatories required for payment approval of 
employee and Council member expenses is not outlined in the by-laws. The agreement with TD Bank 
outlined three (3) signatories for the bank account; two (2) of which were required to sign cheques.  
 
During the Operational Audit and Review (2012) it was noted that the majority of expense claims submitted 
by Council members were paid by a cheque signed by two (2) signatories. Of the employee expense claims 
reviewed, one of the three cheques were issued with only one (1) signature and the remaining two (2) 
claims were paid by direct deposit. Documentation to confirm who approved the payment was unavailable. 
Discussions with the Registrar and Bookkeeper indicated that only 1person was required to process a direct 
deposit or electronic fund transfer which resulted in inconsistent criteria for the payment of expense 
claims.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Expenses paid without proper authorization may not be valid expenses. 
 
 

120



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

72 
 

Current Status  
The CDO continues to abide by a policy that requires all cheques issued for expense claims from Council 
members or employees be signed by two (2) signatories. Currently all payments are issued by cheque.  
While the Registrar, the Coordinator, Operations and Examinations, and specified Council members are 
authorized signatories, the CDO is in the process of formalizing a delegation of authority matrix that 
outlines and specifies the roles and individuals who have been assigned the responsibility.     
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.6. All employee and Council member expense claim payments should be 
approved by two authorized signatories. These signatories should be 
documented in the delegation of authority matrix. 
 
The College should also inquire with the bank as to how to set up EFT 
payments that require two authorizations prior to being released. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.6.1. • Ensure all employee and Council member expense claim payments are 
approved by two authorized signatories.  

Complete 

10.2.6.2. • Ensure authorized signatories are documented in the delegation of 
authority matrix.   
Note: The signing authority matrix is detailed in Articles 3.01, 3.02 and 
4.03-4.08 of the College By-laws 

Complete 

10.2.6.3. • Inquire with the bank about the process for setting up EFT payments that 
require two authorizations prior to being released.  
Note: The CDO has elected not to proceed with EFT payments. Policies 
have been introduced which require two signatures on all cheques.  

Eliminated  

 
10.2.7. Per diem expenses not in compliance with by-laws 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted that a review of Council member expenses claimed during the 2010/2011 
fiscal year, indicated a number of issues of by-law non-compliance; an expense claim for two dinner per 
diems and dinner charged to the hotel room as part of the accommodation amount and dinner per diems 
claimed above established criteria.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to ensure that per diem criteria are met may result in invalid expenses being paid.  
 
Current Status  
The CDO provides information to new Council members and regularly reminds existing Council members of 
per diem amounts as outlined in the By-Law Schedules 5 and 6 – Honoraria and Common Valid Expenses.  
 
Submitted expense claims are reviewed and confirmed to be in compliance with by-law requirements prior 
to a reimbursement being provided.  
 
 

121



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

73 
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.7. All staff and Council members should be reminded of the criteria that apply 
to the dinner per diem. The CDO should also consider having Council 
members indicate which criteria are applicable for the per diems on the 
expense claim. All approvers of the expense claims should review each per 
diem claimed to ensure that the criteria are met before they approve the 
expense claim for processing and payment. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

10.2.7.1. • Remind all staff and Council members of criteria for dinner per diem.  
 

Complete 

10.2.7.2. • Require that all Council members indicate which criteria are applicable 
for the per diems on the expense claim.  

Complete 

10.2.7.3. • Ensure all approvers of the expense claims review each per diem claimed 
to ensure the criteria are met before the expense claim is approved for 
processing and payment.  

Complete 

 

10.2.8. Honorarium claims not in compliance with by-laws. 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The PwC audit team found that honorarium claims were not in compliance with the by-laws in two of the 
instances reviewed. In these instances, full day expense claims were paid despite evidence to confirm that 
the Council meetings were half days.  
 
In other instances, honoraria were paid for Committee work but meeting minutes were not recorded and 
details provided by the Committee member on the expense form failed to include the purpose and length 
of the meeting.  
 
Additionally, honoraria were paid to Council members for attendance at Committee meetings for which 
they were not members and the meeting minutes did not list the members as attendees at the meetings. 
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to comply with the honorarium claim policy may result in honoraria being paid for unapproved 
Committee work or time actually spent conducting Committee work.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has communicated the criteria for honoraria claims to all Council members that require 
submission of details to confirm the date, time and details of any Committee work completed. Honoraria 
expense claims are paid in accordance with by-law requirements.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

10.2.8. All honouraria claimed should be supported with details of the criteria met, 
such as length of meeting, details of Committee work, and if approved by 
Council. 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

122



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

74 
 

10.2.8.1. • Ensure all honoraria claims are supported with details of the criteria met 
including the length of the meeting, details of Committee work and if the 
claim is approved by Council.  

Complete 

 

  

123



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

75 
 

11. Financial Performance 
A review of revenue and expenses for fiscal 2010 and 2011 indicated that the key trend going forward was 
a positive net income for the CDO. Two key drivers of this trend were noted: examination revenues 
exceeding expenses and a general decline in Committee related expenses.  
 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) suggested that a decline in 
expenses, such as Committee honoraria, could reduce the CDO’s ability to serve the public interest by 
maintaining processes, standards, knowledge and skills. In light of the findings for improvement throughout 
the areas under review, the sustainability of the surplus was questionable given the work that needed to be 
done by CDO staff, Council and Committees to rectify deficiencies identified throughout the ORA Report 
(2012). 
 
In addition, many deficiencies were noted regarding the general oversight of the financial performance of 
the College by Council and the Finance Committee. The review of employee and Council member expenses 
also identified many weaknesses in the internal controls over expense reports.  
 

11.2.1. Limited role of the Finance Committee  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that, from interviews with members of the Finance Committee and a 
review of materials, the Finance Committee was being granted limited access to financial records. 
Additionally, interactions with Council members pertaining to budgetary considerations also appeared to 
be limited.  
 
It was noted that while Finance Committee meetings were called at the discretion of the Treasurer, only 
3meetings had been held since the Committee was created in 2009. Minutes were reviewed for the 
December 2009 and January 2011 meetings but minutes for the February 2011 meeting were unavailable 
when the Operational Audit and Review (2012) was conducted.    
 
Minutes from the December 2009 indicated that a motion was approved that established the mandate of 
the Finance Committee to “review specific financial issues at the request of the Treasurer and to make 
recommendations to the Treasurer regarding these issues”. The previous Finance Committee mandate 
provided that the Committee would review issues at the request of Council and make recommendations to 
Council regarding the issues. The minutes clarified that, with respect to the issue, motions passed by the 
Finance Committee were in the form of recommendations to the Treasurer and prior to implementation of 
the recommendations needed they were to be considered by the Executive Committee or Council.  
 
In addition, the budget approved by Council in March 2009 and presented to the Finance Committee in 
December 2009 showed a net deficit of $184K. A review of meeting minutes highlighted that the figure 
differed from the net deficits of $201K in June 2009 and $209K in September both of which were presented 
to Council.  No further details relating to budget variances were provided in the minutes. Minutes from the 
January 2011 meeting however indicated that the 2012 fiscal budget presented by the Treasurer projected 
a net surplus of $32K.  
 
Agenda and meeting materials discussed at each of the meetings were not available. Instead it was 
suggested that members of the Finance Committee had reviewed materials via an overhead projector. 
Committee members, with the exception of the Treasurer, were not provided with copies of the financial 
information discussed.  
Risk Description (2012) 

124



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

76 
 

• Failure to provide the Finance Committee with detailed financial information prior to the meetings 
increases the risk that Committee members will not have sufficient time to review and analyze financial 
results.  

• Key discussion points on budget concerns may not be adequately discussed without access to financial 
information.  

• The lack of timely preparation and distribution of meeting minutes inhibits accountability over 
Committee activities and could result in action items not being addressed.  

•  The process whereby Council is only aware of issues to the extent that the Finance Committee makes a 
recommendation to the Treasurer which is then vetted by the Executive Committee before being raised 
with Council serves to limit the information Council receives on financial matters and therefore inhibits 
their ability to ensure finances are being managed properly.  

 
Current Status  
Responsibilities previously held by the Finance Committee have been assumed by the Executive Committee. 
At a minimum, meetings are held on a quarterly basis. All meeting materials, including financial records and 
updated budget information are distributed to members of the Executive Committee for review and 
analysis in advance of each meeting date. Minutes are recorded and retained, detailing discussion items 
and Committee decisions.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

11.2.1. The CDO should provide agendas and meeting materials to members of the 
Finance Committee in advance of meetings so that they are more prepared 
when the meeting is held.  Moreover, the CDO should allow Finance 
Committee members to retain presentation materials for reference 
purposes. 
 
The CDO should develop a revised mandate for the Finance Committee that 
has a broader scope, more typical of this type of a Committee in a similar 
organization. 
 
The Finance Committee should hold more frequent meetings.  We 
recommend that at a minimum the Finance Committee meet on a quarterly 
basis. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

11.2.1.1. • Provide agendas and meeting materials to members of the Finance 
Committee in advance of meetings.  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. Agendas and meeting materials are provided to 
members in advance of meetings.   

Revised 
Approach 

11.2.1.2. • Allow Finance Committee members to retain presentation materials for 
reference purposes.  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. Members are permitted to retain presentation 
materials for reference purposes.   

Revised 
Approach 

125



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

77 
 

11.2.1.3. • Develop a revised mandate for the Finance Committee that has a broader 
scope which is more typical of this type of a Committee in a similar 
organization.  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee.  

Revised 
Approach 

11.2.1.4. • Ensure the Finance Committee meet at least on a quarterly basis.  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. Meetings are held at least on a quarterly basis.  

Revised 
Approach 

 

11.2.2. Significant budget fluctuations  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) provided a general summary of the budgeting process and the parties involved in 
the process that included the Registrar, Treasurer, Finance Committee, and Council. A review of actual 
budget results for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 were compared and large variances between annual budgeted 
revenues and expenditures were noted.  
 
In addition, many budget variances were discovered that indicated a history of significant budget 
fluctuations. As a result, it was suggested that the absence of a Finance Committee that regularly reviews 
revenues and expenses, and engages each Committee member to provide financial leadership to Council, 
may have contributed to poor budgeting and lack of oversight of the budget to actual results.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Poor budgeting may lead to an inability to appropriately define priorities and focus on expenditures in 
key areas necessary to ensure the CDO’s mandate to regulate the profession and protect public interest 
is met.  

• Weak budgeting practices increase the risk of unplanned expenditures.  

• Poor oversight of the budget to actual results may impair the CDO’s ability to identify problems and 
respond quickly to unplanned expenditures. 

• Poor oversight of the budget to actual results may result in failure to provide on-going monitoring of 
actual financial performance in relation to the CDO’s mandate (e.g. activities of the Committees). 

• Poor oversight of the budget to actual results may impair the CDO’s ability to guide financial decision 
making over the course of the fiscal year.  

 
Current Status  
As indicated in item 11.2.1., the College Council has dissolved the Finance Committee and assigned 
responsibilities for financial oversight of the organization to the Executive Committee. In addition, College 
staff members are actively engaged in an internal process to prepare departmental budgetary 
requirements prior to submitting documentation to Council for final approval.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

11.2.2. Based on our review of the budgeting process, it appears that the CDO may 
not have sufficient or capable resources to prepare a reasonable estimate of 
budgeted revenues and expenses.  As such, the CDO could consider seeking 
Finance Committee members with additional experience in accounting and 
budgeting (e.g. non-council members within the denturist industry who may 
have more experience with budgeting and accounting); and mandating that 
the Finance Committee meet on a periodic basis (e.g. at least quarterly).  We 

 

126



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

78 
 

recommend that the CDO consider requiring the various Committees to 
provide more rigorous analysis of their key revenue and expense drivers 
when submitting estimates for the fiscal year. 
 
In addition to the annual budgeting process, the CDO could also consider 
having the Finance Committee review the budget on a semi-annual basis, 
such that any significant actual to budget variances that come to light can be 
addressed within the fiscal year by the Finance Committee, Treasurer and 
Registrar; collectively, they could provide an updated budget to Council for 
review and approval. 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

11.2.2.1. • Seek Finance Committee members with additional experience in 
accounting and budgeting (e.g. non-council members within the 
denturist industry who may have more experience with budgeting and 
accounting).  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. 

Revised 
Approach 

11.2.2.2. • Mandate that the Finance Committee meet on a periodic basis (e.g. at 
least quarterly).  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. Meetings are held throughout the year with a 
minimum of one time per quarter.  

Revised 
Approach 

11.2.2.3. • Implement a requirement for various committees to provide more 
rigorous analysis of their key revenue and expense drivers when 
submitting estimates for the fiscal year.  

• Note: CDO staff members discuss the preparation of budgets internally 
prior to submitting documentation to Council for final approval.  

Revised 
Approach 

11.2.2.4. • Introduce a requirement for the Finance Committee to review the budget 
on a semi-annual basis to address significant actual to budget variances 
with the fiscal year which can subsequently be addressed by the Finance 
Committee, Treasurer, and Registrar prior to an update budget being 
provided to Council for review and approval.  
Note: The Executive Committee has assumed responsibilities of the 
Finance Committee. Meeting are held throughout the year with a 
minimum of one time per quarter. Significant variances are addressed by 
the Executive Committee prior to being provided to the Council for 
review and approval.   

Revised 
Approach 

 

11.2.3. Incomplete and inaccurate information provided to Council 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) indicated that financial information presented at Council meetings in June 2011 and 
December 2010 was misrepresented. Reports did not provide qualitative explanations for large variances 
from prior budget or actual results. In some instances, figures failed to present dollar and percentage 
changes from the fiscal budget or the prior year’s actual results. Additionally, a foot note error was noted in 
the fiscal 2011 budget that was approved by Council that indicated a budgeted net surplus of $6.5K; 
however budgeted revenues and expenses were $813K and $966K resulting in a $153K deficit.   

127



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

79 
 

 
Risk Description (2012) 

• The lack of comparative financial information and the provision of inaccurate information undermine 
the Council’s ability to oversee the financial stewardship of the CDO.  

 
Current Status  
As recommended in the ORA Report (2012), the College has introduced a multi-level review process that 
ensures that Council receives complete and accurate financial information on a quarterly basis. Information 
presented ensures all financial statements are supported with documented explanations and reasons for 
large variances are clearly identified.  
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

11.2.3. We recommend increased granularity in the financial information presented 
to the Council for approval. Measures to improve transparency include 
presenting financial statements with comparative financial information 
(including dollar and percentage changes) and with documented 
explanations, on a line-by- line basis, for large variances. 
 
We recommend that the CDO consider a multi-level review process to ensure 
that financial information presented to the Council are complete and 
accurate, and free of any calculation errors. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

11.2.3.1. • Present financial statements with comparative financial information 
(including dollar and percentage changes) and documented explanations, 
on a line-by-line basis, for large variances.  

Complete 

11.2.3.2. • Introduce a multi-level review process to ensure that financial 
information presented to the Council are complete, accurate and free of 
any calculation errors.  

Complete 

 

11.2.4. Examinations are generating a profit 
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The analysis of examination revenues and expenses indicated a trend from fiscal 2009 to the date the audit 
was conducted that suggested that examinations were generating a profit for the organization.  
 
It was noted that the revenue generated by examination fees were higher than the actual cost of providing 
the services. A trend of increasing examination revenues and decreasing examination expenses were also 
identified. In addition a review of examination fees suggested that College examination fees were 
significantly higher when compared to other Denturism Regulatory Colleges in Canada.   
 
From an expense perspective, a large decrease in honoraria submitted for reimbursement by Assessors was 
noted.  This appeared to be the result of a decline in the daily honoraria from an average of $625 per 
Assessor in 2010 to $425 per Assessor in 2011.   
 
It appeared that a reduction in expenses, and an increase in examination revenues resulted in the 
examination process generating a profit.  

128



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

80 
 

 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Failure to provide documented disclosure to the Qualifying Examination Committee and to the Council 
regarding the basis on which the examinations are considered revenue-neutral results in a lack of 
transparency regarding exam-related revenues and expenses.  

• The lack of documentation to support exam-related revenues and expenses limits the ability of Council 
to adequately determine examination fees are both fair to students and reasonably cover expenses.  

• The inability to accurately determine the cost of the examination process raises concerns as to whether 
the CDO is fulfilling its mandate to regulate, develop and govern the profession while serving the public 
interest.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has established fixed costs associated with administering the Qualifying Examinations twice per 
year. Historically, the Summer examination administration is offered to a larger number of candidates 
compared to the Winter examination administration. Examination fees fluctuate based on the number of 
candidates who apply to attempt the examinations. 
 
In instances where fees collected exceed the fixed costs to administer the examinations, the funds are held 
over and applied to the next administration.  In most cases this produces a revenue-neutral result when 
reviewed on an annual basis.  
 
Qualifying Examination fixed costs and revenues are reviewed after both the Summer and Winter 
examination administrations. An update is provided to the Qualifying Examination Committee and Council 
in the Financial Statements which includes a detailed description of the fixed costs and revenues generated. 
 
A preliminary review of examination fees imposed on candidates by other health regulatory professions 
indicated that the examination fees currently charged by the College to administer the examinations are 
consistent with those charged by other, comparable Colleges.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

11.2.4. The Qualifying Examination Committee and Council should be provided with 
a detailed analysis of the Registrar’s assessment of the examination’s cost. 
This assessment should include a detailed description of the assumptions 
used and provide an explanation of how this calculation reconciles to the 
revenues and expenses per the Financial Statements. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

11.2.4.1. • Provide the Qualifying Examination Committee and Council with a 
detailed analysis of the Registrar’s assessment of the examination costs.  

Complete 

11.2.4.2. • Ensure the Registrar’s assessment includes a detailed description of the 
assumptions used and provide an explanation of how the calculation 
reconciles to the revenues and expenses per the Financial Statements.  

Complete 

 
 
 
 

129



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

81 
 

11.2.5. Variance analysis of actual revenue and expense to the prior year  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) reported findings that suggested that a key trend was positive net income for the 
CDO based on review of revenue and expenses. It was noted that two key drivers of the trend were 
examination revenues exceeding expenses and a general decline in operating and Committee related 
expenses.  
 
A review of revenue and expenses of for 2011 in comparison with reported results for 2010, showed an 
increase in examination revenues of 16%, a decrease of 37% in examination expenses, and a 24% decrease 
in Committee related expenses. A pro-rated calculation of costs for the remainder of fiscal 2012, suggested 
that Committee related expenses would once again be significantly decreased by 31% when compared to 
fiscal 2011.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• A continuous decline in examination and Committee related expenses, including the number of 
Committee hours spent and expenses incurred could be indicative of Committee members spending 
less time on Committee work.  

• A decline in key expenses, such as Committee honoraria, could reduce the ability of the CDO to serve 
the public interest by maintaining processes, standards, knowledge and skills.  

• Sustainability of the surplus associated with Qualifying Examination revenue and expenses is 
questionable given the work that will be required by CDO staff, Council and Committees to rectify 
identified deficiencies.  

 
Current Status  
The CDO has introduced protocols which serve to accurately align budgetary requirements with the actual 
costs to administer the Qualifying Examinations.  Fees paid for Committee work to ensure the examinations 
are administered in accordance with legislative requirements are included. In recent years, actual revenue 
and expenses associated with the Qualifying Examinations have been consistently aligned.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

11.2.5. We recommend that the Finance Committee perform an additional review of 
budgeted revenues and expenses for fiscal 2012.  Focus should be placed on 
any areas where there appear to be significant cost savings from the prior 
year.  The Finance Committee should work with the Registrar to determine 
whether the decline in Committee-related expenses is attributable to fewer 
meetings and work performed versus the prior year; and whether these 
declines reflect the Committees potentially not meeting their respective 
mandates. 
 
For fiscal 2012, closer attention should be placed on accounts which have 
shown large fluctuations versus prior years.  For example, in our review of 
the G/L for year-to-date 2012, we noted that “Legal expense” is budgeted at 
$123k for all of fiscal 2012.  The prior year actual for “Legal expense” was 
$229k, thus the estimate for 2012 is $106k or 46% lower than the prior year 
actual.  This lowered estimate does not appear reasonable given the 
existence of three ongoing legal cases which have resulted in significant legal 
costs to date for the CDO. 

 

130



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

82 
 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

11.2.5.1. • Ensure the Finance Committee performs an additional review of 
budgeted revenues and expenses for fiscal 2012 with a focus placed on 
any areas where there appear to be significant cost savings from the 
prior year.  

• Note:  The responsibilities of the Finance Committee have been assumed 
by the Executive Committee.  Financial statements provided to the 
Executive Committee include variance comparisons with the previous 
fiscal year.  

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

11.2.5.2. • Determine if the decline in Committee-related expenses is attributable to 
fewer meetings and work performed versus the prior year and confirm 
whether these declines reflect the Committees potentially not meeting 
their respective mandates.  

• Note:  Committee activities are continuously examined for compliance 
with the Committee mandate.   

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

11.2.5.3. • Place close attention on accounts which have shown large fluctuations 
versus previous years (e.g. legal expenses) and provide rationale for 
significant changes.  

• Quarterly financial statements include variances related to the previous 
fiscal year.  Large variances are brought to the attention of, and 
considered by, the Executive Committee that has assumed the 
responsibilities of the Finance Committee 

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

 

  

131



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

83 
 

12. Record Retention 
The Operational Review and Audit of the College of Denturists of Ontario (2012) noted instances of poor 
record keeping in every area under review. Procedures in each work area included consideration of the 
College’s practices with respect to the Record Retention policy and specific record retention requirements 
as defined in the Health Professions Procedural Code and the by-laws.    
 
12.2.1. Poor record retention practices  
 
Observation Description (2012) 
The ORA Report (2012) noted instances of poor record keeping practices throughout the College. 
Deficiencies included a general lack of record keeping consistent with good business practices and the 
College’s Record Retention policy and by-laws.  
 
Risk Description (2012) 

• Poor recordkeeping results in a lack of accountability, transparency and stewardship over records which 
are created, captured and managed to support the activities and decision making of the CDO, including 
Council and Committees.  

• Poor recordkeeping results in an inability to retrieve documents when required in an efficient and 
timely manner.  

 
Current Status  
Since the Operational Audit and Review, the College has been managing documentation requirements in 
accordance with the Record Retention policy that has been in place at the CDO for many years.  
 
 In 2017, College staff will examine and make recommendations to Council for improvement to the 
College’s document management strategy.  This work will include an examination of the College’s current 
record retention policy.    
 

OAR (2012) 
Reference 

OAR (2012) Recommendation  

12.2.1. We recommend that the CDO implement processes to ensure that records 
are retained in accordance with the CDO’s record retention policy.   These 
processes should include establishing specific record retention procedures to 
be followed by CDO staff to ensure that records are retained.  Procedures 
could include assigning responsibility to an individual for record retention, 
developing guidance and checklists to support the collection and retention of 
records by area and Committee and requiring documents to be stored on the 
server in specific folders rather than in email boxes. 
 

 

CDO (2016) 
Reference 

Action Items Current 
Status 

12.2.1.1. • Implement a process to ensure records are retained in accordance with 
the CDO’s record retention policy.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.   retention policy.  

In Progress 

12.2.1.2. • Establish processes that include specific record retention procedures to 
ensure records are retained.  

In Progress 

132



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

84 
 

Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.    

12.2.1.3. • Assign responsibility to an individual for record retention and the 
development of guidance and checklists to support the collection and 
retention of records by area and Committee.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.    

In Progress 

12.2.1.4. • Ensure required documents are stored on the server in specific folders 
rather than in email boxes.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.  This work will include an examination 
and prescription for the storage of electronic documents.   

In Progress 

 

  

133



CDO Progress Report (2017) 

 

85 
 

Summary of “In Progress” Action Items 
 

12.2.1.1. • Implement a process to ensure records are retained in accordance with 
the CDO’s record retention policy.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.    

In Progress 

12.2.1.2. • Establish processes that include specific record retention procedures to 
ensure records are retained.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.    

In Progress 

12.2.1.3. • Assign responsibility to an individual for record retention and the 
development of guidance and checklists to support the collection and 
retention of records by area and Committee.  
Note: Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.    

In Progress 

12.2.1.4. • Ensure required documents are stored on the server in specific folders 
rather than in email boxes.  
Note: The CDO is in the process of examining the current record 
retention policy in the context of establishing an organization-wide 
document management strategy.  This work will include an examination 
and prescription for the storage of electronic documents.   

In Progress 

 

134



 

 

 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

  
 
 

 
BRIEFING NOTE 

To: COUNCIL 

From: Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Strategy Map – 2017-2020 - Year 1 Tactics 

 

 

  

At its June meeting, Council adopted its Strategy Map – 2017 – 2020.  Included in the Strategy Map 

were 3 Strategic Priorities with associated action items and indicators of achievement.  Recognizing that 

the Strategy Map covers a period of three years, the tactics for achieving the objectives of the Strategy 

Map will be developed for each of Years 1, 2 & 3.  The proposed tactics for Year 1 are presented to 

Council for information and discussion.  

 

 

Agenda Item 10.1 

135



365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326 
Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

Priority Success Indicators Year 1 Tactics Accomplishments 

Enhanced 

Communication and 

Stakeholder 

Engagement 

a. Promote public

awareness of CDO role

in safe delivery of

denturism

i. Public awareness campaign

• Engage Citizens’

Advisory Group in

determining best

approach to awareness

campaign

• Draft campaign

b. Modernize member

communications

strategy

i. Develop and conduct

member communications

needs survey

ii. Develop and pilot peer

circle tool for

implementation Fall 2018

iii. Enhance CDO webinars

• Develop on-demand

webinar library

iv. Attend Association

conferences

c. Promote transparency

of CDO operations

i. Improve accessibility of

website

• Engage Citizens’

Advisory Group in

assessment of

accessibility

ii. Ensure public register

reflects highest goals of

transparency

• Develop roll-over

descriptors for public

register items

iii. Bring public interest and

transparency lenses to

Council and Committee

work

d. Foster inter-

professional

collaboration

i. Attend regular meetings of

Ontario dental health

regulators

ii. Provide collaboration

guidance to members

through communications

strategy

Strategy Map 

Year 1 Tactics 

Agenda Item 10.2 

136



 

CDO – Strategy Map 2017-2020 - Year 1 Tactics -  89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017                                                                                         Page 2 of 3 
  

  

Priority  Success Indicators Actions  Accomplishments 

Excellence in 

Governance 

a. Promote culture of 

public interest and 

transparency 

i. Embed public interest in all 

College, Council and 

Committee decisions 
 

 

b. Review and clarify 

Council and 

Committee roles 

i. Review through public 

interest & transparency 

lenses 

• Draft documents 

articulating Council 

and Committee roles 

through these lenses 

ii. Articulate Council and 

Committee competencies 

• Draft Council and 

Committee 

competency document 

 

c. Improve Council and 

Committee member 

training 

i. Leverage technology to 

enhance training and work 

of Council and Committees 

ii. Implement mentoring 

process for new Council 

members 

• Develop mentoring 

program 

iii. Ensure agility of training 

that allows for response to 

changes in legislation and 

the broader regulatory 

landscape 

iv. Provide regular orientation 

for all Council members 

• Develop orientation 

program for all Council 

members 

 

d. Improve internal policy 

coordination and 

priority-setting 

i. Establish policy 

coordination and oversight 

process 

• Develop policy 

inventory and revision 

schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



 

CDO – Strategy Map 2017-2020 - Year 1 Tactics -  89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017                                                                                         Page 3 of 3 
  

 

Priority  Success Indicators Actions  Accomplishments 

Enhanced Relations 

with Educational 

Institutions 

a. Strengthen 

relationship between 

CDO and educational 

program 

administrators 

i. Coordinate regular 

meetings between CDO 

and Ontario educational 

program leadership 

• Initiate regular 

meeting schedule 
 

 

b. Explore whether 

denturism competency 

profile is synchronized 

to new registrant 

needs 

i. Supplement identified 

deficiencies through CDO 

continuing education/QA 

program requirements 

• Identify process for 

gap analysis 

• Develop tools to 

reduce the gap 
 

 

c. Encourage quality and 

consistency in 

program content 

among educational 

programs 

i. Explore accreditation model 

options 

• Continued exploration 

of DAC/CAC 

accreditation process 

and alternate, College 

led processes 

ii. Engage provincial 

counterparts in 

conversation exploring role 

of national denturism 

competency profile 

• Host meeting with 

provincial counterparts 

to discuss national 

issues 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

138



365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   
Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 

  
 

 

 

Member Communications Survey   

 

This survey is designed to obtain insight into the preferred modes and processes for 

communication between the College and members of the profession.   

 

Please consider each question carefully and provide your response. 

 

Your input is valued and important. Thank you in advance.  

 

1. My primary practice area: 

 

____ a. Clinical – Practice Owner 

 

____ b. Clinical – Practice Associate  

 

____ c. Academic  

 

____ d. Industry  

 

____ e. Other ________________________________________________ 

 

2. How many years have you worked in the denturism profession?  

 

____ a. < 5 years  

 

____ b. 5-9 years 

 

____ c. 10-14 years 

 

____ d. 15-19 years 

 

____ e. 20-24 years 

 

____ f. 25 + years  

 

3. A. Have you ever initiated contact with the College of Denturists of Ontario?  

 

____ a. Yes  

 

____ b. No  

 

Agenda Item 10.3 

139



  
 

CDO – Draft Communications Survey – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017                                                                                Page 2 of 3 
 

  

B. If so, how did you contact the College?  

 

____ a. Phone 

 

____ b. In-Person  

 

____ c. Email  

 

____ d. Letter 

 

____ e. Fax  

 

4. How often do you contact the College?  

 

___ a. Never 

 

____ b. Weekly 

 

____ c. Monthly 

 

____ d. Annually  

 

5. Please indicate the why and how frequently you contact the College. Check all that apply: 

 

Reason Always Most Often Occasionally Never 

Registration/Licensing 

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Certificate of 

Authorization for Health 

Profession Corporation 

⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Practice Guidance 

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Quality Assurance 

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Complaints/Discipline 

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Qualifying Examination  

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Advertising  

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

Other:  

 
⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

 

 

 

 

6. The College’s preferred method of communicating with its members is by email.  

140



  
 

CDO – Draft Communications Survey – 89th Council Meeting – October 13, 2017                                                                                Page 3 of 3 
 

  

 

a. Do you read electronic communications (emails) that you receive from the College?  

 

Always  Most Often Occasionally Never  

⃣ ⃣ ⃣ ⃣ 

 

b. Do you prefer to receive electronic communications regarding matters as they arise or in 

a digest format where a number of items are included in a single digest?  

 

____ Single emails as they arise 

 

____ Digest format  

 

c. If you prefer to receive a digest of news items, how frequently would you like to receive 

this email summary?  

 

____ Weekly  

 

____ Monthly 

 

____ Quarterly 

 

____ Annually  

 

____ As the number of items dictates  

 

d. Are there any content/topics that you would like to see in College communications?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

141



College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

 

 
 

 

Suggested Topics for Council Governance Training.   

 

• Zero tolerance to sexual abuse 

• Trends in Self-Regulation  

• Right Touch Regulation 

• Identifying and Treating Risk 

 

Other Foundational Concepts 

Regulatory Framework 

The Public Interest 

Legal Context and Structure of the RHPA 

   
 

Fiduciary Duties of Council and Committee Members 

 

Confidentiality and Privacy 

Conflict of Interest and Appearance of Bias 

Diligence, Respect and Ethical Behaviour 

 
 

Governance 

 

Roles and Responsibilities of Council and Its Officers 

Roles and Responsibilities of Committees and their Chairs 

Roles and Responsibilities of the Registrar and Staff 

Conducting and Participating in Meetings and Hearings 

External Communications 

 

Core Regulatory Activities of the Code 

 

Restrictive Regulation 

Reactive Regulation 

Proactive Regulation 

Transparent Regulation 
 

 

Specific Duties and Functions of the College 

 

Strategic Planning 

Risk Management 

Making Regulations, By-laws, and Standards of Practice 

Facilitating Practitioner Competence in all of the College’s Activities 

Equity 
 

Agenda Item 10.4 

142



 

 

 
 

College of Denturists of Ontario, 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON M4W 3L4 • T: 416-925-6331 • F: 416-925-6332 • TF: 1-888-236-4326   

Email: info@denturists-cdo.com • Website: www.denturists-cdo.com 
 

  
 
 

 
BRIEFING NOTE 

To: COUNCIL 

From:  Dr. Glenn Pettifer, Registrar and CEO 

Date: October 13, 2017 

Subject: Council Meeting Dates for 2017-2018 

 

 

  

 

Council Meeting Dates 

December 8, 2017   
 

March 9, 2018   

June 22, 2018   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 11.0 

143


	2.0 - Agenda - October 13, 2017 - Final
	5.1 - Deanna Williams - Letter to Registrars re Technical Expert's Work
	6.1 - Conflict of Interest for Council and Committee Members Briefing Note
	6.2 - Minutes from the July 18, 2017 QEC Teleconference Meeting
	6.3 - Correspondence - Ms. Reekie, Chair of the QEC - dated July 21, 2017
	6.4 - Article 27 of the College By-law - Conflict of Interest
	6.5 - Further Correspondence to the President from Christine Reekie - redacted
	6.5 - Further Correspondence to the President from Christine Reekie
	6.6 - Correspondence from Mr. Joey Della Marina
	7.1 - 88th Council Meeting Minutes - June 23, 2017 -  Final Draft
	7.2 - Executive Committee Report - October 13, 2017
	7.3 - ICRC Report - October 13, 2017
	7.4 - Discipline Committee Report - October 13, 2017
	7.5 - QAC Panel A Report - October 13, 2017
	7.6 - QAC Panel B Report - October 13, 2017
	7.7 - QEC Report - October 13, 2017
	7.8 - Registration Committee Report - October 13, 2017
	7.9 - President's Report - October 13, 2017
	7.10 - Registrar's Report - October 13, 2017
	7.11 - Financial Report Memo and YTD Income - Expenses - April 1, 2017 - August 31, 2017 - Final
	7.12 - Correspondence to Tom Boyd, Public Appointments Secretariat regarding Absentee Council member-  2017-09-01
	7.13 - Memo to Council Re Christopher Reis - Committee Membership
	7.14 - Addition – Modification of Electoral District Postal Codes Briefing Note
	7.15 - Guidelines for Teleconference Calls
	9.1- Audit Report Briefing Note
	9.2 - Status Report on Action Items Identified in the 2012 PwC Operational Review and Audit - Final
	10.1 - Strategy Map – 2017-2020 - Year 1 Tactics
	10.2 - CDO Strat Plan Year 1 Tactics Final
	10.3 - Draft Communications Survey -  Final
	10.4 - Suggested Topics for Council Governance Training
	11.0 - Council Meeting Dates for 2017-2018



